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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

T o the General Assembly of Yap1 ve Kredi Bankasi A.S.
A. Auditofthe Unconsolidated Financial Statements
1. Opinion

We have audited the accompanying unconsolidated financial statements of Yapive Kredi Bankas1A.S.
(the “Bank”), which comprise the statement of unconsolidated balance sheetas at 31 December 2022,
unconsolidated statements of profitandloss, unconsolidated statement of profitorlossand other
comprehensive income, unconsolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, unconsolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and the notesto the unconsolidated financial
statements and a summary of significant accounting policiesand unconsolidated financial statement
notes.

In ouropinion, the unconsolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
unconsolidated financial position ofthe Bank as at 31 December 2022, and itsunconsolidated
financial performance and itsunconsolidated cash flowsfortheyear then ended in accordance with
the Banking Regulation and Supervision A gency (“BRSA”) A ccountingand Financial Reporting
Legislation whichincludes “Regulation on Accounting Applicationsfor Banksand Safeguarding of
Documents” published in the Official Gazette No.26333 dated 1 November 2006, and other regulations
on accounting records of Banks published by Banking Regulation and Supervision Board and circulars
and interpretations published by BRSA and Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) for those
matters notregulated by the aforementioned regulations.

2. Basisfor Opinion

Our auditwasconducted in accordance with the “Regulation on Independent Audit of Banks”
published by the BRSA on the Official Gazette No.29314 dated 2 April2015 and the Standards on
Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) thatare part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public
Oversight Accounting and A uditing Standards Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities underthese
standards are further described in the “ Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit ofthe Unconsolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby declare that we are independent ofthe Bankin
accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent A uditors (including Independence Standards) (the
“Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding independent audit in regulations issued by
POA that arerelevantto ouraudit of the unconsolidated finan cial statements. We have also fulfilled
our other ethicalresponsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rulesand regulations. We believe that
the auditevidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion.



3. Key AuditMatters

Key audit matters are those matters that,in our professional judgment, were of most significancein
our audit of the unconsolidated financial statements of the current period. Key audit matterswere
addressedin the contextof ourindependent audit of the unconsolidated financial statementsas a
whole,and in forming our opinionthereon, and we do not provide a separate opiniononthese

matters.

Key Audit Matters

How the key auditmatter was addressed
in the audit

Expected creditlosses forloans

The Bank has total expected credit lossesfor
loansamounting to TL 35.667.156 thousand in
respect to total loansamounting to TL
606.114.327 thousand which represent a
significant portion ofthe Bank’stotal assetsin
its unconsolidated financial statements asat 31
December2022.

Explanations and notesrelated to expected
creditlosses for loansand receivables are
presented in Section Three Part77.3 and 8,
Section Four Part 2, Section Four Part 3.3,
Section Five Part 1.7 in the accompanying
unconsolidated financial statementsas at 31
December2022.

The Bank recognizes provision for impairment
in accordance with “TFRS 9 Financial
Instruments” (“TFRS 9”) requirements and the
“Regulation on the Proceduresand Principles
for Classification of Loans and Provisionstobe
Provided” as published in the Official Gazette
dated 22 June 2016 numbered 29750. The Bank
exercises significant decisions using subjective
judgement, interpretation and assumptions over
when and howmuchtorecordasloan
impairment.

With respectto stage classification ofloans and
calculation of expected creditlosses, wehave
assessed policy, procedure and management
principles of the Bank withinthe scope of our
audit. We tested the designand the operating
effectivenessofrelevant systemsand processes
implemented in accordance with these principles|

We checked appropriateness of matters
considered in methodology applied by the Bank
with TFRS g for calculation ofthe provision
amount through stage classification ofloans. For
forwardlooking assumptions made by the
Bank’s managementin its expected creditlosses
calculations, weheld discussions with
managementand evaluated the assumptions
using publicly available information. Regarding
expected credit losses methodology; we have
assessed and tested model segmentation,
lifetime probability of default model, exposure at
default model, loss given default model and the
approachesto reflectingreasonableand
supportable forwardlooking expectations
(including macroeconomic factors) with our
financial risk experts. Our proceduresalso
included the following:

e Togetherwithourfinancialrisk experts, we
evaluated and tested reasonableness of the
changesin the expected creditloss
allowance methodology and the
performance of the impairment models
used.




Key Audit Matters

How thekey auditmatter was addressed
in the audit

Expected creditlosses forloans
(Continued)

To determine expected creditlosses asof 31
December 2022 the Bank determinesstage
classification ofloansby identifying significant
increasein credit risk with quantitative and
qualitative assessments disclosed in Section
Three Part 8 in the accompanying
unconsolidated financial statementsand
identification of default eventsdisclosedin
Section Four Part 2 in the accompanying
unconsolidated financial statements. The Bank
uses complex models that requiresdatato be
derived from multiple systems, for determining
significantincrease in credit risk and calculation
of TFRS g expected credit losses.

These models containjudgementand
estimationsin regard to forward looking
estimations, scenarios of macro-economic
conditionsand weighingof scenarios based on
expertopinion.

Information usedin theindividually or
collectively assessment of expected credit loss
such ashistorical loss experiences, current
conditionsand macroeconomic expectations
shouldbe supportable and appropriate.

Our auditwasfocused on thisareadue to
existence of complex estimates and information
used in the impairment assessmentsuchas
macro-economic expectations, current
conditions, historicalloss experiences,
development and weighting of macro-economic
scenarios; the significance of theloanbalances;
the classificationofloans aspertheir creditrisk
(staging) and the importance of determination
ofthe associated expected creditloss. Timely
and correct identification of defaulteventand
significantincrease in credit risk andlevel of
judgements and estimations made by the
management have significantimpactson the
amount ofimpairment provisions forloans.
Therefore, thisareais considered askey audit
matter.

¢ Wehavecheckedselected modelsusedin
determination of provisionsforvarious
creditportfolios with our financial risk
expertsby reperformingon a sample
selection basis.

e Forasampleofexposures, we checked the
accuracy of determining Ex posure at
Default, includingthe consideration of
prepaymentsand repayments in the cash
flows and the resultantarithmetical
calculations.

e  We checkedthe calculationofthe Loss
GivenDefault (LGD) used by the Bankin
the expected creditlosses calculations,and
tested collaterals, recoveryand costs in
additionto arithmetical calculations.

e For aselected sample, we checked expected
creditlosses determined based on
individual assessment per Bank’s policy by
meansofsupportingdata,and evaluated
appropriatenessviacommunications with
management.

o  We checkedkey datasourcesfordataused
in expected creditlosses calculations. We
tested reliability and completenessofthe
data usedin expected credit losses
calculations with ourinformation systems
specialists.

e We checkedaccuracy ofresultantexpected
creditlosses calculations.

e To assessappropriateness of the Bank’s
determination ofstaging for credit risk,
identification of impairment and timely and
appropriate provisioning forimpairment we
have performedloanreview procedures
basedona selected sample.

e Weevaluatedtheadequacyofthe
disclosuresmadein the unconsolidated
financial statements regarding the provision
for impairment ofloans.




Key Audit Matters

How the key auditmatterwas
addressed in the audit

ValuationofPension Fund obligations

The Bank has booked provisionamountingto

TL 2.945.243 for Pension Fund Liabilitiesin the
accompanying unconsolidated financial statements
as at 31 December 2022. Explanations on Valuation
of Pension Obligations are presentedin the section
five part2.6.3in the accompanying unconsolidated
financial statements.

Y ap1 ve Kredi Bankasi Anonim Sirketi Mensuplari
Y ardim ve EmekliSandigi (Pension Fund) is
established in accordance with the Social Security
Law numbered 506 article No 20 and is within the
scope of Fundsto betransferred to the Social
Security Institution (SSI). The Presidentis
authorized to determine the transfer date. The total
obligation of the fund is estimated using separate
methodsand assumptionforbenefitstobe
transferred and for non-transferrable benefits. The
calculation ofthe pension obligations requires
significant judgementand technical expertisein
choosing appropriate assumptions. Calculation of
Pension Fund liabilities include estimates and
uncertainassumptions such astransferrable social
benefits,discountrates, salaryincreases, economic
and demographic assumptions.

The Bank’s management usesexternal actuariesfor
the purpose of valuations of Pension Fund
obligations.

During ouraudit,above mentioned fundamental
assumption and estimatesused in calculations of
Pension Fund obligations, uncertainty of the transfer
date,technicalinterest rate determined by thelaw
and significant impact from differentiation ofthese
assumptionswere takeninto consideration, and this
areais considered as key audit matter.

Within our auditwe tested ona sample
basis the accuracy of the employee data
supplied by the Bank managementtothe
external actuary firmforthe purpose of
evaluation pension obligation. In addition,
we verified the existence and valuesofthe
Pension Fund assets.

We checked whether significant changes in
actuarialassumptionsusedin calculation,
employee benefits in the period, planassets
and liabilities,and whether significant
changesin lawsandregulationsrelated to
valuations exist.

Through use ofouractuarial specialist, we
assessed the reasonableness of assumptions
and evaluation made by the external
actuariesin the calculation of theliability.

We evaluated the adequacy ofthe
disclosuresmadein the unconsolidated
financial statements of the Bank regarding
the Pension Fund.




4. Responsibilitiesof Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Unconsolidated Financial Statements

The Bank management is responsible forthe preparationand fair presentation of the unconsolidated
financial statements in accordance with the BRSA Accounting and Financial Reporting Legislation,
and for suchinternal control asmanagement determines is necessaryto enable the preparation of
unconsolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether dueto fraudor
error.

In preparing the unconsolidated financial statements, managementis responsible for assessingthe
Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, mattersrelated to going
concernand usingthe goingconcernbasis of accountingunless management eitherintends to
liquidatethe Bank orto cease operations, orhas norealistic alternative buttodo so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

5. Auditor’s Responsibilitiesfor the Audit ofthe Unconsolidated Financial
Statements

Responsibilities ofindependent auditorsin an independent audit are as follows:

Our aim is to obtainreasonable assurance about whether the financial statement sas a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,and toissue anindependent auditor’s
reportthat includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance expressed as a result of anindependent audit
conducted in accordance with “Regulation on Independent Audit of Banks” published by the BRSA on
the Official Gazette No.29314 dated 2 April 2015and SIA is a highlevel of assurance but doesnot
guarantee thata material misstatement will alwaysbe detected. Misstatements canarise fromfraudor
error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually orin the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these unconsolidated
financial statements.

Aspart ofan independent audit conducted in accordance with “Regulation on Independent Audit of
Banks” published by the BRSA on the Official Gazette No.29314 dated 2 April 2015and SIA, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess therisksof material misstatementin the unconsolidated financial
statements, whether dueto fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
thoserisks,and obtain audit evidence thatis sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. Therisk of notdetectinga material misstatement resulting from fraudis higher
than for oneresulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override ofinternal control.



e Assesstheinternal control relevanttotheauditin orderto design audit proceduresthatare
appropriatein the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressingan opinionon the
effectivenessofthe Bank's internal control.

o Evaluatetheappropriatenessofaccounting policiesused and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Concludeontheappropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and,based onthe auditevidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to eventsorconditionsthat may cast significant doubt onthe Bank ability to continue
as a going concern. Ifwe conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we arerequired to draw
attentionin our auditor’sreportto the related disclosures in the unconsolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosuresare inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusionsare
based onthe auditevidence obtained up to the date of our independent auditor’s report.
However, future eventsor conditions may cause the Bank to ceaseto continue asa going
concern.

e Evaluatetheoverall presentation, structure and content of the unconsolidated financial
statements, includingthe disclosures, and whether the unconsolidated financial statements
represent the underlyingtransactionsand events in a manner that achievesfair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, amongother matters, the planned
scopeand timing ofthe audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that weidentify duringouraudit.

We provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence. We also communicate with them all relationshipsand
other mattersthat may reasonably be thoughtto bear onourindependence, and where applicable,
related safeguardsactionstakento eliminate threats or safeguardsapplied.

Fromthematters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the unconsolidated financial statements ofthe current
period and aretherefore the key audit matters. We describe these mattersin our auditor’sreport
unlesslaworregulation precludes public disclosure aboutthe matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doingso would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.



B. Other Responsibilities Arising From Regulatory Requirements

1 No matterhascometo ourattention that is significant according to subparagraph 4 of Article
402 of Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”)No. 6102 and that causesus to believe that the Bank’s
bookkeeping activities concerningthe period from 1 January to 31 December 2022 period are
not in compliance withthe TCCand provisionsofthe Bank’sarticles of association related to
financial reporting,

2 In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 402 ofthe TCC, the Board of Directors submitted
the necessary explanations to usand provided the documentsrequired withinthe context of our
audit.

Additional Paragraph for Convenience Translation

The effects of differences between accounting principles and standards explainedin detail in Section
Three and accounting principles generally accepted in countriesin which the accompanying
unconsolidated financial statements are to be distributed and International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) have notbeen quantified in the accompanying unconsolidated financial
statements. Accordingly, the accompanying unconsolidated financial statementsare notintendedto
presentthefinancial position, results of operations and changes in financial position and cashflowsin
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in such countries and IFRS.

PwCBagimsiz Denetimve
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Miisavirlik A.S.

Didem Demer Kaya, SMMM
Partner

Istanbul, 2 February2023
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The unconsolidated financial report for the year end which is prepared in accordance with the “Communiqué
Related to Publicly Announced Financial Statements of Banks and Explanations and Notes Related to these
Financial Statements” as regulated by the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency includes the followng
sections.

GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE BANK

UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK

EXPLANATIONS ON ACCOUNTING POLICIES APPLIED IN THE RELATED PERIOD
INFORMATION RELATED TO FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE BANK

EXPLANATIONS AND NOTES RELATED TO UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OTHER EXPLANATIONS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The accompanying unconsolidated financial statements for the year end and notes to these financial staterrents
which are expressed, in thousands of Turkish Lira (unless otherwise stated), have been presented based onthe
accounting books of the Bank prepared in accordance with the Regulation on the Principles and Procedures
Regarding Banks’ Accounting Applications and Safeguarding of Documents, Turkish Accounting Standards,
Turkish Financial Reporting Standards and related appendices and interpretations of these, and have been
independently audited andare presented enclosed.

Y. Ali KOC Gokhan ERUN Demir KARAASLAN Bans SAVUR

Chairman of the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer Financial Reporting and

Board of Directors CEO Accounting Executive Vice President
Dr. Ahmet CIMENOGLU Mehmet TIRNAKLI Nevin iPEK
Chairman of the Audit Member of the Audit Member of the Audit
Committee Committee Committee

Contact information of the personnel in charge of the addressing of questions about this financial report:

Name-Surname / Title: Cengiz TIMUROGLU/ Balance Sheet Management and Financial Analysis Manager
Telephone Number  : 0212339 77 67
Fax Number 1 0212339 6105
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(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yapi ve Kredi Bankasi1 A.S.

Notes to unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

Section one - General Information

History of the Bank including its incorporation date, initial legal status and amendments to legal status, if
any:

Yapi ve Kredi Bankas1 A.S. (“the Bank” or “Yapi1 Kredi”’), was established and started operations on September
9, 1944 with the permission of the Council of Ministers No. 3/6710as a private capital commercial bank authorised
to performall banking, economic, financial and commercial activities which areallowed by the laws of the Turkish
Republic. The statute of the Bank has not changed since its incorporation.

Explanations about the Bank’s capital structure, shareholders holding directly or indirectly, collectively or
individually, the management and controlling power and changes incurrentyear, if any and explanations
on the controlling groupof the Bank:

Bank’s publicly traded shares are traded on the Borsa Istanbul (“BIST”) since 1987. As of December 31, 2022,
32,03% ofthe sharesofthe Bankare publicly traded (December 31, 2021 - 32,03%). 40,95% ofthe shares out of
the remaining 67,97% is owned by Kog Finansal Hizmetler A..S. (“KFS”) which is owned by Kog¢ Group, 27,02%
is owned by Ko¢ Holding A.S.

KFS was established on March 16,2001 to combine Ko¢ Group finance companies under one organisation and it
became the main shareholder of Kog¢bank in 2002. On October 22, 2002, Ko¢ Group established a strategic
partnershipwith UniCredit (“UCG”) over KFS.

In 2005, the Bank’s shares that were owned by Cukurova Group Companies and the Saving Deposits Insurance
Fund (“SDIF”) were purchased by Kog¢bank. In 2006, Ko¢bank purchased additional shares ofthe Bank from BIST
and an investment fund and, during the same year, all rights, receivables, debts and liabilities of Kogbank were
transferred to the Bank pursuant the merger of the two banks. As a result of the merger and the share transfer
procedures in 2007 and of a capital increase by TL 920 million in 2008, KFS shares in the Bank increased to
81,80%. KFS sharesincreased to81,90% with the capital increase by TL 4,1 billion in 2018.

As of November 30,2019, Kog Group and UCGhave reached a deal to exchange their shares in the Bank and KFS.

Accordingly allthe shares of KFS, which is currently a joint venture, are transferred to Kog Group. Besides, after
the shares are transferred, KFS will hold 40,95%, UCG will hold 31,93% directly and Ko¢ Group willhold a total
of 49,99% directly and indirectly ofthe Bank shares and become controlling shareholder.

In addition, as of February 6, 2020, UniCredit also announced the placement of an 11,93% shares in Bank to
institutional investors. The transaction has been completed on February 13,2020. As aresult UCG holds directly
20,00% ofthe Bankshares.

In year 2021, UCG completed the sale of 2,00% shares in stock market and for the sale of remaining 18,00% shares
UCG came to an agreement with Group as perthe Share Sale and Purchase Agreement relatingto the sale of the
Bank publicly disclosed as of November 30, 2019. Accordingly, it has been announced that Kog¢ Group used its
right of first offer for the sale of the Bank shares which are planned to be sold by UCG. The sale of the relevant
shareswas completedon April 1, 2022, and Kog Holding A..S.'s share ratio increased from9,02% to 27,02%.




(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yapi ve Kredi Bankasi1 A.S.

Notes to unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

Explanations regarding the board of directors, members of the audit committee, Chief Executive Officer
and executiwe vice presidents, and their areas of responsibility and shares ifany:

As of December 31, 2022, the Bank’s Board of Directors, Members of the Audit Committee, General Manager
and Assistant General Managers are as follows.

Board of Directors Members:

Name Responsihbility
Y. AL KOC Chairman
Levent CAKIROGLU Vice Chairman
Gokhan ERUN Executive Directorand CEO
A.Umit TAFTALI Member
Ahmet CIMENOGLU Independent Member
Ahmet Fadil ASHABOGLU Member
Kemal UZUN Member
Mehmet TIRNAKLI Independent Member
Melih POYRAZ Member
Nevin IPEK Independent Member
Polat SEN Member
Virma SOKMEN Independent Member
Audit Committee Members:
Name Responsihility
Ahmet CIMENOGLU Chairman
Mehmet TIRNAKLI Member
Nevin IPEK Member
General Manager:
Name Responsihbility
Gokhan ERUN Executive Directorand CEO

Assistant General Managers:

Cemal Aybars SANAL
Demir KARAASLAN

Name Responsibility
Abdullah GECER Internal Audit
AKif Cahit ERDOGAN Commercial and SME Banking Management

Legal Management
Financial Planning and Administration

Mehmet Erkan AKBULUT Credits
Mehmet Erkan OZDEMIR Compliance, Internal Control and Risk Management
/ Consumer Relations Coordination Officer
MuharremKaan SAKUL Corporate Banking .
Ozden ONALDI Human Resources, Organization and Internal Services Management
Saruhan YUCEL Treasury Management
Serkan ULGEN Retail Banking
Ugur Gokhan OZDINC Technoloay, Data and Process Manadement
Yakup DOGAN Limitless Banking
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Yapi ve Kredi Bankasi1 A.S.

Notes to unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

Information on the individual and corporate shareholders having control shares of the Bank:

Share amounts Share Paid-in capital
Name/Commercial title (nominal) percentage (nominal)  Unpaid portion
Kog Finansal Hizmetler A..S. 3.459.065.642,23 40,95 3.459.065.642,23 -
Kog¢ Holding A.S. 2.282.666.574,00 27,02 2.282.666.574,00 -

Kog Finansal Hizmetler A.S. is managed of Kog¢ Group, and Temel Ticaret ve Yatirim A.S.

Summary information on the Bank’s activities andservice types:

The Bank’s activities summarized from the section 3 of the articles ofassociation are as follows.

The Bank’s purpose and subject matter, in accordance with the Banking Law, regulations and existing laws,
include;

The execution ofall banking activities,

The execution ofalleconomic and financial activities which are allowed by theregulation,

The execution of the representation, attorney and agency activities related to the subjects written above,
The purchaseandsale of share certificates, bonds and all the capital market instruments, in accordance with
Capital Market Law and regulations.

YV VYV

In case of necessity for performing activities which are useful and required but thatare notspecified in the articles
of association, a Board of Directors’ proposal is to be presented to the General Assembly. With the approval of
the General Assembly the proposal becomes applicable, subject to the approvals required by law.

As of December 31, 2022, the Bank has 800 branches operating in Turkey and 1 branch in overseas (Decemnber
31, 2021 - 803 branches operatingin Turkey, 1 branch in overseas).

As of December 31, 2022, the Bank has 15.431 employees (December 31, 2021 - 15.452 employees).

Differences between the Communiqué on Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements of Banks and
Turkish Accounting Standards and short explanation about the entities subject to full consolidation or
proportional consolidationand entities which are deducted from equity or entities which are not included
in these three methods:

Accordingto Communiqué on Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements of Banks and T urkish Accounting
Standards, Banque de Commerce et de Placements SA, one ofthe associates of the Bank is consolidated through
”Equity Method” in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Allianz Yagsam ve Emeklilik A.S., on
which the Bank has indirect participation, is also consolidated through “Equity Method” in the consolidated
financial statements ofthe Group.

Yap1 KrediKiiltiir Sanat Yaymcilik Tic. ve San. A.S., Enternasyonal Turizm Yatirim A.S., Yap1 Kredi Teknoloji
A.S. and Yap1 Kredi Finansal Teknolojiler A.S. which are subsidiaries of the Bank, are not consolidated intothe
Bank’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with Communiqué on Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements since theseentities are not financial institutions.

All other subsidiaries are fully consolidated.

The existing or potential, actual or legal obs tacles on the immediate trans fer of shareholder’s equity between
the Bank and its subsidiaries or reimbursement of liabilities:

None.




(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yapi ve Kredi Bankasi1 A.S.
Unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022 and 2021

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL”))

Section two - Unconsolidated financial statements

Balance sheet (Statement of Financial Position)

Current Period Prior Period
(31/12/2022) (31/12/2021)
Note
ASSET (Section TL FC Total TL FC Total
five)
I. FINANCIAL ASSETS (Net) 113.049467 156.734130 269.783597 77.466.406 123.661.044 201.127450
11 Cash and Cash Equivalents 1.1 42.404.472  129.912724 172.31719%  30.026.320  113.352410  143.378730
1.1.1  Cash and Balances with Central Bank 35.736.034  108.1600% 143.896.130  22.667.064 93.521.502 116.183566
1.1.2  Banks 141 4.303.372  22.102.594 26.405.966 5.603.000 20.002.766  25.605.766
1.1.3 Money Markets 143 2.461.599 - 2.461.599 1.809.366 - 1.809.366
1.1.4  Provisions for Expected Losses (-) 96.533 349.966 446.499 53.110 171.858 224.968
1.2 Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value Through Profit Or Loss 1.2 31.895 1.533.562 1.565.457 259.959 950.827 1.210.786
1.2.1 Government debt securities - 365.229 365.229 27.044 179.601 206.645
1.2.2  Share certificates - - - 228.446 - 228.446
1.2.3  Other financial assets 31.895 1.168.333 1.200.228 4.469 771.226 775.695
Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value Through Other
1.3 Comprehensive Income 1.5,1.6 60.355.860 16.987.893 77.343.753 27.646.234 6.863.466 34.509.700
1.3.1  Govemment debt securities 58.487.789  16.981.656 75.469.445  27.628.275 6.022.847 33.651.122
1.3.2  Share certificates 100.138 6.237 106.375 17.959 4.594 22.553
1.3.3  Other financial assets 1.767.933 - 1.767.933 - 836.025 836.025
1.4 Derivative Financial Assets 13 10.257.240 8.299.951 18.557.191 19.533.893 2.494.341 22.028.234
141 Derivative financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 6.599.170 4.600.024 11.199.194  16.047.497 2.448.249 18.495.746
Derivative financial assets measured at fair value through other
1.4.2  comprehensive income 3.658.070 3.699.927 7.357.997 3.486.39% 46.092 3.532.488
1. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST (Net) 506.887.704 226.465024 733.352.728 272.550525 196.872787 469.423312
2.1 Loans 1.7 432.703419 171.737805 604.441.224 243.127261 163.140206 406.267467
2.2 Receivables From Leasing Transactiors (Net) 1.12 - - - - - -
2.3 Factoring Receivables 1.671.378 1.725 1.673.103 734.021 - 734.021
2.4 Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 1.8 96.448.465  66.852.133 163.300.598  48.091.754 43.783.746 91.875.500
241 Govemment debt securities 96.117.661 66.852.133 162.969.79%4 47.760.950 43.783.746 91.544.696
2.4.2  Other financial assets 330.804 - 330.804 330.804 - 330.804
25 Provisions for Expected Losses (-) 23.935.558 12.126.639 36.062.197 19.402.511 10.051.165 29.453.676
ASSETS HELD FOR RESALE AND RELATED TO
1. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Net) 1.17 1.035.873 - 1.035.873 1.327.210 - 1.327.210
3.1 Held for Sale Purposes 1.035.873 - 1.035.873 1.327.210 - 1.327.210
3.2 Related to Discontinued Operations - - - - - -
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES, SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT
V. VENTURES 7.559.181 13.289.276 20.848.457 5.199.224 10.007.885 15.207.109
4.1 Investments in Associates (net) 1.9 38.446 2.871.962 2.910.408 38.446 2.050.744 2.089.190
4.1.1  Consolidated based on Equity Method - - - - - -
4.1.2 Unconsolidated 38.446 2.871.962 2.910.408 38.446 2.050.744 2.089.190
4.2 Subsidiaries (Net) 1.10 7.520.735 10.417.314 17.938.049 5.160.778 7.957.141 13.117.919
421 Unconsolidated Financial Subsidiaries 7.488.419 10.417.314 17.905.733 5.153.478 7.957.141 13.110.619
4.2.2  Unconsolidated Non-Financial Subsidiaries 32.316 - 32.316 7.300 - 7.300
4.3 Joint Ventures (Net) 1.11 - - - - - -
4.3.1  Consolidated based on Equity Method - - - - - -
432 Unconsolidated - - - - - -
V. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Net) 1.13 9.846.677 - 9.846.677 4.851.380 - 4.851.380
VI. INTANGIBLE ASSETS [Net] 1.14 1.206.951 - 1.206.951 2.001.661 - 2.001.661
6.1 Goodwill - - - 979.493 - 979.493
6.2 Other 1.206.951 - 1.206.951 1.022.168 - 1.022.168
VII. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Net) 1.15 - - - - - -
VIII. CURRENT TAX ASSETS - - - - - -
IX. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 1.16 5.146.976 - 5.146.976 3.484.572 - 3.484.572
X. OTHER ASSETS 1.18 37.935.135  28.937.199 66.872.334 8.877.906 30.469.166 ~ 39.347.072
TOTAL ASSETS 682.667964  425.425629  1.108.093593  375.758834  361.010882  736.769.766

The accompanyingexplanationsand notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yapi ve Kredi Bankasi1 A.S.

Unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022 and 2021
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

Balance sheet (Statement of Financial Position)

Current Period Prior Period
(31/12/2022) (31/12/2021)
Note
(Section TL FC Total TL FC Total
LIABILITIES five)
I DEPOSITS 2.1 387.420.825 285.344.493 672.765.318 146.176.720 254.9186% 401.095416
1. BORROWINGS 231 1.777.29% 68.271.124 70.048.420 1.545.406 59.578.762 61.124.168
1IB MONEY MARKETS 28.114.263 7.400.223 35.514.486 48.560.354 4.347.923 52.908.277
V. MARKETABLE SECURITIES ISSUED (Net) 234 8.072.854 32.467.470 40.540.324 7.240.548 27.013.194 34.253.742
4.1 Bills 7.407.273 2.031.595 9.438.868 5.828.651 - 5.828.651
4.2 Asset backed Securities - - - - - -
4.3 Bonds 665.581 30.435.875 31.101.456 1.411.897 27.013.194 28.425.091
V. FUNDS - - - - - -
51 Borrower Funds - - - - - -
52 Other - - - - - -
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE
VI. THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 2332 687.777 36.551.882 37.239.659 658.578 25.135.654 25.794.232
VII. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 2.2 7.906.985 5.867.022 13.774.007 13.711.094 4.320.954 18.032.048
7.1 Derivative liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 7.874.635 5.867.022 13.741.657 13.711.094 3.637.761 17.348.855
Derivative liabilities measured at fair value through other
7.2 comprehensive income 32.350 - 32.350 - 683.193 683.193
VIII. FACTORING PAYABLES - - - - - -
I1X. LEASE PAYABLES (Net) 2.5 1.833.056 22.335 1.855.391 1.294.315 11.902 1.306.217
X. PROVISIONS 2.6 9.883.862 1.200.279  11.084.141 4.899.201 927.298 5.826.499
10.1 Provisions for Restructuring - - - - - -
10.2 Provisions for Employee Benefits 2.6.1 3.181.053 - 3.181.053 1.078.134 - 1.078.134
10.3 Insurance Technical Provisions (Net) - - - - - -
10.4 Other Provisions 2.6.3 6.702.809 1.200.279 7.903.088 3.821.067 927.298 4.748.365
XI. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES 2.7 5.598.484 - 5.598.484 2.877.865 - 2.877.865
XIl. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES - - - - - -
LIABILITIESFOR PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT HELD FOR
SALE AND RELATED TO DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
X1 (Net) 2.8 - - - - - -
13.1 Held for Sale - - - - - -
13.2 Related to Discontinued Operations - - - - - -
XIV. SUBORDINATED DEBT 2.9 725.201 38.663.031 39.388.232 808.921 38.633.078 39.441.999
14.1 Loans - 16.059.998 16.059.998 - 11.144.441 11.144.441
14.2 Other Facilities 725.201  22.603.033  23.328.234 808.921  27.488.637  28.297.558
XV. OTHER LIABILITIES 2.4 44.251.681 9.777.060  54.028.741  24.859.536 5.765.589 30.625.125
XVI. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 2.10 112.577.247 13.679.143  126.256.390 56.044.605 7.439.573 63.484.178
16.1 Paid in Capital 8.447.051 - 8.447.051 8.447.051 - 8.447.051
16.2 Capital Reserves 2.176.031 - 2.176.031 2.155.905 - 2.155.905
16.21 Share premium 556.937 - 556.937 556.937 - 556.937
16.22  Share Cancellation Profits - - - - - -
16.23  Other Capital Reserves 1.619.0%4 - 1.619.094 1.598.968 - 1.598.968
Other accumulated comprehensive income that will not be reclassified
16.3 in profit or loss 2.735.650 438.666 3.174.316 1.759.966 438.066 2.198.032
Other accumulated comprehensive income that will be reclassified in
16.4 profit or loss 5.342.905 13.240.477 18.583.382 552.506 7.001.507 7.554.013
16.5 Profit Reserves 41.130.921 - 41.130.921 32.639.419 - 32.639.419
16.51 Legal Reserves 1.747.175 - 1.747.175 1.544.526 - 1.544.526
16.52 Statutory reserves - - - - - -
16.53  Extraordinary Reserves 39.383.386 - 39.383.386  31.094.893 - 31.094.893
16.54 Other Profit Reserves 360 - 360 - - -
16.6 Profit or loss 52.744.689 - 52.744.689 10.489.758 - 10.489.758
16.61  Prior years' profits or losses - - - - - -
16.62  Current period net profit or loss 52.744.689 - 52.744.689 10.489.758 - 10.489.758
TOTAL LIABILITIES 608.849.531  499.244.062 ..108.093593 308.677.143 ~ 428.092623  736.769.766

The accompanyingexplanationsand notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yapi ve Kredi Bankasi1 A.S.
Unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022 and 2021

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL”))

Off-balance sheet commitments

Current Period Prior Period
(31/12/2022) (31/12/2021)
Note

Off-balance sheet commitments (Section
five) TL FC Total TL FC Total
A Off-balance sheet commitments (I+11+111) 597.166.718 818.151.810 1.415.318.528 366.437.642 600.991.236 967.428.878
I Guarantees and warranties 31212 99.977.185 143.571.286 243.548.471 41.096.267 119.523.472 160.619.739
11 Letters of guarantee 3.1.2.2 88.883.239 93.286.067 182.169.306 40.320.795 79.173.580 119.494.375
111 Guarantees subject to state tender law 1.399.840 1.363.690 2.763.530 772.497 986.476 1.758.973
1.1.2 Guarantees given for foreign trade operations 27.620.393 91.922.377 119.542.770 7.443.890 78.187.104 85.630.994
1.1.3 Other letters of guarantee 59.863.006 - 59.863.006 32.104.408 - 32.104.408
1.2 Bank acceptances - 864.879 864.879 - 545.822 545.822
1.2.1 Import letter of acceptance - 864.879 864.879 - 545.822 545.822
122 Other bank acceptances - - - - - -
13 Letters of credit 327.114 31.836.907 32.164.021 71.417 25.436.069 25.507.486
13.1 Documentary letters of credit 327.114 31.836.907 32.164.021 71.417 25.436.069 25.507.486
132 Other letters of credit - - - - - -
1.4. Prefinancing given as guarantee - - - - - -
15. Endorsements - . = - . -
151 Endorsements to the Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey - - - - - -
15.2 Other endorsements - - - - - -
1.6. Purchase guarantees for Securities issued - - - - - -
1.7. Factoring guarantees - - - - - -
18. Other guarantees 10.766.832 9.553.300 20.320.132 704.055 7.649.943 8.353.998
1.9. Other warranties - 8.030.133 8.030.133 - 6.718.058 6.718.058
1. Commitments 240.615.994 67.851.130 308.467.124 111.608.609 38.572.768 150.181.377
2.1 Irrevocable commitments 311 223.708.638 36.562.938 260.271.576 108.431.948 14.208.872 122.640.820
2.1.1 Asset purchase and sale commitments 1.733.733 33.384.992 35.118.725 6.450.608 13.345.662 19.796.270
2.1.2 Deposit purchase and sales commitments - - - - - -
2.1.3 Share capital commitments to associates and subsidiaries - - - - - -
2.1.4. Loan granting commitments 51.038.011 2.453.898 53.491.909 26.475.410 352.100 26.827.510
2.1.5. Securities issue brokerage commitments - - - - - -
2.1.6 Commitments for reserve requirements - - - - -
2.1.7 Commitments for checks payments 5.482.867 - 5.482.867 4.306.427 - 4.306.427
2.1.8 Tax and fund liabilities from export commitments 449 - 449 595 - 595
2.1.9 Commitments for credit card expenditure limits 136.756.258 - 136.756.258 58.777.036 - 58.777.036
2.1.10. Commitments for credit cards and banking services promotions 43.402 - 43.402 46.457 - 46.457
2,111, Receivables from short sale commitment of marketable securities - - - - -
2.1.12. Payables for short sale commitments of marketable securities - - - - - -
2.1.13 Other irrevocable commitments 28.653.918 724.048 29.377.966 12.375.415 511.110 12.886.525
2.2. Revocable commitments 16.907.356 31.288.192 48.195.548 3.176.661 24.363.896 27.540.557
2.2.1 Revocable loan granting commitments 16.907.356 31.288.192 48.195.548 3.176.661 24.363.896 27.540.557
2.2.2. Other revocable commitments - - - - - -
1. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 256.573.539 606.729.394 863.302.933 213.732.766 442.894.996 656.627.762
31 Derivative financial instruments held for hedging 28.910.141 90.807.022 119.717.163 38.510.141 73.941.143 112.451.284
311 Fair value hedges 270.141 1.664.564 1.934.705 270.141 1.225.972 1.496.113
3.1.2 Cash flow hedges 28.640.000 89.142.458 117.782.458 38.240.000 72.715.171 110.955.171
3.1.3 Hedges for investments made in foreign countries - - - - - -
3.2 Trading transactions 227.663.398 515.922.372 743.585.770 175.222.625 368.953.853 544.176.478
3.2.1 Forward foreign currency purchase and sale transactions 13.499.192 16.483.400 29.982.592 10.602.638 15.678.489 26.281.127
3211 Forward foreign currency purchase transactions 12.680.315 2.810.609 15.490.924 7.840.303 5.169.741 13.010.044
3.2.1.2 Forward foreign currency sale transactions 818.877 13.672.791 14.491.668 2.762.335 10.508.748 13.271.083
3.2.2 Currency and interest rate swaps 158.168.698 343.884.226 502.052.924 151.448.310 264.814.946 416.263.256
3.2.21 Currency swap purchase transactions 4.261.560 123.896.732 128.158.292 2.859.608 90.035.422 92.895.030
3.22.2 Currency swap sale transactions 101.574.138 28.084.472 129.658.610 62.212.802 29.611.504 91.824.306
3.2.23 Interest rate swap purchase transactions 26.166.500 95.951.511 122.118.011 43.187.950 72.584.010 115.771.960
3.2.2.4 Interest rate swap sale transactions 26.166.500 95.951.511 122.118.011 43.187.950 72.584.010 115.771.960
323 Currency, interest rate and securities options 47.884.306 63.887.163 111.771.469 500.032 13.094.173 13.594.205
3.23.1 Currency purchase options 47.748.901 5.573.894 53.322.795 339.490 4.102.550 4.442.040
3.23.2 Currency sale options 135.405 53.338.749 53.474.154 160.542 4.450.370 4.610.912
3.23.3 Interest rate purchase options - 3.890.663 3.890.663 - 3.395.525 3.395.525
3.2.3.4 Interest rate sale options - 1.083.857 1.083.857 - 1.145.728 1.145.728
3.2.35 Securities purchase options - - - - - -
3.2.3.6 Securities sale options - - - - - -
3.2.4 Currency futures 1.303.006 1.217.241 2.520.247 600.295 534.725 1.135.020
3.24.1 Currency purchase futures 1.015.119 229.092 1.244.211 568.563 40.879 609.442
3.24.2 Currency sale futures 287.887 988.149 1.276.036 31.732 493.846 525.578
3.25 Interest rate futures - . = - . -
3.25.1 Interest rate purchase futures - - - - - -
3.2.5.2 Interest rate sale futures - - - - - -
3.2.6 Other 6.808.196 90.450.342 97.258.538 12.071.350 74.831.520 86.902.870
B. CUSTODY AND PLEDGED SECURITIES (IV+V+VI) 1.527.568.753 574.076.786 2.101.645.539 671.943.354 330.735.897 1.002.679.251
Iv. ITEMS HELD IN CUSTODY 243.750.531 51.442.664 295.193.195 114.426.970 30.459.685 144.886.655
4.1 Assets under management 170.680.657 19.001.079 189.681.736 66.693.304 9.000.959 75.694.263
4.2. Securities held in custody 3.939.170 31.490.427 35.429.597 6.176.884 20.351.678 26.528.562
4.3. Checks received for collection 54.907.660 85.875 54.993.535 32.974.820 70.173 33.044.993
4.4, Commercial notes received for collection 14.164.900 594.929 14.759.829 8.523.818 840.142 9.363.960
4.5. Other assets received for collection - 215.011 215.011 - 156.893 156.893
4.6. Securities received for public offering - - - - - -
4.7. Other items under custody 58.144 55.343 113.487 58.144 39.840 97.984
4.8. Custodians - . = - . -
V. PLEDGED ITEMS 1.236.921.247 215.430.491 1.452.351.738 531.413.045 272.362.495 803.775.540
5.1. Marketable securities 134.030.581 527.277 134.557.858 863.295 1.439 864.734
5.2. Guarantee notes 21.997.777 1.760.582 23.758.359 569.678 673.773 1.243.451
5.3 Commodity 5.912 - 5.912 5.912 - 5.912
5.4. Warrant - - - - - -
5.5. Immovables 471.940.839 306.501 472.247.340 187.413.174 41.576.497 228.989.671
5.6. Other pledged items 608.946.138 212.802.809 821.748.947 342.560.986 230.087.529 572.648.515
5.7. Depositories receiving pledged items - 33.322 33.322 - 23.257 23.257
VI ACCEPTED GUARANTEES AND WARRANTEES 46.896.975 307.203.631 354.100.606 26.103.339 27.913.717 54.017.056
TOTAL OFF BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS (A+B) 2.124.735.471 1.392.228.596 3.516.964.067 1.038.380.996 931.727.133 1.970.108.129

The accompanyingexplanationsand notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Yapi ve Kredi Bankasi1 A.S.
Unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022 and 2021

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL”))

Statements of Profitor Loss

Note Current Period Prior Period
(Section (01/01/2022 - (01/01/2021 -
Income and expense items five) 31/12/2022) 31/12/2021)
l. INTEREST INCOME 4.1 128.151971 51.629.057
11 Interest on Loans 411 68.461.393 37.145.133
1.2 Interest Received from Reserve Deposits 255.955 815.720
13 Interest Received from Banks 412 984.094 399.053
14 Interest Received from Money Market Transactions 159474 36.693
15 Interest Received from Marketable Securities Portfolio 413 58.036.950 13.150.995
151 Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 52.715 25616
152 Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive income 19.191.840 4.379.946
153 Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 38.792.39%5 8.745.433
1.6 Financial Lease Income - -
17 Other Interest Income 254.105 81.463
1. INTEREST EXPENSE (-) 42 51.203.595 28.931.575
21 Interest on Deposits 426 32.743.900 15.431.223
22 Interest on Funds Borrowed 421 5.220.672 2.283.978
23 Interest expense on money market transactions 424 4.521.609 6.204.086
24 Interest on Securities Issued 423 6.620.391 4.814.454
25 Interest on Lease Payables 228.894 150.586
26 Other Interest Expense 425 1.868.129 47.248
1. NET INTEREST INCOME/EXPENSE (I - 1) 76.948.376 22.697.482
V. NET FEES AND COMMISSIONS INCOME/EXPEN SE 14.133.922 7.314.676
4.1 Fees and Commissions Received 19.401.475 9.983.197
411 Non-cash Loans 2.071.228 1.186.417
412 Other 17.330.247 8.796.780
4.2 Fees and Commissions Paid 5.267.553 2.668.521
421 Non-cash Loans 753 616
422 Other 5.266.800 2.667.905
\Y DIVIDEND INCOME 43 49.988 3.281
VI. TRADING PROFIT/LOSS (Net) 4.4 8.988.028 175.078
6.1 Trading Gains/Losses on Securities 2.360.040 158.572
6.2 Derivative Financial Transactions Gains/Losses 4.6 18.379.064 21.647.083
6.3 Foreign Exchange Gains/Losses (11.751.076) (21.630.577)
VII. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 47 3.496.817 2.059.972
VIII. GROSS PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (I 1+1IV+V+VI+VII) 103.617.131 32.250.489
IX. ALLOWANCEFOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES (-) 45 15.662.756 9.693.034
X OTHER PROVISION EXPENSES (-) 45 326.898 77.989
XI. PERSONNEL EXPENSES (-) 9.097.079 4.433.204
XII. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES (-) 48 13.319.808 5.853.634
X, NET OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS (VII-IX-X-XI-XI1) 65.210.590 12.192.628
XIV. SURPLUS WRITTEN AS GAIN AFTER MERGER - -
XV. PROFIT/LOSS FROM EQUITY METHOD APPLIED SUBSIDIARIES 3.102.944 1.293.066
XVI. NET MONETARY POSITION GAIN/LOSS - -
XVI1 PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAXES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
T (XHTHEXTVAXVAXVIT) 49 68.313.534 13.485.6%4
PROVISION FOR TAXES ON INCOME FROM CONTINUING
XVIII. OPERATIONS () 4.10 15.568.845 2.995.936
18.1 Current Tax Provision 20.149.630 3.257.106
18.2 Expense effect ofdeferred tax (+) - -
18.3 Income effect of deferred tax (-) 4.580.785 261.170
XIX. NET PROFIT/LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (XVII+XVIII) 52.744.689 10.489.758
XX. INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS - -
20.1 Income from assets held for sale - -
20.2 Profit romsale ofassociates, subsidiaries and joint ventures - -
20.3 Other income fromdiscontinued operations - -
XXI. EXPENSES FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS(-) - -
211 Expenses onassets held for sale - -
21.2 Losses fromsale of associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures - -
213 Other expenses fromdiscontinued operations - -
PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAXES FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
XXIL (XX - XXI) - -
XXI1l. TAXPROVISION FOR DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (%) - -
231 Current tax provision - -
23.2 Expense effect ofdeferred tax (+) - -
233 Income effect ofdeferred tax (-) - -
NET PROFIT/ LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
XXIV.  (XXTI£XXIIT) - -
XXV. NET PROFIT/LOSS (XIX+XXIV) 411 52.744.689 10.489.758
Earnings/(loss) per share (full TL) 0,0624 0,0124

The accompanyingexplanationsand notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Yapi ve Kredi Bankasi1 A.S.
Unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022 and 2021

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL”))

Statementof Profitor Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Current Period Prior Period
(31/12/2022) (31/12/2021)
I PROFIT /(LOSS) 52.744.689 10.489.758
1. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 12.005.653 5.929.949
2.1 Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 976.284 (469.446)
211 Gains (losses) on Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment 3.748.858 -
212 Gains (losses) on Revaluation of Intangible Assets - -
213 Gains (losses) on Remeasurements of Defined Benefit Plans (2.860.757) (555.531)
214 Other Components of Other Comprehensive Income That Will Not Be Redassified to Profit Or Loss 35.302 (27.209)
2.15 Taxes Relating To Components Of Other Comprehensive Income That Will Not Be Reclassified To Profit Or Loss 52.881 113.294
2.2 Other Comprehensive Income That Will Be Reclassified to Profit or Loss 11.029.369 6.399.395
221 Exchange Differences on Translation 2.830.610 3.923.750
222 Valuation and/or Reclassification Profit or Loss from Financial Assets Measured at Fair value through other
comprehensive income 8.572.516 1.556.693
223 Income (loss) Related with Cash Flow Hedges 4.248.889 4.144.880
224 Income (loss) Related with Hedges of Net Investments in Foreign Operations (1.651.384) (2.772.550)
225 Other Components of Other Comprehensive Income that will be Reclassified to Other Profit or Loss - -
226 Taxes Relating To Components Of Other Comprehensive Income That Will Be Reclassified To Profit Or Loss (2.971.262) (453.378)
1. TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (I+11) 64.750.342 16.419.707

The accompanyingexplanationsand notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yapi ve Kredi Bankas1 A.S.

Unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“ TL”))

Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Current Period

Other Accumulated Comprehensive

Other Accumulated Comprehensive

(31/12/2022) Income Income
Share That Will Not Be Reclassified In That Will Be Reclassified In Profit or Current
s certificate Other Profit or Loss Loss Prior period period Total
CHANGESIN SHAREHOLDER’S EQ UITY Paid-in Share cancellation capital Profit net net shareholders’
capital premium profits reserves 1 2 3 4 5 6 reserves income/(loss) income/(loss) equity

1. Balance at the beginning of the period 8.447.051 556.937 - 1.598.968 1.856.179 (821.555)  1.163.408 7.897.524 1.458.706  (1.802.217) | 32.639.419 - 10.489.758 63.484.178
11. Adjustment in accordance with TAS 8 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
2.1 Effect of adjustment - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
2.2. Effect of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
111. New balance (1+11) 8.447.051 556.937 - 1.598.968 1.856.179 (821.555)  1.163.408 7.897.524 1.458.706  (1.802.217) | 32.639.419 - 10.489.758 63.484.178
IV. Total comprehensive income (loss) - - - - 3.035.201  (2.094.219) 35.302 2.830.610 6.338.228 1.860.531 - - 52.744.689 64.750.342
V. Capital increase in cash - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
VI. Capital increase through internal reserves - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
VII. Issued capital inflation adjustment difference - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
VIII. Convertible bonds - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
IX. Subordinated debt - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
X. Increase (decrease) through other changes,

equity - - - 1.363 - - - - - - (979.493) - - (978.130)
XI. Profit distribution - - - 18.763 - - - - - - 9.470.995 - (10.489.758) (1.000.000)
11.1. Dividends distributed - - - - - - - - - - - - (1.000.000) (1.000.000)
11.2. Transfers to legal reserves - - - 18.763 - - - - - - 9.470.995 - (9.489.758) -
11.3. Other - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Period end balance (III+IV+......+X+XI) 8.447.051 556.937 - 1.619.094 4.891.380 (2.915.774) 1.198.710 10.728.134 7.796.934 58.314 41.130.921 - 52.744.689 126.256.390

1. Tangible assets revaluation reserve,

2. Accumulated gains/ losses on remeasurements of defined benefit plans,

3. Other comprehensive income ofassociates and joint ventures accounted for using equity method that will not be reclassified to profit or loss and other accumulated amounts of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profitor loss,

4. Exchange differences on translation reserve for associates and joint ventures accounted for using equity method,
5. Accumulated gains (losses) due to revaluation and/or reclassification of financial assets measured at fair value through o ther comprehensive income,
6. Accumulated gains or (losses) on cash flow hedges and net investment hedges.

The accompanyingexplanationsandnotes form an integral part of these financial statements.




(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yapi ve Kredi Bankas1 A.S.

Unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2021
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Prior Period Other Accumulated Comprehensive Other Accumulated Comprehensive
(31/12/2021) Income Income
Share That Will Not Be Reclassified In That Will Be Reclassified In Profit or Current
certificate Other Profit or Loss Loss Prior period riod Total
CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDER’S EQ UITY Paid-in Share cancellation capital Profit nepte penet shareholders’
capital premium profits reserves 1 2 3 4 5 6 reserves income/(loss) income/(loss) equity
1. Balance at the beginning of the period 8.447.051 556.937 1.450.552 1.853.991 (377.130)  1.190.617 3.973.774 213352  (3.032.508) | 28.208.317 - 5.079.518 47.564.471
11. Adjustment in accordance with TAS 8 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
2.1 Effect of adjustment - - - - - - - - - - - - -
2.2. Effect of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - - - - -
111. New balance (1+11) 8.447.051 556.937 1.450.552 1.853.991 (377.130)  1.190.617 3.973.774 213.352  (3.032.508) | 28.208.317 - 5.079.518 47.564.471
V. Total comprehensive income (loss) - - - 2.188 (444.425) (27.209) 3.923.750 1.245.354 1.230.291 - - 10.489.758 16.419.707
V. Capital increase in cash - - - - - - - - - - - - -
VI. Capital increase through internal reserves - - - - - - - - - - - - -
VII. Issued capital inflation adjustment difference - - - - - - - - - - - - -
VIII. Convertible bonds - - - - - - - - - - - - -
IX. Subordinated debt - - - - - - - - - - - - -
X. Increase (decrease) through other changes, equity - - 78 - - - - - - (78 - - -
XI. Profit distribution - - 148.338 - - - - - - 4.431.180 - (5.079.518) (500.000)
11.1. Dividends distributed - - - - - - - - - - - (500.000) (500.000)
11.2. Transfers to legal reserves - - 148.338 - - - - - - 4.431.180 - (4.579.518) -
11.3. Other - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Period end balance (III+IV+.....+X+XI) 8.447.051 556.937 1.598.968 1.856.179 (821.555)  1.163.408 7.897.524 1.458.706  (1.802.217) | 32.639.419 - 10.489.758 63.484.178

1. Tangible assets revaluation reserve,
2. Accumulated gains/ losses on remeasurements of defined benefit plans,

3. Other comprehensive income ofassodiates and joint ventures accounted for using equity method that will not be reclassified to profit or loss and other accumulated amounts of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profitor loss,

4. Exchange differences on translation reserve for associates and joint ventures accounted for using equity method,
5. Accumulated gains (losses) due to revaluation and/or reclassification of financial assets measured at fair value through o ther comprehensive income,

6. Accumulated gains or (losses)on cash flow hedges and net investment hedges.

The accompanyingexplanationsandnotes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yap ve Kredi Bankas1 AS.

Unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022 and 2021

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL”))

Statement of cash flows

(Notes

section  Current Period Prior Period
five) (31/12/2022) (31/12/2021)

A. CASH FLOWS FROM B ANKING OPERATIONS
11 Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities 38.344.706 9.484.169
111 Interest received 80.819.467 39.445.619
112 Interest paid (44.852.623) (27.904.622)
113 Dividend received 238.670 46.229
114 Fees and commissions received 19.401.475 9.983.197
1.15  Otherincome 16.114.133 (3.833.294)
116 Collections frompreviously written-offloans and other receivables 4.562.390 2.542.927
1.1.7  Cash Payments to personnel and service suppliers (17.444.405) (8.935.897)
118  Taxes paid (18.141.110) (2.885.706)
119  Other 6.3 (2.353.291) 1.025.716
12 Changes in operating assets and liabilities subject to banking operations 1572.100 25.195.487
121 Net (increase) decrease in financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (354.671) (257.831)
122 Net (increase) decrease in duefrombanks (35.065.404) (52.796.052)
123 Net (increase) decrease in loans (203.749698)  (117.815.384)
124 Net (increase) decrease in other assets (28.537.674) (19.594.214)
125  Netincrease (decrease) in bank deposits 2.280.492 2444291
126 Net increase (decrease) in other deposits 265.256.343 144.145240
127 Net increase (decrease) in financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 12.796.995 13.520.935
128 Net increase (decrease) in funds borrowed (5.219.3698) 49.593.937
129 Net increase (decrease) in matured payables - -
1210 Netincrease (decrease) in other liabilities 6.3 (5.834.915) 5.954.565
l. Net cash provided from banking operations 39.916.806 34.679.656

B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
1. Net cash provided from investing activities (45.484.118) (22.372.185)
21 Cash paid for the purchase of associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures (25.016) (26.660)
2.2 Cash obtained from the sale of associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures 1.040.675 18.270
23 Cash paid for the purchase of tangible and intangible asset (1.475.201) (733.757)
2.4 Cash obtained from the sale of tangible and intangible asset 705.124 466.850
25 Cash paid for the purchase of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (33.223.418) (7.057.477)
- %]acsohmoebmined from the sale of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 10.101.185 6.105.356
2.7 Cash paid for the purchase of financial assets at amortised cost (30.470.261) (22.521.429)
2.8 Cash obtained from sale of financial assets at amortised cost 7.862.794 1.376.662
2.9 Other - -

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
1. Net cash flows f rom financing activities (338.094) 10.491.915
31 Cash obtained fromfunds bomowed and securities issued 24.462.69%6 30.715.342
32 Cash outflow fromfunds borrowed and securities issued (23.328.761) (19.289.183)
33 Equity instruments issued - -
34 Dividends paid (1.000.000) (500.000)
35 Payments for finance lease liabilities (472.029) (434.244)
36 Other - -
V. Effect of change in foreign exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 6.3 23.988.491 27.218.430
V. Net increase (decrease) incash andcash equivalents 18.083.085 50.017.816
VI. Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 6.1 95.207.698 45.189.882
VII. Cash and cash equivalentsat end of the period 6.1 113.290.783 95.207.698

Theaccompanyingexplanationsandnotes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yap ve Kredi Bankas1 AS.

Unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022 and 2021

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL”))

Profit Distribution®

Current Period Prior Period
(31/12/2022) (31/12/2021)

l. Distribution of current year income
11 Current year income 68.313.534 13.485.694
12 Taxes and duties payable (-) 15.568.845 2.995.934
121 Corporate tax (income tax) 20.149.630 3.257.104
122 Income withholding tax -
123 Other taxes and duties (4.580.785) (261.170;
A. Net income forthe year (1.1-1.2) 52.744.689 10.489.754
13 Prior year losses (-) -
14 First legal reserves (-) - 144.884
15 Other statutory reserves (-) -
B. Net income available for distribution [(a-(1.3+1.4+1.5)] 52.744.689 10.344.874
1.6 First dividend to shareholders (-) - 422.353
16.1 To owners ofordinary shares - 422.353
16.2 To owners of privileged shares -
16.3 To owners ofpreferred shares -
164 To profit sharing bonds -
165 To holders of profit and loss sharing certificates -
17 Dividendsto personnel (-) -
18 Dividendstoboard ofdirectors (-) -
19 Second dividend to shareholders (-) - 577.6417
19.1 To owners ofordinary shares - 577.641
19.2 To owners of privileged shares -
193 To owners ofpreferred shares -
194 To profit sharing bonds -
195  Toholders of profit and loss sharing certificates -
1.10 Second legal reserves (-) - 57.765
111 Statutory reserves (-) -
112 Extraordinary reserves - 9.268.344
1.13 Other reserves -
1.14 Special funds - 18.763
1. Distribution of reserves
2.1 Appropriated reserves -
22 Second legal reserves (-) -
23 Dividends to shareholders (-) -
231 To owners ofoordinary shares -
232 To owners of privileged shares -
233 To owners ofpreferred shares -
234 To profit sharing bonds -
235 To holders of profit and loss sharing certificates -
24 Dividendsto personnel (-) -
25 Dividendstoboard ofdirectors (-) R
1. Earnings per share
3.1 To owners ofordinary shares (full TL) 0,0624 0,0124
3.2 To owners ofordinary shares (%) -
33 To owners of privileged shares -
34 To owners of privileged shares (%) -
V. Dividend per share
4.1 To owners ofordinary shares (full TL) - 0,0012
4.2 To owners ofordinary shares (%) - 11,8384
4.3 To owners of privileged shares -
4.4 To owners of privileged shares (%) -

(1) Regarding profitdistribution, the authorized body ofthe Bank is the General Assembly and the annual general assembly meeting has not been held as of the
date of preparation ofthese financial statements. Since the dividend distribution proposal for 2022 has not yetbeen prepared by the Board of Directors, only

the distributable profit isstated in the profit distribution table.

Theaccompanyingexplanationsandnotes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yap ve Kredi Bankas1 AS.
Notes to unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

Section Three
Accounting policies
Explanations on basis of presentation:

The Bank keeps its books of accounts in Turkish Lira in accordance with the Banking Act No. 5411 (“Banking
Act”), which is effective from November 1, 2005, the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), and Turkish Tax
Legislation.

The unconsolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the “Regulation on the Principles and
Procedures Regarding Banks’ A ccounting A pplications and Safeguarding o f Documents” published in the Official
Gazette No. 26333 dated November 1,2006 by the Banking Regulation and Supervision A gency (“BRSA””) which
refers to “Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”)issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and
Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”) and other decrees, notes and explanations related to the accounting and
financial reporting principles published by the BRSA. The format and the details of the publicly announced
financial statements and related disclosures to these statements have been prepared in accordance with the
“Communiqué Related to Publicly Announced Financial Statements of Banks and Explanations and Notes Related
to these Financial Statements” and changes and notes to this communiqué published in the Official Gazette No.
28337 dated June 28, 2012.

The accompanying unconsolidated financial statements and notes to these financial statements are expressed in
thousands of Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated.

The accompanying unconsolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis
(restated for the changes in the general purchasing power of TL until December 31, 2004), except for financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income, derivative financial assets/liabilities buildings and art objects and paintings in
tangible assets. Besides, the carrying values of assets carried at amortized cost but subject to fair value hedgeare
adjusted to reflect the fair value changes related to the hedged risks.

The preparation of unconsolidated financial statements in conformity with TFRS requires the use of certain
accounting estimates by the Bank managementto exercise its judgment onthe assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet and contingent assets and liabilities as of the balance sheetdate. These estimates are being reviewed regularly
and, when necessary, suitable corrections are made and theeffects of these corrections are explained in the related
notes and reflected to the income statement.

The accounting policies and valuation principles employed for the preparation the financial statements are in
compliance with “Accounting and Reporting Legislation” published in the regulation, communique,
interpretations and circular of BRSA. If there is no specific regulation of BRSA, it has been determined and applied
in the context of TFRS.

The socialand economic measures have been takento reduce negativity of COVID-19 epidemic, which was spread
globally in the first half of 2020, in our country as in other countries where the epidemic is effective.

The Bankhas reflected the possible effects of the COVID-19 outbreak onthe estimates and judgments used in the
preparation of the financial statements. The estimates and assumptions used in the calculation of expected credit
lossesare explained in the explanations onthe impairment of financial assets.

Interestrate benchmark reformLondon Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) is the most widely referenced benchmark
interest rate across the globe for derivatives, bonds, loans and other floating rate instruments; however, for the
USD indexed products, theregulator’s transition process ofthe market fromLIBOR and certain other benchmark
rates to alternativerisk-free, or nearly risk-free, rates thatare based onactual overnight transactions still continues.
Derivatives, floating rate notes, loans and other financial contracts whose terms extend beyond the relevant
discontinuation date, and that refer to certain benchmark rates (including LIBOR) as the reference rate, will be
impacted.

In Turkey, Turkish Lira Overnight Reference Rate (“TLREF”)is created in order tomeet the need of Turkish Lira
short-termreference ratethatcan beused as an underlying orabenchmarkiin financial products, debt instruments
and different types of financial contracts. The Bank completed the necessary infrastructure develo pment and
startedto trade TLREF indexed products in 2021.
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(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yap ve Kredi Bankas1 AS.
Notes to unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

As of December 31, 2022, the Bank largely completed the necessary infrastructure development for USD Libor
indexed derivatives, money market transactions, bonds, loan products and risk management systems in order to
take the transition to alternative benchmark interestrates that are based on actual overnight transactions. Following
the systemdevelopments, it is anticipated that for the newtraded floating rate instruments alternative benchmark
interest rates are going to be used. For the existing transactions, it is planned to take transition to alternative
benchmark interestrates in casethere is a request fromcounter banks or customers. In the light of analysis, related
transitionwill have no material impact on financial statements.

POA published the Phase 1, Amendments to TAS 39, TFRS 9 and TFRS 7 in December 2019 and Phase 2,
Amendmentsto TFRS9, TAS 39, TFRS 7 and TFRS 16 in December 2020. The Phase 1, Amendments and The
Phase 2, Amendments provide some specific reliefs on hedge accounting transactions and address issues that arise
upon replacing the existing interest rate benchmark with the alternative interest rates and introduces additional
disclosure requirements. There is no hedge relationdiscontinued due to this reform.

Interestrate contracts are used in hedge transactions to manage exposure to interest rate risk of assets and liabilities.
The hedging instruments designated to managethese risks reference IBOR in multiple jurisdictions and have been
affected by thereformas the markets transition to alternative risk free or nearly risk-free rates by 2021 and beyond.

The Phase 2 Amendments providetwo key reliefs

» Modifications made as a direct result of the reform on an economically equivalent basis are reflected
prospectively in the effective interestrate rather thanas an immediate gain or loss.

» If qualifying criteria are met, hedgingrelationships that are directly impacted by the reformwould be able to
continue hedge accounting upontransition toalternativeinterestrates.

On January 20, 2022, POA made a statement on the Implementation of Financial Reporting in High Inflation
Economies within the Scope of TFRS, Financial Reporting Standard for Large and Medium Sized Enterprises.
Accordingly, it has been stated that businesses applying TFRS do not need to make any adjustments in their
financial statements for 2021 within the scope of TAS 29 Financial Reporting in High Inflation Economies. In
2022, as of the reporting date, there has notbeen any furtherannouncement by POA regarding this issue; therefore,
inflation adjustments have not been applied on the financial statements dated December 31, 2022 in accordance
with TAS 29.

Additional paragraph for convenience translation into English:

The differences between accounting principles, as described in the preceding paragraphs and accounting principles
generally accepted in countries in which the accompanying consolidated financial statements are to be distributed
and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) have not been quantified in the accompanying
unconsolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the accompanying unconsolidated financial statements are not
intendedto present the financial position, results of operations and changes in financial positionand cash flows in
accordancewith the accounting principles generally accepted in such countries and IFRS.

Explanations on strategy of using financial instruments andforeign currency transactions:

The general strategy of the Bankin using financial instruments is to sustain an optimal balance between the yield
of the instruments and their risks. The most important funding source of the Bank is deposits. For non -deposit
items, the Bank maintains longer-termfundingstructure especially through long-termforeign borrowings. Funds
from deposits and other funding sources are invested in high quality financial assets in order to keep currency,
interest rate and liquidity risks within the limits determined by the asset-liability strategy. The currency, interest
and liquidity risks of on-balance sheetand off-balance sheetassets and liabilities are managed in accordance with
the risk limits approved in the Bank and the related legal limits. Derivative instruments are mainly utilized for
liquidity needs and for mitigating currencyand interest rate risks. The positionofthe Bankas a result of foreign
currency activities is being held at minimum levels and the currency risk exposure is monitored within the limits
determined by the Board of Directors under the context of Banking Act.

Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated with the exchange rates prevailing at
the balancesheet date. Gains and losses arising fromsuch valuations are recognized in the income statement under
the account of“Foreign exchange gains orlosses”, except for valuation differences arising fromforeign currency
participations, subsidiaries and foreign currency non-performing loans.

The Bank hedges foreign currency exposure arising fromcarrying its foreign subsidiaries at equity method, with
foreign currency financial liabilities and applies net investment hedge accounting. The effective portions of the
change in fair value in financial liabilities in foreign currency are recorded under “Other accumulated
comprehensive income that will be reclassified in other profit orloss”in equity.

In orderto eliminate the inconsistency in the recognition, the Bank might classify its financial liabilities as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit/ loss upon the initial recognition.
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(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yap ve Kredi Bankas1 AS.
Notes to unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

Explanations on investments inassociates, subsidiaries andjoint ventures:

Associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures are being carried atequity method as definedin “ TAS 28 - Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures” in the unconsolidated financial statements of the Bank started from June 30,
2015. Any valuation differences arising from prior years, before January 1, 2015, are booked as “Other
accumulated comprehensive income that will not be reclassified in profit or loss” under equity. In the following
periods, any valuation differences arising fromthe current period income and other comprehensive income are
recognised in profit orloss and “Other accumulated comprehensive income that will not be reclassified in profit
or loss” under the equity, respectively. This accounting policy change is performed through an early adaption
before the effective date of January 1, 2016 in accordance with the change of “TAS — 27 Turkish Accounting
Standards for Individual Financial Statements” numbered 29321 on April 9, 2015 and confirmation by BRSA’s
letter numbered 10686 on July 14, 2015.

Explanations on forward and option contracts and derivative instruments:

The Bank’s derivative transactions mostly include money and interest rate swaps, forward foreign exchange
purchase and sale transactions and options.

Derivative instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition and subsequently remeasured at their fair
values. As a result, the fair value of derivatives is reflected as net liability or net asset on a contract by contract
basis. The accounting method applied tothe income or loss arising fromderivative instruments depends on whether
the derivativeis being usedfor hedging purposes or notand depends on thetype ofitembeing hedged.

At the transaction date, the Bank documents the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged iters,
together with therisk managementpolicies andthe strategies on hedging transactions. Besides, the Bank regularly
documents the effectiveness of the hedging instruments in offsetting the changes in the fair value of the hedged
items.

Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments subjectto fair value hedges are recognized under profit or loss
accounts together with the variation in the fair value of hedged items. The changes of fair value of derivative
transactions for fair value hedgeare classified in “Derivative Financial Transactions Gains/Losses” account. In the
balance sheet, changes in the fair value of hedged assets and liabilities, during the period in which the hedge is
effective, are shown with the related assets and liabilities. The ineffective portion of the mentioned hedging
transactionis reflected tothe income statement. If the underlying hedge does not conformto the hedgeaccounting
requirements, according to the adjustments made to the carrying value (amortized cost) of the hedged item, for
which the risk is hedged by a portfolio hedge, are amortized with the straight line method within the time to
maturity and recognized in profit or loss accounts. Fair value adjustments are recognized directly in the income
statement in an event of repaymentand/or unwinding and/or derecognition of the hedged item.

The Bankhedgesits cash flowriskarising from foreign currency and Turkish Lira floating interest rate liabilities
by using currency and interest rate swaps. The effective portion of the fair value changes of the hedging instrunents
are recorded in “Other accumulated comprehensive income that will be reclassified in profit or loss” under
shareholders’ equity. These funds are transferred to profit orloss fromequity when the cash flows ofthe hedged
items (interest expense) impact the income statement.

In case the cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued due to the expiry, realization for sale of the hedging
instrument, or due to the results of the effectiveness test the amounts accounted under shareholders’ equity are
transferredto the profit or loss accounts as these cash flows ofthe hedged itemare realized.

Some of the trading purpose derivative transactions, even though they provide effective economic hedges under
the Bank’s risk management policy, do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific rules in “TFRS 9 -
Financial Instruments” and are therefore treated as “Derivative financial assets measured at fair value through
profitorloss”.
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(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yap ve Kredi Bankas1 AS.
Notes to unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

“Derivative financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss” are measured at fair value. If the fair
value of derivative financial instruments is positive, it is disclosed under the main account “Derivative financial
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss”; and if the fair value difference is negative, it is disclosed
under “Derivative financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss”. Fair value changes are
recorded under “Derivative Financial Transactions Gains/(Losses)” in the income statement.

The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are calculated using quoted market prices or by using
discounted cash flow models.

Parameters used for the valuation of the option portfolio are determined by market risk management and the
confirmation of the accuracy of fair value calculations are monitored periodically by market risk management.

Liabilities and receivables arising fromthe derivative instruments are followed in the off-balance sheet accounts
as their contractual values. Embedded derivatives are separated fromthe host contractand accounted as derivative
instruments according to “TFRS — 9 Financial Instruments” in case (i) the related embedded derivative’s economic
features and risks are not closely related to the host contract, (ii) another instrument that has the same contract
conditions with the embedded derivative satisfies the definition of a derivative instrument and (iii) the hybrid
instrument is notcarried at fair value through profit or loss.

Credit derivatives are capital market tools designedto transfer credit risk fromone party to another.
As of December 31, 2022, the Bank’s credit derivatives portfolio included total return swaps.

Credit linked notes are bonds that have repayments depending on a credit event or the credit risk evaluation of a
reference asset orasset pool. Depending on whether the reference assets are included in the balance sheet of the
issuer or the owner of the assets, these transactions can be accounted by the party assuming the credit risk as
insurance or as an embedded derivative. As per the Bank's management evaluation, the embedded derivatives
included in the credit linked notes are separated fromthe host contracts in accordance with “TFRS — 9 Financial
Instruments” and recorded and evaluated as credit default swaps. The bond itself (host contract) is valued in
accordancewith the valuation principles of the category it is classified.

Total return swaps are contracts, in which the seller commits to pay the contract value for all cash flows of the
reference assets ofthesellerandthe changes of the market values of these reference assets to the buyer during the
contract maturity and bear all the decreases in the market value of these referenceassets. The Bank uses the total
return swapstogenerate longtermfunding.

Market risks of these products are monitored usingthe Bank's internal modeling systemfor the Value-at-Risk and
basis points sensitivity analysis; the liquidity risks are monitored using the shorttermliquidity reporton daily and
the long termliquidity report on monthly basis.

According to the regulations of BRSA, currency exchange transactions, which are realized at value date in the
initial phase of currency swaps, are recorded and followed as irrevocable commitments in off-balance sheet
accounts untilthe valuedate.

A Credit Valuation Adjustment(CVA)is applied to the Bank’s over-the-counter derivative exposures to take into
account the counterparty’s risk of default when measuring the fair value of the derivative. CVA is the mark-to-
market cost of protection required to hedge credit risk from counterparties in the Bank’s over-the-counter
derivatives portfolio. The Bank calculates CVA based on collective provisioning methodology calculated in
accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards, “TFRS — 9 Financial Instruments”, comprising the
productof BExposure, Probability of Default (PD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). CVA s calculated based on the
exposure of each counterparty.
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Within the scopeof TFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement standard; (i) if there is a significant decrease in the volurme
or level of activity for thatassetor liability in relation to normal market activity for the assetor liability (or similar
assets or liabilities); (ii) when the transaction or quoted price does not represent fair value; and/ or (iii) when a
price for a similar asset requires significant adjustment to make it comparable to the assetbeing measured, or (iv)
when the price is stale, the Bank makes an adjustment to the transactions or quoted prices and reflects this
adjustment to the fair value measurement. In this context, the Bank determines the point within the range thatis
most representative of fair value under current market conditions.

Explanations on interestincome and expense:

Interestincome and expenses are recognized in the income statement on an accrual basis by using the effective
interest method periodically

Retrospective rediscount calculationand foreign exchange evaluation is performed for non performing loans, and
accrued interest and rediscounts as of transfer to non performing loan accounts are accounted under loan
accrual/rediscount accounts as per Uniform Chart of Accounts (“UCA”). The Bank ceases accruing interest after
non-performing loan classification. In place of that, interest amount representing the time value of future
collections is recognized under interestincome instead of provision expense.

Explanations on fee and commission income and expenses:

Fees and commissions received as a result of the service agreements or arising from negotiating or participating
in the negotiation of a transaction on behalf of a third party are recognized either in the period when the transaction
is realized or deferred based on the type of the underlying transaction. Other commission income and fees from
various bankingservices are recorded as income at the time of realization.

Except for fees and commissions that are integral part of the effective interest rates of financial instruments
measured at amortized costs, the fees and commissions are accounted for in accordance with TFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contract with Customers”.

Explanations on financial assets:

As of January 1, 2018, the Bank has applied TFRS 9and classifies its financial assets in the following measurerent
categories:

» Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
» Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
» Financialassets measured at amortised cost

Accordingto TFRS9, classification of financial assets is based on two criterias; business model under which the
financial assetis beingmanaged and contractual cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest
of the financial asset. This evaluation incorporates whether there is any clause that may change timing or amount
of contractual cash flows of the financial asset.

Classification of financial assets reflects the business model of how the Bank manages the assets in order to
generate cash flows. Bank’s business model may be to collect the contractual cash flows fromthe assets or to
collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is
applicable, thenthe financial assets are classified as part of ‘other’ business model and measured at FVPL. Factors
considered by the Bank in determining the businessmodel for a bank ofassets include past experience on how the
cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key
management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated. Securities held
for trading are held principally for the purpose of selling in the near termor are part of a portfolio of financial
instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking. Thesesecurities are classified in the ‘other’ business modeland measured at FVPL.

The Bank owns Consumer Price Indexed (CPI) GovernmentBonds which are classified under “Fair value through
other comprehensive income” and “measured at amortised cost” securities portfolio. Related securities and
reference indices used in calculating the actual coupon paymentamounts of these assets are based on the Consunmer
Price Index(CPI) of priortwo months.
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Assessment of the business model

The Bank determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together
to achieve a particular business objective.

The business modeldoes not depend on management’s intentions for an individual instrument. A ccordingly, this
condition is not a single-instrument basis approach for classification and should be determined on a higher level
of aggregation.

During the assessment of the business model for management of financial assets, all relevant evidences available
atthe assessmentdate have takeninto consideration. Suchrelevant evidenceincludes below:

» Howthe performance ofthe portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank’s management;

> the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation ofthose policies in practice. In particular,
whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular
interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities thatare funding
those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

> how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the
assets managed or thecontractual cash flows collected); and

> therisks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
model) and its strategy for howthoserisks are managed,;

> the frequency, volume andtiming of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about
future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an
overallassessment ofhow the Bank’s stated objective formanaging the financial assets is achieved and how
cash flows are realised.

If cash flows are realised in a way that is different from the expectations on the date of the assessment of the
business model, that does not give rise to a prior period error in the financial statements nor does it change the
classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model as long as all relevant information that
was available at the time of business model assessment were . However, when the business model is assessed for
newly originated or newly purchased financial assets, it must be considered information about how cash flows
were realised in the past, along with all other relevant information.

The business models are dividedinto three categories. These categories are defined below:

» Business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows

Financial assets that are held within a business model whose obijective is to hold assets in orderto collect
contractual cash flows are managed to realise cash flows by collecting contractual payments over the life of the
instrument. That is, the Bank manages the assets held within the portfolio to collect those particular contractual
cash flows.

Although the obiective of Bank’s business model may be to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows. the Bank does notneedtohold all ofthose instruments until the maturity. Thus Bank’s business model
can be to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows even when sales of financial assets occur or are
expected to occurin the future.

The business model may be to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows even if the Banksells financial assets
when there is an increase in the assets’ credit risk. The Bank considers reasonable and supportable information,
mcluding forward looking information,in order to determine whether there has been anincreasein the assets’ credit
risk. Regardless oftheir frequency and value, sales due to anincreasein the assets’ credit risk are not inconsistent
with a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows because the
credit quality of financial assets is relevant to the Bank’s ability to collect contractual cash flows.

» Abusiness modelwhose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets

The Bankmay hold financial assets in a business model whose obiective is achieved by both collectina contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets. In this type of business model., the Bank’s management have made a
decision on both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets is necessary for achieving the
obiective of the business model. There are various objectives that may be consistent with this type of business
model. For example, the obijective of the business model may be to manage liquidity needs on a daily bask, to
maintain a particular interest yield profile or to match the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the
liabilities fundina those assets. To achieve such an objective, the Bank will both collect contractual cash flows and
sellfinancial assets.

-18-



7.1.

7.2.

(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yap ve Kredi Bankas1 AS.
Notes to unconsolidated financial statements as of December 31,2022

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

Compared to a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows, this
businessmodelwill typically involve greater frequency and valueofsales. This is because selling financial assets
is integral to achieving the business model’s objective instead of being only incidental to it.

» Otherbusiness models

Financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss if they are notheld within a businessmodel whose
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both collecting contractual cash flows andselling financial assets

A portfolio of financial assets thatis managed and whose performanceis evaluated on a fair value basis is neither
held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
The Bankis primarily focused on fair value information and uses that information to assess the assets’ performance
and to make decisions.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated
with the principalamount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Bank considers the contractual terms of the
instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual termthat could change the
timing oramount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.

When making such assessment, the Bank:

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows
leverage features

prepaymentandextensionterms

conditions restricting the Bank fromasking the cash flows of the assets
features that change thetime value ofthe money

YV VVY

When the contractual conditions are exposed to the risks which are not consistent with the basic lending
arrangement or variability of cash flows, the relevant financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

Financial assets measuredat fair value through profit or loss

Financialassets, which are classified as “Financial assets measured at fair value through profit orloss”, are trading
financial assets and are either acquired for generating profit from short-term fluctuations in the price or dealer’s
margin, or are financial assets included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short-term profit making exists
independentfromthe acquisition purpose.

Trading financial assets are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value.
However, if fair values cannot be obtained fromactive market transactions, it is assumed that the fair value cannot
be observed reliably and fair values are calculated by alternative models. All gains and losses arising fromthese
valuations are recognized in the income statement. Interest earned while holding financial assets is reported as
interest income and dividends receivedare included separately in dividend income.

The principles regarding theaccounting of derivative financial instruments are explained in detail in Note 4 of this
section.

Financial assets measuredat amortisedcost:

Assetsthat are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost. These financial assets are initially recognized at total of
acquisition and transaction cost. After their initial recognition they are carried at “Amortized cost” using the
“Effective interestmethod”.
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Loans :

Loans are financial assets raised through lending without having the intention totrade in the shortterm. Loans are
non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted on
active market. Loans are recognized initially at cost including transaction costs (which reflect fair values) and
subsequently carried at the amortized cost using the “effective interest method”. The expenses incurred for the
assetsreceived as collateral are not considered as transaction costs and are recognized in the expenseaccounts.

Retail, commercial and corporate loans included in cash loans are accounted for with their original maturities in
accounts whichare mentioned in the UCA.. Foreign currency indexed loans are initially measured at local currency
accounts with the foreign exchange rate prevailing at date of the initial recognitionand re-valued with the relevant
foreign currency rates prevailing at the date of the financial statements. Increase or decrease in the value of the
principal amount of the loan due to changes in foreign exchange rates is accounted in the related incone and
expense accounts. Repayment amounts are translated with the foreign exchange rates prevailing at the repayment
dates and the valuation differences are accounted forin “foreign exchange gain/loss” accounts.

The Bank provides provision for expected credit losses based on theassessments and estimates of the management,
by considering “TFRS 9 - Financial Instruments”and the “Communiqué Related to Principles and Procedures on
Determining the Qualifications of Banks’ Loans and Other Receivables and the Provision for These Loans and
OtherReceivables” (“Provisioning Regulation”) published in the Official Gazette No. 29750 dated June?22, 2016.
In this context, the management estimates are determined on the basis of the prudence principle and Bank credit
risk policies, considering the general structure of the loan portfolio, the financial conditions of the customers, non-
financialinformation and the economic conjuncture.

As of December 31, 2022, the Bank has made its classifications in accordance with the TFRS 9 standard and
reflected themin its financial statements. In this context; the Bank has evaluated many reasonable and supportable
qualitative and quantitative data by taking into account the impact of COVID-19 in assessing whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk in the classification of loans according to stages and determining the monment
when the default situation occurs. It has classified the loans according to their stages according toits bestjudgment
underthe current conditions.

The Bank has taken into account the possible difficulties in the cash flows or payments of customers due to
uncertainties regarding the COVID 19 epidemic processwithin the scope of TFRS 9while calculating the expected
credit loss for the loans classified accordingto their stages in the scope above.

Provision expenses are deducted from the net income of the year. If there is a subsequent collection from a
receivable that was already provisioned in previous years, the recovery amountis classified under “Other operating
income”. The write off policy is described in the explanations and notes related to assets, fifth section.
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Financial assets measuredat fair value through other comprehensive income:

Financialassets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and forselling the assets, where the assets’
cash flows representsolely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at F\VPL, are measured
at fair value through other comprehensiveincome (F\VVOCI).

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are subsequently re-measured at fair
value. When fair values based on market prices cannot be obtained reliably, the financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income are carried atfair values determined by using alte rnative models. “Unrealized
gains andlosses” arising fromchanges in the fair value of financial assets classified as financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognized in the shareholders’ equity as “Other accumulated
comprehensive income thatwill be reclassified in profit or loss ”, until the related assets are impaired or disposed.
When these financial assets are disposed or impaired, the related fair value differences accumulated in the
shareholders’ equity are transferred to the income statement. Interest and dividends received fromFinancial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income are recorded in interest income and dividend incone as
appropriate.

Interestincome on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are calculated by effective
interest rate method and are accounted for in interest income account. At the time of sale of a financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income before the maturity, the difference between the profit, which is the
difference between the cost and sales price ofthe financial assets, and the interest income accrual are accounted
under “Profit/losses fromcapital market transactions”.

Equity instruments measuredat fair value through other comprehensive income:

Atinitial recognition, an irrevocable election can be made to present in other comprehensive income subsequent
changes in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument within the scope of TFRS 9. Such election is
made on an instrumentby instrument basis. Fair value differences recognized in other comprehensive income are
not transferred to profit or loss in the following periods and transferred to prior years' profit / loss. The equity
instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, are notsubject to impairment calculation

Explanations on impairment of financial assets:

The Bank assesses the expected credit losses (“ECL”) related with its debt instrument assets carried at amortised
costandat fair value through other comprehensive income, with theexposurearising fromloan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts on a forward-looking basis. The Bank recognises a loss allowance for such losses at
each reporting date. The measurementofexpected credit losses reflects:

» Anunbiasedand probability -weighted amountthat is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;

»  Thetime value of money;

» Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date
about pastevents, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The measurementofthe expected credit loss allowance:

The measurementofthe expectedcredit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised costand at fair
value through other comprehensive income is an area that requires the use of advanced models and significant
assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour.

These financial assets will be divided into three categories depending on the gradual increase in credit risk observed
since their initial recognition. Impairment shall be recognized on outstanding amounts in each category, as follows:

Stage 1:

For the financial assets at initial recognition or that do not have a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Impairment for credit risk will be recorded in the amount of 12-month expected credit losses.
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Stage 2:

In the event ofa significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the financial asset will be transfemed
to this category. Impairment for credit risk will be determined on the basis ofthe instrument’s lifetime expected
credit losses.

Stage 3:

Stage 3includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For these assets,
lifetime ECL are recognized and interestrevenue is calculated on the net carryingamount.

Life-time expected credit loss is calculated on an individual or collective basis for the financial assets in stage 2
and stage 3.

General provisions represent ECLs forthe first stage and the second stage, specific provisions represent ECLs for
the third stage.

The Bank has developed specific models for calculating the expected loss; such models are based onthe parameters
of PD, LGD and EAD and on the effective interest rate. In particular:

» thePD (Probability of Default), represents the customer’s probability of more than 90 days delay, within 12-
months;

> the LGD (Loss Given Default), represents the percentage of the estimated loss, and thus the expected rate of
recovery, at the dateof occurrence of the default event of the credit exposure;

> the EAD (Bxposure at Default), represents the measure ofthe exposure at the time ofthe event of default of
the credit exposure;

» the Effective interestrate is the discountrate thatexpresses ofthe time value of money.

Such parameters are calculated starting fromthe corresponding parameters used for IRB preparation purposes,
with specific adjustments in order to ensure consistency between accounting and regulatory treatment despite
different regulatory requirements.

The main adjustments aimed at:

» removalof prudency principal used for IRB phase;

» introducing “point-in-time” adjustments to replace “through-the-cycle” adjustments required for IRB phase
(TFRS-9 parameters developed over these parameters.);

» with reference to lifetime PD, through-the-cycle PD curves obtained by adjusting observed cumulated default
rates were calibrated in order to reflect point-in-time on portfolio default rates.

Recovery rate incorporated into through-the-cycle LGD was adjustedin orderto remove prudency principle and
to reflect the most updated trend of recovery rates discounted at effective interestrate or at its bestapproximation.

The lifetime EAD has been obtained by converting the 1 year regulatory or managerial model to life-time,
removing margin of prudency andincluding the expected discounted cash flow.

The Stage Allocation model is a key aspect of the accounting model required to calculate expected credit losses
which is aimed at transferring credit exposures fromStage 1to Stage 2.

With reference to the quantitative component of the model for stage allocation, the Bank has adopted a statistical
approachbased on a quantiles regression whose objective is to define a threshold in terms of maximum variation
acceptable between the PD at the time of origination and the PD assessed at thereporting date.

The Stage Allocation model was based on a combination of relative and absolute elements. The main elements
were:

> comparison, for each transaction, between the PD measured at the time of recognition and PD as at the
reporting date, both calculated according to internal models, through thresholds set in a way considering all
key variables of each transaction that can affect the Bank's expectation of PD changes over time;

> absolute elementssuchas the backstops required by law;

» additionalinternal evidence
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Significantincrease in creditrisk
In the assessment of significant increase in credit risk quantitative and qualitative assessments are made;
Quantitative Assessment:

As aresult of quantitative assessment, related financial asset is classified as stage 2 (Significant Increase in Credit
Risk) when any of the following criterias are satisfied.

As ofreportingdate:

> Lifetime expected credit losses shall be recognized on a transaction base, when 30 days past due status is
passed. The Bank can abandon this estimation when it has reasonable and supportable information about
customers contractual repayments.

> Incasealoan has beenrestructured, it will be followed up under Stage 2 during the follow-up period mentioned
in the related regulations. The loan can be transferred back to Stage 1at end ofthe follow-up periodifthere is
no significant deterioration.

» Provisionson non-funded noncash loans are evaluated as significant increase in credit risk.

Qualitative Assessment

The probability of significant increase in credit risk under qualitative assessment is based on the comparison of
probability of default ofa loan in the originationand as ofreporting date.

The Bank uses distribution regression on segment basis in order to calculate the thresholds used in defining the
significant increase in credit risk.

Financial instruments defined as lowrisk for TFRS 9 are;

Receivables fromCentral Bank of the Republic of Turkey;

Loans with counterparty of Treasury of the Republic of Turkey

The issued securities orguaranteed marketable securities from central banks of the countries where
Bank’s subsidiaries, associates are resident;

Bank placements;

Other money market transactions;

Transactions of Bank’s associates and subsidiaries

YVV VVYVY

Forward Looking Information

Forward-looking macroeconomic information is incorporated into credit risk parameters during assessment of
significant increase in credit risk and expected credit loss calculation. For the calculation of expected credit loss,
Bank uses macroeconomic estimation method which is developed during creation of various scenarios.
Macroeconomic variables prevailing during these estimates are gross domestic product (GDP), unemployment rate
and foreign trade balance.

When expected credit losses are estimated in accordance with the forward looking macroeconomic information,
the Bankevaluates three scenarios (base, pessimistic and optimistic) with various weights based. Within the scope
of the effects of COVID-19 on Expected Credit Loss calculations, the weight of base scenario has been reduced
and pessimistic scenario has been increased at the same rate. The Bank has reviewed the macroeconomic model
used in the process and has been the subject of provision calculations using the data considered to reflect the
current situation in the best way. On the other hand, researches have been carried out on the sectors affected by
COVID-19, the effects that belonged to the period which COVID-19 was the most effective, were segregated on
asectoral basis and analyzed whether in which directionthe Borsa Istanbul Indexdata differed fromthe cumulative
index data and this differentiation is reflected in the probability of default values on a sectoral basis. The Bank
made no changein its current approach in current period.
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In the light of macroeconomic expectations, the Bank reflected the calculations made to its financial statements
considering the probability of default valuesand the possible changes in the exposure at default. In this contex,
the Bankhas measuredthe effect ofthe change in macroeconomic data used in the calculation of expected credit
loss such as gross domestic product, unemployment rate and foreign trade deficit, on the non performing loans
under different scenarios and reflected the coefficientincrease, which was considered to be the most accurate, to
its provision calculations by projecting it on the loan parameters within the range of NPL ratio obtained throughout
the calculations. The Bank reflected the possible effects of the COVID-19 and estimation of cash flows with
reasonable and supportable information used in calculating the expected loan loss provision for the loans subject
to individual assessment. This preferred approachwill be revised in the coming reporting periods considering the
impact of the outbreak, the credit portfolio and changes in future expectations.

Explanations on offsetting financial assets:

Financialassetsand liabilities are offset and the net amount is reportedin the balance sheet when the Bank hasa
legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and to collect/pay related financial assets and liabilities
on anetbasis, orto realise theasset andsettle the liability simultaneously.

Explanations on sales andrepurchase agreements andsecurities lending transactions:

Securities subjectto repurchase agreements (“Repo”) are classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss”, “Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” and “Financial assets
measured at amortised cost” according to the investment purposes of the Bank and measured according to the
portfolio to which they belong. Funds obtained fromrepurchase agreements are accounted under “Money market
funds”in Labilities and the difference between the sale and repurchase price is accrued over the life of the
repurchase agreements using the “Effective interest method”. Interest expense on repo transactions are recorded
under “Interest expense on money market transactions” in the income statement.

Funds given against securities purchased under agreements to resell (“Reverse repo”) are accounted under
“Receivables from money markets” on the balance sheet. The difference between the purchase and determined
resellprice is accrued over thelife of repurchase agreements using the effective interest method.

The Bankhas no securities lending transactions.

Information on assets heldfor resale and related to discontinuedoperations and explanations on liabilities
related with these assets:

Accordingtothe“ TFRS -5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” , a tangible asset (or
a bank of assets to be disposed) classified as “Asset held for resale” is measured at lower of carrying value and
fair value less costs to sell. An asset (or a bank ofassets tobe disposed) is regarded as “Assetheld for resale” only
when the sale is highly probable and the asset (ora bank of assetsto be disposed) is available forimmediate sale
in its present condition.

For a highly probable sale, there must be a valid plan prepared by the management for the sale ofasset including
identification of possible buyersand completion of sale process. Furthermore, the asset should be actively in the
market at a price consistent with its fair value.

A discontinued operationis a part ofthe Bank’s business classified as sold orheld forsale. The operating results
of the discontinued operations are disclosed separately in the income statement.

Explanations on goodwill and other intangible assets:
Goodwill:

The excess ofthe costofan acquisition over the fair value ofthe Bank’s share ofthe identifiable assets, liabilities
or contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition of the controlis recorded as goodwil
and represents a payment made by the acquirer in anticipation of future economic benefits fromassets that are not
capable of being individually identified and separately recognized. The acquirer also recognizes assets that are
capable of being individually identified and separately recognized, intangible assets (e.g. credit card brand value,
deposit base and customer portfolio) and contingent liabilities at fair value, irrespective of whether the asset had
been recognized by theacquire before thebusiness combination, if it can be distinguished fromthe goodwill and
if the asset’s fair value can be measured reliably.
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As explained in Note 2, Section 1, in 2006, all rights, receivables, debts and liabilities of Kogbank were transfemed
to the Bank pursuant the merger of the two banks. The goodwill arising from the merger has been tested for
impairment in the framework of "TAS 36 - Impairment of Assets", calculated within the scope of "TFRS 3 -
Business Combinations", and was recorded in the unconsolidated financial statements of the Bank. As of 31
December 2022, the provision for impairment for the entire amount of goodwill was recognized in profit reserves
directly underequity.

Other intangible assets:

Otherintangible assets are measured at cost oninitial recognition and any directly attributable costs of setting the
asset to work for its intended use are included in the initial measurement. Subsequently, intangible assets are
carried at historical costs after the deduction of accumulated amortization and the provision forimpairment.

The Bank evaluates the possibility of existence of impairment of intangible assets at the end of each reporting
period. If there is an evidence of impairment, the Bank estimates a recoverable amount in accordance with the
“TAS — 36 Impairment of Assets”. The recoverable amount is the higher of net sales price or the value in use.
When the book value of another intangible asset exceeds the recoverable amount, the related asset is considered
to be impaired. If there is no evidence of impairment, there is no need to estimate the recoverable amount.

Intangibles are amortized over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The useful life of the
asset is determined by assessing the expected useful life of the asset, technical, technological and other kinds of
obsolescence andall required maintenance expenses necessary to utilize the economic benefit fromthe asset.

Explanations on property and equipment:

Property and equipment is measured at its cost when initially recognized and any directly attributable costs of
setting the asset in working order for its intended use are included in the initial measurement in accordance with
“TAS— 16 Property, Plant and Equipment”. Subsequently, properties and equipment, except art objects, paintings
and buildingsare carried at costlessaccumulated depreciationand provisionfor impairment.

The Bank adopted a fair value accounting method for its buildings as of March 31, 2015 in tangible assets in
accordance with “TAS — 16 Property, Plant and Equipment”.

The depreciation rate for buildings is 2-4%, for movables and movables acquired under financial leasing
depreciationis calculated over estimated useful life by using thestraight-line method.

The depreciation charge for items remaining in property and equipment for less than a full accounting period at
the balance sheetdateis calculated in proportionto the period the itemremained in property and equipment.

In accordance with “TAS — 36 Impairment of Assets”, where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its
estimated “recoverable amount”, it is written down to its “recoverable amount” and the provision for impairment
is charged to theincome statement.

Gains and losses onthe disposal of property and equipment are determined by deducting the netbook value of the
property and equipment fromits sales proceeds.

BExpenditures for the repair and maintenance of property and equipment are recognized as expense. The capital
expenditures made in order to increase the capacity of the tangible asset or to increase its future benefits are
capitalized on the cost of the tangible asset. The capital expenditures include the costcomponents which are used
eitherto increasethe useful life or the capacity of the assetor the quality of the productorto decrease the costs.
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Explanations on leasing transactions:

The Bank performs leasing transactions in the capacity of the lessee and lessor.

Accounting of leasing operations according tolessee:

The Bank has adopted “TFRS 16: Leases” approach in the accounting of leasing transactions.

In accordance with TFRS 16, the Bank calculates “right-of-use” amount using the present value of the lease
payments of fixed asset at the beginning of the leasing period and recognizes under “property and equipment”.
Unpaid leasing payments are calculated at their net present value and recognized under “lease payables” in
liabilities. Lease payments are discounted using related borrowing rates.

Fixed assetsthatare subjectto leasing is amortised onthe basis of leasing period. Interestexpenserelatedto lease
payables s classified under “interest on lease payables” under “interest expense” and exchange rate changes are
classified under “foreign exchange gains/losses”. Leasing payments are deducted fromlease payables.
Accounting of the leasing transactions in terms of the lessor:

The majorrisks and benefits of the property carried by the lessor are classified as operational leasing. The payments
that are received as operational leasing are accounted as income via the linear method throughout the leasing term

Explanations on provisions, contingent assets andliabilities:

Provisions and contingent liabilities, exceptfor the expected credit loss recognized for financial instruments within
the scope of TFRS 9 standards, are accounted in accordance with “TAS — 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets”.

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
and areliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Provisions for contingent liabilities arisen from past events are recognized in the period of occurrence in
accordance with the “Matching principle”. A provisionis recognized whenit is probable thatthe contingent event
will occur and a reliable estimate can be made. When a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation cannot be
made or it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, it is considered that
a “contingent” liability exists and it is disclosed in the related notes to the financial statements.

Contingent assets usually arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an
inflow of economic benefits to the entity. Contingent assets are not recognized in financial statements since this
may result in the recognition of income that may never be realized. Contingentassets are dis closed where an inflow
of economic benefits is probable. Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are
appropriately reflected in the financial statements. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of economic
benefits willarise, the assetand the related income are recognized in the financial statements of the period in which
the change occurs.

Explanations on obligations relatedto employee benefits:
Employee termination benefits

Obligations related to employee termination and vacation rights are accounted for in accordance with “TAS — 19
Employee Benefits” and are classified under “Provisions for employee benefits” account in the balance sheet.

Underthe Turkish Labour Law, the Bank is required to pay a specificamountto the employees who haveretired
or whose employment is terminated other thanforthe reasons specified in the Turkish Labour Law. The reserve
for employment termination benefits represents the present value of the estimated total liability for the future
probable obligation ofthe Bank determined by using certain actuarial assumptions. Actuarial gains and losses are
accounted forunder equity in accordance with the*“TAS — 19 Employee Benefits” standard.
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Pensionrights

The Bank’s personnel are members ofthe Yap1 ve Kredi Bankas1 Anonim Sirketi Mensuplart Yardim ve Emekli
Sandig1 Vakfi (“the Fund”) which was established in accordance with the 20th temporary article of the Social
Security Law No.506. The technical financial statements of the Fund are audited in accordance with the Article 33
of the Insurance Supervision Law and the “Regulation Regarding the Actuaries” by a registered independent
actuary.

Temporary article 23 paragraph 1 ofthe Banking Act published in the Official Gazette No. 25983 dated November
1, 2005 stated that foundations like the Fund are to be transferred to the Social Security Institution (“SSI””) within
three years beginning fromthe publicationdate ofthe article.

The article of the Law related to the transfer was cancelled (pursuant to the application by the President on
November 2, 2005) by the decision of Constitutional Court (decision no: E.2005/39, K. 2007/33 dated March22,
2007) published in the Official Gazette No. 26479 dated March 31, 2007, and the effect of the law article was
suspended fromthe date ofthe publication of the decision.

The reasoning ofthe Constitutional Court regarding theabrogation of the corresponding article was published in
the Official Gazette dated December 15, 2007, No 26731. With the publication of the reasoning of the decision,
the Grand National Assembly of Turkey (“GNAT”) started to work on new legal arrangements regarding the
transfer of the fund members to SSI and the related articles of'the “Law Regarding the Changes in Social Insurance
and General Health Insurance Law and Other Related Laws and Regulations” No 5754 (“the New Law”) regulating
the transfer of the funds were approved by the GNAT on April 17, 2008. The New Law was published in the
Official Gazette No. 26870 dated May 8,2008. With the new law, the banks’ pension funds will be trans ferred to
SSI within three years fromthe date of publication ofthe decree andthis period can be extended for a maximum
oftwo years with the decisionofthe Council of Ministers. The transfer period was extended for another two years
with the decisionofthe Council of Ministers No. 2011/1559 published in the Official Gazette dated April 9, 2011.
Accordingtothe “Amendmentof Social Insurance and General Health Insurance Law No. 6283 published in the
Official Gazette dated March 8, 2012, Council of Ministers was authorized to increase the two-year extension
period mentioned above to fouryears. Accordingto the decisionof The Council of Ministers dated February 24,
2014, the transfer date is set as May 2015. The Council of Ministers was authorized to determine the transfer date
of pension funds in accordance with the last amendment in the first paragraph of the 20th provisional article of
Law No.5510 implemented by the Law No. 6645 on Amendmentofthe Occupational Healthand Safety Law and
Other Laws and Decree Laws published in the Official Gazette dated April 23, 2015 and numbered 29335. The
president was authorized to determine the transfer date of pension funds in accordance with the last amendment
by the Law No. 30473 published in the Official Gazette dated July 9, 2018.

A commission (whose members are the representatives of the SSI, the Ministry of Finance, Turkish Treasury, State
Planning Organization, BRSA, Saving Deposit Insurance Fund (“SDIF”’), one member representing the Fund and
one member representing the Fund members) is in charge of the calculation of the value of the payment that would
need to be made to SSI to settle the obligation using a technical interest rate of 9,8% by law taking into
considerationincome and expenses by insurance branches of the funds andthe excess of salaries and income paid
by the funds over the salaries andincome to be paid in accordance with the SSl arrangements which should notbe
less than SSl arrangements, related to the members of the Fund as of thedate of the transfer including the members
who have left the scheme.

In accordance with the New Law, after the transferto SSI, any social rights and payments to Fund members and
their beneficiaries which are not provided although they are included in the Fund Title Deed will continue to be
provided by the Fundand the employers ofthe Fund members.

The Bankaccounts fora provision for the technical deficit based onthe report prepared by a registered actuary in
accordancewith the rates determined by the New Law and in accordance with TAS 19.

Short term benefits of employee:

Within the scope of “TAS — 19 Employee Benefits”, the Bank measures the expected costs ofaccumulated paid
leaves as expected payments it will make due to unused leaverightsasat the end ofthe reporting date.
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Explanations on taxation:
Currenttax:

The corporate taxrate is 20% in accordance with the article number 32 of the New Corporate Tax Law no0.5520
which is published in the official Gazette dated June 21, 2006 and humbered 26205. In accordance with the 11 and
14th articles ofthe Law numbered 7316 on “Amendment of Law on Collection Procedure of Public Receivables
and Certain Laws” published in the Official Gazette dated April 22, 2021 and numbered 31462, starting fromthe
declarations thatmustbe submitted starting fromJuly 1, 2021 and to be valid for the taxation period starting from
January 1, 2021, corporate taxrate will be applied as 25% for enterprises' corporate income belonging to the
taxation periods of 2021 and 23% for enterprises' corporate income belonging to the taxation periods of 2022.
Standard corporatetaxrate for financial sector is increased to 25% starting fromthe declarations as of July 1, 2022
and to be valid for the taxation periods of 2022 according to the Law numbered 7394 published in the Official
Gazette No. 31810 dated April 15, 2022

Corporate taxrate business income taxin accordance with the laws of the institutions to be added as unacceptable
the reduction of costs in the taxlaws, exemptions and reductions to thetaxbase foundas a result of the reduction
that will be applied. Additional taxis not payable unless the profit is distributed.

Dividends paid to non-resident corporations, which havea place of business in Turkey or to resident corporations
are not subject towithholding tax Otherwise, dividends paid are subjectto withholding taxat the rate of 15%. An
increase in capital via issuing bonus shares is not considered as profit distribution and no withholding taxincurs
in such acase.

Corporations are required to pay advance corporate tax quarterly on their corporate income. Advance tax is
declared and paid by the 17th day of the second month following each calendar quarter end. Advancetaxpaid by
corporations for the current period is credited againsttheannual corporation taxcalculated ontheannual corporate
income in the following year. Despite the offset, if there is temporary prepaid taxremaining, this balance can be
refunded orusedto offset any other financial liabilities to the government.

A 75% portion of the capital gains derived fromthe sale of equity investments and 50% portion of the capital gains
derived fromimmovable properties held for at least two years is taxexempt, if such gains are added to paid-in
capitalorheld in a special account under shareholder’s equity for five years.

Under the Turkish Corporate Tax Law, losses can be carried forward to offset against future taxable income for
up to five years. Losses cannotbe carried back to offset profits fromprevious periods.

Taxreturns are required to befilled and deliveredto the related taxoffice until the last evening of the fourth month
following the balance sheet date and the accrued taxis paid same day. Tax returns are open for 5 years from the
beginning ofthe yearfollowing the balance sheet date and during this period the taxauthorities have the right to
audit taxreturns, andtherelated accounting records on which they are based, and may issue re-assessments based
ontheirfindings.

Non-monetary items on the financial statements must have been restated for inflation according to the repeated
article 298/A of Tax Procedure Law. In law numbered 7352 published on 29 January 2022 in the Official Gazette
numbered 31734, 2021 and 2022 accounting periods includingadvance taxperiods are deemed as the periods in
which the requirements for inflation adjustment are not met.

Deferredtax:

The Bank calculates and accounts for deferred income taxes for temporary differences arising between the tax
basesofassetsand liabilities and their carryingamounts in these financial statements in accordancewith ~ “TAS
—12 Income Taxes” and in accordance with BRSA’s explanations and circulars and thetaxlegislation. The Bank
calculates deferred taxon deductible temporary differences, to the extent that future taxable income is estimated
to be available. In thedeferred taxcalculation, the enacted taxrate is used as of the balance sheetdate by estimating
when the temporary differences will be taxable / deductible in accordance with the current taxlegislation.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognizedforall resulting temporary differences whereas deferred taxassets resulting
from temporary differences are recognized to the extent that future taxable profit will be available againstwhich
the deferred taxasset can be utilized.

The calculated deferred taxasset and deferred taxliability are presented as net in these financial statements.

Tax effects ofthe transactions that are directly accounted under equity are also reflected to equity.
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Transfer pricing:

The article no.13 of the Corporate Tax Law N0.5520 describes the issue of transfer pricing under the title of
“disguised profit distribution” by way of transfer pricing (previously included as “Disguised profit” in the
Corporate Tax Law No0.5422). “The General Communiqué on Disguised Profit Distribution by Way of Transfer
Pricing” published at November 18, 2007/26704, explains the application related issues on this topic effective
from January 1, 2007, also taking into accountthe regulations in Article 41 of the Income Tax Law.

“Arm’s length principle”, which is the basis for the transfer pricing rule, is the pricing systemto be followed for
purchase or sale activities between related parties for any product or service transactions as if the transaction is
realized with any other third party. According to this communiqué, if the taxpayers conduct transactions like
purchase and sale of goods or services with the related parties where the prices are not determined according to
the arm’s length principle, thenit will be concluded that there is a disguised profit distribution by way of transfer
pricing. Such disguised profit distributions willnot be deducted fromthe corporate taxbase fortaxpurposes.

As discussed in therelevantsection of this communiqué, the taxpayers are required to fill out the “Transfer Pricing,
Controlled Foreign Entities and Thin Capitalization” formfor the purchase and sale of goods or services conducted
with their related parties in a taxation period, attach these forms to their corporate taxreturns and s ubmit to the tax
offices.

Explanations on borrowings:

The financial liabilities classified at fair value through profit/loss, trading and derivative financial liabilities are
valued with their fair values and the other financial liabilities are carried at “amortized cost” including costs of
transactions using the “effective interest method”.

Bank, classified its part ofthe financial debts as fair value through profit / loss on financial liabilities. Difference
between fair value ofthe debt and amortized cost of the debt together with the interest expense paid on financial
instrument is presented as trading gain and losses in the accompanying financial statements.

The Bank utilises various hedging techniques to minimise the currency, interest rate and liqu idity risks of its
financial liabilities. No convertible bonds have been issued by the Bank.

Also,the Bank obtains funds by issuing bonds and bills.
Explanations on issuanceof share certificates:

When shares are issued above their nominal value, the excess over the nominal value is accounted under
shareholders’ equity as “Share premium”.

Explanations on avalized drafts and letter of acceptances:

Avalized drafts and acceptances are included in the “Off-balance sheet commitments”.
Explanations on government grants:

None (December 31, 2021 - None).

Profitreserves andprofit distribution:

Retained earnings as per the statutory financial statements other than legal reserves are available for distribution,
subject to the legal reserve requirement referred to below. Legal reserves consist of first and second reserves as
foreseen inthe TCC. The TCC specifies that thefirst legal reserve is appropriated at the rate 0f5% until the total
reserve is equal to 20% of paid-in capital and that the second legal reserve is appropriated at the rate of 10% of
distributions in excess of 5% of paid-in capital; however holding companies are not subject to this application.
Accordingtothe Turkish Commercial Code, legal reserves canonly be used to compensate for accumulat ed losses
and cannot be used for other purposes unless they exceed 50% of paid-in capital.

No dividend payments were announced after the balance sheetdate.
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Earnings per share:

Earnings per share disclosed in the income statement are calculated by dividing net profit/(loss) for the year to
the weightedaveragenumber of shares outstanding during the period concerned.

CurrentPeriod Prior Period
Net Income/(loss) to be appropriated to ordinary shareholders 52.744.689 10.489.758
Weighted average number of issued ordinary shares(thousand) 844.705.128 844.705.128
Earnings per share (full TL) 0,0624 0,0124

In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“bonus shares”)
to existing shareholders fromretained earnings. These bonus shares are treated as issued shares in earnings per
share computations. Forthe purpose of earnings per share computations, the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the year is adjusted in respect of bonus shares issued without a corresponding change in
resources by giving thema retroactive effect. In case bonus shares are distributed after the balance sheet date but
before the preparation ofthe financial statements, earnings per share is calculated considering the new number of
shares.

No bonus shares were issued during 2022 (2021 — None).
Related parties:

For the purpose of these financial statements, shareholders having control shares of the Bank, key managenent
personnel and board members together with their families and companies controlled by/affiliated with them
associated companies and joint ventures and the Fund providing post employment benefits are considered and
referred to as related parties in accordance with “TAS — 24 Related Parties”. The transactions with related parties
are disclosed in detail in Note 7 of Section Five.

Explanations on operating segments:

Information aboutoperating segments which are determined in line with “TFRS — 8 Operating Segments” together
with organizational and internal reporting structure of the Bank, are disclosed in Note 12 of Section Four.

Explanations on other matters:

None.
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Section Four - Information related to financial position of the Bank
Explanations on equity:

The calculation of the own funds and the capital adequacy standard ratio are performed in accordance with the
communiqués such as “Regulation Regarding the Measurement and Evaluation of Banks’ Capital Adequacy
Ratio”, “Regulation Credit Risk Mitigation Techniques”, “Regulation on calculation of Risk-Weighted Amounts
of Securitizations” and “Regulation Regarding Banks’ Shareholders’ Equity”. The capital adequacy ratio of the
Bank is 21,34% (December 31, 2021 - 18,67%).

Information on equity:

Current Period Prior Period
[COMMON EQUITY TIER1 CAPITAL
Paid-up Capital 8.447.051 8.447.051
Share issue premiums 556.937 556.937
Retained earnings 42.723.270 34.213.005
JAccumulated other comprehersive income and other disclosed reserves which definedin the Turkish Accounting Standards 29.994.706 14.708.689
Profit 52.744.689 10.489.758
Net profit of the period 52.744.689 10.489.758
Profit of the previous years - -
Shares acquired free of charge from subsidiaries, affiliates and jointly controlled partnershipsand cannot ke recognised within profi
for the period 26.745 25.382
[Common Equity Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments 134.493.398 68.440.822
[Common Equity Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments
Prudential valuation adjustments 105.861 89.872
[The sum of the netloss for the current period and the previous yearswhich could nat be absorbed by the retained earnings and losses
recognised in equity inaccordance with TAS 8.237.008 4.956.644
Improvemernt costs for operating leasing 202.143 131.078
Goodwill (net of related tax liability ) - 979.493
Other intangibles ather than mortgage-servicing rights (netof related tax liability) 1.059.469 910.108
Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability excluding thase arising from temporary differences (ret of related tax liahility ) - -
Cash-flow hedge reserve 5.116.918 2.328.663
Shortfall of provisionsto expected losses - -
Securitization gainon sale - -
Gains and losses due tochangesin own credit risk on fair valued liabilities - -
Defined-berefit pension fund net asets - -
Investments in own shares - -
Credits extended contrary to the fourth paragraph of Articles 56 of the Banking Law - -
Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entitiesthat are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, ret of
eligible short positiors, where the bank doesnot own more than 10% of the issued share capital (amount above 10% threshold)
Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entitiesthat are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, ret of
eligible short positions, where the bank owns more than 10% of the issued share capital (amount above 10% threshold)
Mortgage servicing rights (amournt above 10% threshold) - -
Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences (amourt above 10% threshold, net of related tax liability) - -
JAmount exceeding the 15% threshold (-) of the common equity Tier 1 in accordance with the second paragraph of the provisional
article 2 in the regulation regarding the Banks’ Shareholders” Equity - -
The amount above threshold for the investments in the capital of banking, firancial and insurance entities that are outside the scope
of regulatory consolidation, net of eligible short positions where the bank owns more than 10% of the issued share capital - -
The amount above threshold for mortgage servicing rights
The amount above threshold for deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences - -
National specific regulatory adjusments which shall be determined by the BRSA
Regulatory adjustments applied to Common Equity Tier 1 due to irsufficient Additioral Tier 1 and Tier 2to cover deductions - -
Total regulatory adjustments to Common equity Tier 1 14.721.399 9.395.858
[Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CETY) 119.771.999 59.044.964
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JADDITIONAL TIER 1CAPITAL

Current Period

Prior Period

Prefemred sharesthat are not included in Common Equity Tier 1 capital and related shares issue premiums

Eligible capitalinstruments and relevant share isste premiums that are approved by the BRSA

Eligible capital instruments and relevart share issue premiumsthat are approved by the BRSA (For the purposes of the Provisional
Article 4 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds)

12.153.895

8.435.375

|Additional Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments

12.153.895

8.435.375

|Additional Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments

Investments in own Additioral Tier 1 irstruments
Reciprocal cross-holdings in Additioral Tier 1 instruments
Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outsice the scope of regulatory consolidation, et of

eligible short positions, where the bank does not own mare than 10% of the issued common share capital of the entity (amount
above 10% threshold)

Significant investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulaory
consolidation (net of eligible short positiors)

National specific regulatory adjusments which shall be determined by the BRSA

Regulatory Adjustmentswhich will be deducted from Tier 1 capital during the transition period

Goodwill and other intangible assetsand related deferred tax liahilities which will nat deducted from Common Equity Tier 1 capiel
for the purposes of the first sub-paragraph of the Provisional Atticle 2 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds (-)

Net deferred tax asset/liability which is nat deducted from Common Equity Tier 1 capital for the purposes of the sub-paragraph of
the Provisional Article 2 of the Regulation on Banks® Own Funds ()

Regulatory adjustments applied to Additional Tier 1 due to insufficient Tier 2 to cover deductions

Total regulatory adjustments to Additional Tier 1 capital

[Total Additional Tier 1capital

12.153.895

8.435.375

[Total Tier 1 capital (Tier 1capital = Common Equity Tier 1 capital + Additional Tier 1 capital)

131.925.894

67.480.339

TIER 2 CAPITAL

Eligible capitalinstruments and relevant share isste premiums that are approved by the Agency

Eligible capital instrumentsand relevantshare issue premiums that are approved by the Agency (For the purpaoses of the Provisional
Article 4 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds)

Provisions (Article 8 of the Regulation on the Equity of Banks)

10.149.150

4.706.545

9.507.903

3.000.710

Tier 2 capital before regulatory adjustments

14.855.69

12.508.613

Tier 2 capital: regulatory adjustments

Direct and indirect investments of the Bank on its own Tier 2 Capital (-)

Investments of the Bank to banks that invest onthe Bank's Tier 2 and comporerts of equity issted by financial institutionsw ih te
conditions declared in Atticle 8

Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, ret of
eligible short positions, where the bank does not own more than 10% of the issued common share capital of the entity (amount
above the 10% threshold) (-)

Significant invesgmerts in the capital banking, finarcial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation
(net of eligible short pasitions) (-)

National specific requlatory adjusments which shall be determined by the BRSA

Total regulatory adjustments to Tier 2 capital

Total Tier 2 capital

14.855.695

12.508.613

[Total Capital (The sum of Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital)

146.718.108

79.912.127

[ The Sum of Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 Capital (Total Capital)

Credits extended contrary to the provisiors of Articles 50and 51 of the Banking Law

Portion of the sum of the banks’ real estate net book values, which is in excess of fifty per cent of their own funds and net book
values of those of merchandise and real estate which have to be acquired due to their receivables and disposed of pursiant ©
Article 57 of the Banking Law, which cannot be disposed of despite the lapse of a period of five years since the date of such

acquisition®
National specific requlatory adjusments which shall be determined by the BRSA

12.111

51.370

41.724

35.101

Regulatory Adjustmentswhich will be deducted from Total Capital during the transition period

Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, net of
eligible short positions, where the bank does not own mare than 10% of the issued common share capital of the entity (amount
above the 10% threshold) which will not deducted from Common Equity Tier 1 capital, Additional Tier 1 capital, Tier 2 capiel
for the purposes of the first sub-paragraph of the Provisional Atticle 2 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds (-)

Significant investmenrts inthe Additional Tier 1 capitaland Tier 2 capital of banking, financial and insurance ertities that are outide
the scope of regulatory consolidation, retof eligible short pasitions (amountabove 10% threshold) which will not deducted from
Common Equity Tier 1 capital, Additional Tier 1 capital, Tier 2 capital for the purposes of the first sub-paragraph of te
Provisional Article 2 of the Regulation on Banks” Own Funds (-)

Significant investments in the comman stock of banking, financial and insurance entitiesthat are outside the scope of regulaiory
consolidation, net of eligible short positiong anount above 10% threshold), mortgage servicingrights (amount above 10%
threshold), deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences (amount above 10% threshold, net of related tax liabiliy)
which will notdeducted from Common Equity Tier 1 capital for the purposes of the first sub-paragraph of the Provisional Artick
2 of the Regulation on Banks” Own Funds ()
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[OWN FUNDS Current Period  Prior Period
Total Capital (The sumofTier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital) 146.225920 79.407.743
[Total Risk Weighted Assets ¥ 685.344.296 425.334.230
CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS
ICommon Equity Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 17,48 13,88
Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 19,25 15,87
Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 21,34 18,67
BUFFERS -
Institution specific buffer requirement ofthe Bank (a+b+c) 2,518 2,523
a) Capital conservation buffer requirement (%) 2,500 2,500
b) Bank’s specific countercyclical buffer requirement (%) 0,018 0,023

c) Systemically important Bank buffer (%) - -
The ratio of Additional Common Equity Tier 1 capital which will be calculated by the first paragraph ofthe Atticle 4

of Regulation on Capital Conservation and Countercyclical Capital buffers to Risk Weighted Assets (%) 12,976 9,382
JAmounts below the thresholds for deduction (before risk weighting)
Non-significant investments in the capital of other financials 422947 317.593
Significantinvestments in the common stock of financials 2871962  2.050.744
Mortgage servicing rights (net ofrelated tax liability) - -
Deferred tax assets arising fromtemporary differences (net of related tax liability) 9.320.787 5.514.747
IApplicable capsonthe inclusion of provisionsin Tier 2 capital
General provisions for standard based receivables (before ten thousand twenty five limitation) 2.646.079 1.946.844
Up to 1,25% oftotal risk-weighted amount of general provisions for receivables where the standard approach used 1.007.136 789.760
Excess amount of total provision amountto credit risk Amount ofthe Internal Ratings Based Approach in accordance

with the Communiqué on the Calculation 11511.242 11.706.259
Excess amount oftotal provision amount to 0,6% ofrisk weighted receivables of credit risk Amount ofthe Intemal

Ratings Based A pproach in accordance with the Communiqué on the Calculation 3.699.409  2.210.950

(1)  Accordingtothe “Regulation Regarding to changes on Regulation on Banks” Sharcholders’ Equity” published in Official GazetteN0.30121 onJuly 11,
2017, related article has been abolished.
) In the calculation ofcredit risk amount, spot purchase rates announced as of December 31,2021 by Central Bank are used in acco rdance with thein

accordance with the legislation of BRSA numbered 10188 dated April 28, 2022.
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1.2. Details on Subordinated Liabilities:

1 2 3 4 5 6
Lender (1,2), Issuer (3,4,5) UNICREDIT SPA UNICREDIT SPA Yapi ve Kredi Bankast A.S. Yapt ve Kredi Bankasi A.S. Yapi ve Kredi Bankast A.S. Yapi ve Kredi Bankasi A.S.
Uniaue identifi CUSIP. 1SN or Bloombera identifier for pri | 'XS2286436451/ XS1867595750/ TRSYKBK62914 TRSYKBK92911
nique identifier (eg 3 or Bloomberg identifier for private placement) R . USIB4848ANI2 US98484BALSS

Governing law(s) of the instrument

BRSA / Austria Law

BRSA / Austria Law

English Law /Turkish Law

English Law /Turkish Law

BRSA /CMB / Turkish Law

BRSA /CMB / Turkish Law

Regulatory treatment

Transitional Basel 111 rules No No No No No No
Eligible at stand-alone / consolidated Stand-alone -Ct idated Stand-alone —Consolidated Stand-alone -Consolidated Stand-alone -Consolidated Stand-alone -Cor d Stand-alone -Consolidated
Instrument type (types to be specified by each jurisdiction) Loan Loan Bond Bond Bond Bond
Amount recognised in regulatory capital (Currency in mil, as of most recent reporting date) - - 9.349 12.154 500 300
Par value of instrument 10.939 5.049 9.349 12.154 500 300
Liability Liability Liability Liability Liability Liability

Accounting classification

Subordinated Loans-
amortised cost

Subordinated Loans-
amortised cost

Subordinated Loans-
amortised cost

Subordinated Loans-
amortised cost

Subordinated Loans-
amortised cost

Subordinated Loans-
amortised cost

Original date of issuance January 9, 2013 December 18, 2013 January 22, 2021 January 15, 2019 July 3, 2019 October 3, 2019
Perpetual or dated Dated Dated Dated Perpetual Dated Dated
Original maturity date 10 years 10 years 10 years - 10 years 10 years
Issuer call subject to prior supervisory approval Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Optional call date, contingent call dates and redemption amount After 5th year After 5th year 5 years Every 5 years After 5th year After 5th year
Subsequent call dates, if applicable After 5th year After 5th year - - After 5th year After 5th year
Coupons / dividends

Fixed or floating dividend/coupon Fixed Fixed Fixed Fixed Variable Variable

First 5 years 7,875% fixed, second First 5 years 13,875% fixed, second 5 years TLREF index change + 1,93% TLREF index change + 1,30%
Coupon rate and any related index 57% First 5 years 6,55% fixed, second 5 years | ¢ years U.S. five year treasury bond MidSwap+11,245% fixed

7,7156% fixed

rate +741.50 basis points

Existence of a dividend stopper

No interest accrue after the date of
value decrease for the decreasedamaurt

No interest accrue after the date of value
decrease for the decreased amount

No interest accrue after the date of
value decrease for the decreased
amount

No interest accrue after the date of
value decrease for the decreased
amount

No interest accrue after the date of
value decrease for the decreased
amount

No interest accrue after the date of
value decrease for the decreased
amount

Fully discretionary, partially discretionary or mandatory

Optional

Mandatory

Existence of step up or other incentive © redeem

Mandatory

Mandatory

Noncumulative or cumulative

Noncumulative

Noncumulative

Noncumulative

Noncumulative

Noncumulative

Noncumulative

Convertibl

e or non-convertible

If convertible, conversion trigger (s)

If convertible, fully or partialy

If convertible, conversion rate

If convertible, mandatory or optional conversion

If convertible, specify instrument type convertible into

If convertible, specify issuer of instrument it converts into

Write-down feature

If write-down, write-down trigger(s)

In case of default

In case of default/ Common Equity Tier 1
capital adequacy ratioof the bank falk below

In case there is a possibility that the official
authorization of the Bank is cancelled or the

In case there is a possibility tha the official
authorization of the Bank is cancelled or the

- - 5.125% Bank shares are transferred to SDIF Bank shares are transferred to SDIF
If write-down, full or partial - - Partial and complete Partial and complete Partial and complete Partial and complete
If write-down, permanent or temporary - - Permanent Temporary Permanent Permanent

If temporary write-down, description of write-up mechanism

In case of cancellation of default Common
Equity Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio of the bak
is higher than 5.125%

Position in subordination hierarchy in liquidation (specify instrument type immediately
senior to instrument)

After the senior creditors,
before the TIER 1 subdebt,
same with TIER 2

After the senior creditors,
before the TIER 1 subdebt,
same with TIER 2

After the senior creditors,
before the TIER 1 subdebt,
same with TIER 2

After the senior creditors,
and the TIER 1

After the senior creditors, before the TIER 1
subdebt, same with TIER 2

After the senior creditors, before the TIER 1
subdebt, same with TIER 2

In compliance with article number 7and 8 of “Own fund regulation™

No

No

No

No

No

No

Details of incompliances with article number7 and 8 of “Own fund regulation”
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There are differences between the figures in the own funds and their corresponding amounts in the balance sheet.
Within this context; in the calculation of own funds, the losses and gains that are related to cash flow hedge
transactions are not considered in the own funds andthe prudential valuation adjustments calculated in accordance
with the (i) itemof'the first paragraphin the ninth article of the “Regulation Regarding Banks’ Shareholders’ Equity”
are considered in the own funds. In addition, the subordinated liabilities are considered after the adjustments made
in accordance with the ninth paragraph ofthe eighth article and in the provisional fourth article ofthe “Regulation
Regarding Banks’ Shareholders’ Equity™.

Exposures subjectto countercyclical capital buffer

The exposures subject to countercyclical capital buffer table prepared in accordance with the communiqué
“Regulation on Capital Conservation and Countercyclical Capital buffers of Banks” published in the Official
Gazette no. 28812 dated November 5, 2013 is presented below:

Private sector receivables:

RW As of Banking
Book for Private RW As of
Country Sector Lending Trading Book Total
Turkey 559.475.678 - 559.475.678
Malta 2.091.711 - 2.091.711
Netherland 1.509.512 - 1.509.512
England 1.170.862 - 1.170.862
Marshall Islands 685.585 - 685.585
Germany 275.336 - 275.336
Republic of Maldives 269.491 - 269.491
Italy 172.312 - 172.312
Jordan 144,796 - 144,796
France 120.715 - 120.715
Kazakhistan 94.418 - 94.418
Other 647.873 - 647.873
Total 566.658.289 - 566.658.289

Explanations on CreditRisk:

As of June 30, 2021, the Bank has started to calculate its credit risk, which is subject to the regulatory capital
adequacy ratio reporting, with the Internal Rating-Based (IRB) approach. Foundation IRBapproach is used for the
corporate exposure class and advanced IRB approach is used for the retail exposure class as determined by
"Regulationon Measurement and Assessmentof Capital Adequacy Ratios of Banks™.

Credit risk is the loss orthe risk of the Bank in case counterparty cannot fulfill its obligations stated in agreenents
where the Bankis ata side. The Bank identifies loan limits for each customer considering statutory regulations, the
internal scoring system, financial analysis reports geographical and industry concentration and considering credit
policies determined by Board of the Directors each year. The limits defined by the Bank’s Board of Directors for
each correspondent bank are followed-up daily by Treasury Management for the transactions related with
placements with domestic and correspondentbanks or treasury operations such as forward buy and sell transactions.
Moreover, daily positions and limit controls of each dealer at Treasury departmentwho is authorized for transactions
in the market are performed by the system. During the loan granting process, liquid collaterals are preferred to the
greatest extent possible. Collaterals and guarantees must be obtained during credit underwriting based on credit
worthiness, customers’ financial status, and credit type.While granting of long termproject finance loans, long term
projections of the companies are analyzed both by financial analysis specialists and head office. Alsothe pricing of
these commitments are decided by coordinationwith Treasury Management.

The Bankalso monitors limitations on single borrowerand group of borrowers in accordance with the regulations.

Rating system used for Medium Sized Entities (ME), Small and Medium Sized Entities (SME) and
Corporate/Commercial customers is also used for defining the authorization level for loan granting. Thus, custorners
with a low rating are assigned to higher authority levels, whereas customers with a high rating are assigned to lower
authority levels. By using this methodology it is aimed to establish risk based optimization in the loan processes.
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Probability of default of a customer is calculated through this internally developed rating system. The rating
concentrationof Corporate, Commercial, ME and SME customers ofthe Bankis as follows:

CurrentPeriod Prior Period
\Aboveaverage 43,6% 36,6%
/Average 40,7% 45,9%
Below average 15,7% 17,5%

The Banktakes following criterias into consideration for the identification of default:

»  Theloan is overdue more than 90 days.

»  Theborroweris notable to payat leastoneofthe loans he received fromthe Bank (cross default)
» Having anegative intelligenceand bad-record for the borrower in the market.

»  Deterioration of the creditworthiness of the borrower

The Bank sets aside expected credit loss provisions in accordance with the Provisioning Regulation within the
scope of “provisions”and “valueadjustments”.

Total amount of exposures after offsetting transactions but before applying credit risk mitigations and the
average exposure amounts that are classified in different risk groups and types, are disclosed belowfor the
relevant period:

Risk Classifications: C;’?S'I?r:lgj ;Ito g riskAa\rﬁgig:t o)
Exposures to central governments or central banks 342.399.986 291.710.151
Exposures to banks and financial institutions 95.655.351 81.648.401
Corporate exposures - Other 218.777.388 192.248.287
Specialised Lending 81.472.963 77.093.691
Corporate exposures - SME 88.192.701 72.967.321
Retail Exposures - Other 122.240.001 93.784.067
Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving 104.475.988 69.628.296
Retail exposures - SME 102.617.255 89.419.612
Investments in equities 17.847.741 15.476.994
Other Items 57.251.381 37.682.228
Total 1.230.930.755 1.021.659.048

(1) Includes credit riskamounts of total exposure before applying credit risk mitigations
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The Bankhas control limits over the positions of forwards, options and similar agreements. These positions are
measured and managed by following their market values and by taking potential risk into considerations
throughout their maturities, in accordance with Counterparty Credit Risk management. Limits are also calculated
and dynamically managed by taking these potential risks into considerations. Daily market value calculations,
limit controls, collateral assessments are performed and reported to the relevant departments within the Bank.

The Bankmay use its rights, as stated in the derivative agreements based on which the Bankrealizes derivative
transactions, in order to eliminate the risks that may arise due tobeing exposed tosevere risk levels arising from
fluctuations in the market.

In line with the Provisioning Regulation, if the cash risk ofa customer is classified as nonperforming, the non-
cashriskis also classified as nonperforming under the same group where the cash risks were already followed
and specific provision is reserved.

Restructured loans are also classified and followed upaccording to the regulation on provisions considering the
Bank’s credit risk policies. Accordingly, the financial position and commercial operations ofrelated customers
are monitored, their principal and interest payments are followed up with the restructured repayment schedule
and the necessary precautions are taken.

Banking activities in foreign countries and credit transactions are subject to periodical follow-up in terms of the
economic conditions of the related country and the evaluation of the creditworthiness of the customers and
financial institutions. No material credit risk have been observedin scope ofthese operations.

Regarding credit risk;

» The proportion of the Bank’s top 100 and 200 cash loan balances in total cash loans is 24% and 28%
(December 31, 2021 - 32% and 38%).

» The proportion of the Bank’s top 100 and 200 non-cash loan balances in total non-cash loans is 38% and
50% (December 31, 2021 - 45% and 57%).

» The proportion of the Bank’s cash and non-cash loan balances with the first 100 and 200 customers comprises
of 28% and 34% oftotal cash loans and non-cash loans (December 31, 2021 - 36% and 44%).

The Bank provided a generic loan loss provision amounting to TL 22.758.216 (December 31, 2021 - TL
17.222.220).

-37-



2.7

(Convenience translation of publicly announced unconsolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish, seein note 1. of section three)

Yam ve Kredi Bankas1 AS.

Notes to unconsolidatedfinancial statements as of December 31,2022

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“ TL”))

Risk profile according tothe geographical concentration:

Risk Classifications @

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Total
Current Period
Domestic 341.393.138 39.102.952 212.176.987 79.856.457 87.566.760 122.088.416 104.264.047 102.613.680 104.858 57.251.381 1.146.418.676
EU countries 979.524 35.672.079 5.368.754 944.898 347.979 66.283 104.885 1.255 - - 43.485.657
OECD countries © - 1.442.268 84.472 - 21.380 5.545 9.733 1.039 - - 1.564.437
Off-shore banking regions - - 642.324 - 29.656 853 922 17 - - 673.772
USA, Canada 27.324 17.499.126 46.916 - - 21.084 22.568 600 276.654 - 17.894.272
Other countries - 1.938.926 457.935 671.608 226.926 57.820 73.833 664 - - 3.427.712
Investment and associates, stbsidiaries and joint ventures - - - - - - - - 17.466.229 - 17.466.229
Undistributed Assets / Liakilities ) - - - - - - - - - B -
Total 342.399.986 95.655.351 218.777.388 81.472.963 88.192.701 122.240.001 104.475.988 102.617.255 17.847.741 57.251.381 1.230.930.755

(1) Risk classifications in the "Regulation on Measurement and Evaluation of Capital Adequacy of Banks" isused.

1- Exposures to central govemments or central banks
2- Exposures to banks and finarcial institutions

3- Corporate exposures - Other

4- Specialised Lending

5- Corporate exposures —SME

6- Retail Exposures - Other

7- Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving

8- Retail exposures —SME

9- Investments in equities

10- Other Items

(2) Includes credit risk amounts of total exposure before applying credit risk mitigations.
(3) OECD Countries other than EU countries, USA and Canada.
(4) Assets and liabilities are not allocated on a consistent basis
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Risk Classifications M@

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Total
Prior Period
Domestic 242.757.185 17.806.415 133.018.900 61.115.813 59.603.654 68.276.751 45.038.626 72.097.492 249.507 22.091.850 722.056.193
EU countries 666.709 32.587.844 2.786.588 828.579 521.729 44.126 44.629 5.708 - - 37.485.912
OECD countries © - 1.749.082 82.136 - 672 4.524 4.895 13 - - 1.841.322
Off-shore banking regions - - 553.794 50.124 29.652 322 298 - - - 634.190
USA, Canada 16.849 16.730.978 1571 - - 11.303 10.814 238 183.367 - 16.955.120
Other countries - 278.710 241.067 481.690 439.127 42.334 34.086 951 - - 1.517.965
Investment and associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures - - - - - - - - 12.259.949 - 12.259.949
Undistributed Assets / Liabilities ) - - - - - - . R - R .
Total 243.440.743 69.153.029 136.684.056 62.476.206 60.594.834 68.379.360 45.133.348 72.104.402 12.692.823 22.091.850 792.750.651

(1) Risk classifications in the "Regulation on Measurement and Evaluation of Capital Adequacy of Banks" isused.

@
(
@

1- Exposures to central govemments or central banks
2- Exposures to banks and financial institutions

3- Corporate exposures - Other

4- Specialised Lending

5- Corporate exposures —SME

6- Retail Exposures - Other

7- Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving

8- Retail exposures —SME

9- Investments in equities

10- Other Items

) Includes credit risk amounts of total exposure before applying credit risk mitigations.
3) OECD Countries other than EU countries, USA and Canada.
) Assets and liabilities are not allocated on a consistent basis
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Risk profile according tosectors and counterparties:

Riskclassifications X2

1 Z 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 TL FC Total

Agricultural 1.269 - 4.172.335 - 2.709.128 - - 4.445.159 - - 10.099.001 1.228.890 11.327.891
Farming and raising livesock 1.269 - 3.164.021 - 2.486.117 - - 3.841.556 - - 8.819.453 673.510 9.492.963
Forestry - - 561.216 - 206.210 - - 548.995 - - 1.094.044 222.377 1.316.421
Fishing - - 447.098 - 16.801 - - 54.608 - - 185.504 333.003 518.507
Manufacturing 37.259 - 147.708.122 47.004.855 39.435.536 - - 50.883.671 1.870 - 186.953.346 98.117.967 285.071.313
Mining - - 284.557 - 648.083 - - 230.863 - - 878.724 284.779 1.163.503
Production 32.223 - 133.840.368  2.069.91€ 35.210.296 - - 49.932.541 1.870 - 162.973.858 58.113.358 221.087.216
Electric, gas and water 5.036 - 13.583.197 44.934.937 3.577.157 - - 720.267 - - 23.100.764 39.719.830 62.820.594
Construction 28 - 10.137.684 12.469.941 16.179.142 - - 12.403.738 - - 29.285.757 21.904.776 51.190.533
Services 342.361.430 87.933.297 54.227.912 21.998.167 29.630.749 - - 34.532.179 15.500.955 46.423.493 380.533.391 252.074.791 632.608.182
Wholesale andretail trade 3 - 13.130.065  8.320.49C  7.641.650 - - 14.329.461 - - 30.468.640 12.953.029 43.421.669

Hotel, food and beverage services 74 - 5.584.146 226.985 8.178.084 - - 3.899.105 - - 9.272.956 8.615.438 17.888.394
Transportation and telecommunication - - 7.597.189  6.006.17¢  3.935.207 - - 5.025.045 5.000 - 11.781.775 10.786.845 22.568.620
Financial institutions 339.290.620 87.928.836 14.019.755 - 1.784.508 - - 1.070.138 15.440.595 46.423.493 300.359.503 205.598.442 505.957.945

Real estate and rentingservices - - 2.797.623  6.783.65C 2.361.884 - - 1.807.528 51.676 - 7.283.287 6.519.074 13.802.361
Self-employment services - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Education services 1.374 - 590.471 - 790.798 - - 305.873 - - 1.632.934 55.582 1.688.516
Health and ocial services 3.069.359 4.461 10.508.663 660.862  4.938.618 - - 8.095.029 3.684 - 19.734.296 7.546.381 27.280.677

Other - 7.722.054 2.531.335 - 238.146 122.240.001  104.475.988 352.508 2.344.916 10.827.888 239.910.862 10.821.974 250.732.836
Total 342.399.986 95.655.351 218.777.388  81.472.963 88.192.701 122.240.001  104.475.988 102.617.255 17.847.741 57.251.381 846.782.357 384.148.398 1.230.930.755

(1) Risk classifications in the “Regulation on Measurement and Evaluation of Capital Adequacy of Banks" isused.
(2) Includes credit risk amounts of total exposure before applying credit risk mitigations.

1- Exposures to central govemments or central banks
2- Exposures to banks and financial institutions

3- Corporate exposures —Other

4- Specialised Lending

5- Corporate exposures —SME

5- Retail Exposures — Other

7- Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving

3- Retail exposures —SME

9- Investments in equities

10-Other Items
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Risk profile according to remaining maturities:

Risk classifications? 1 month 1-3 months 3-6 months 6-12 months 1 year and over Total
Exposurestocentra|qovernnEmg or central banks 118.390.866 1.133.929 6.640.304 8.831.366 202.245.070 337.241.535
Exposuresto banks and financial institutions 33.202.053 17.666.896 11.694.852 5.654.008 12.542.069 80.759.878
Corporate exposures - Other 189.275.431 3.705.953 3.788.039 7.083.938 14.850.499 218.703.860
Specialised Lending 79.851.952 - - - 1621011 81.472.963
Corporate exposures - SME 79.146.943 26.185 93.728 175491 8.590.511 88.032.858
Retail Exposures - Other 85.050.137 866.037 33.990 163.487 26.670.809 112.784.460
Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving 104.475.988 - - - - 104.475.988
Retail exposures - SME 93.266.240 80.167 29.980 294281 7.162.405 100.833.073
Investments in equities - - - - - -
Other Items 147481 - - - - 147.481
Total 782.807.091 23.479.167 22.280.893 22.202.571 273.682.374 1.124.452.09%

(1) Includes creditrisk amounts oftotal exposure before applying credit risk mitigations.

Risk balances according torisk weights:

Totalexposure amountbefore and after applying risk mitigation techniques and total amounts deducted fromthe capital which are calculated in accordance with the Appendix-
1 of the “Regulation on Measurement and A ssessment of Capital Adequacy Ratios of Banks” are present ed below:

Deductions

Risk Weights fromthe
shareholders’

0%-20% 20%-35% 35%-50% 50%-75%  75%-100% 100%-250% 250% 1250% Total equity

1 Total exposure before credit risk mitigation 453.195.358 95.226.116 68.570.721  179.238549  124.013091  301.084.013 9.602.907 - 1.230.930.755 1.325.093
2 Total exposure after credit risk mitigation 439.393.79% 93.239.706 68.647.202  176.641467 122110361  297.363.248 9.602.907 - 1.206.998685 1.325.093
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Information according to sectors andcounterparties :

For loans which are classified as impaired loans due to delay of collection of principal or interest by 90 days and
above and/or negative risk assessments of creditworthiness of the debtor; “Specific Provision” is set aside in the

accompanying financial statements as of 31 December 2022.

For loans which are classified as past due but not impaired loans due to delay of collection of principal or interest
up to 90 days; “General Provision”is set aside in the accompanying financial statements as of 31 December 2022.

Sectors and Counterparties | Loans Provisions
Impaired (TFRS9)
Significant increase in
credit risk (stage 2) Credit Impaired(stage 3) Expected Credit Losses
Agricultural 218.113 279.052 267.155
Farming and raising livestock 205.298 216.931 233.727
Forestry 11.475 14.425 13.270
Fishing 1.340 47.696 20.158
Manufacturing 44.294.343 9.921.730 16.310.458
Mining 231.761 30.752 32.041
Production 6.769.835 4.789.738 4.203.036
Electric, gasand water 37.292.747 5.101.240 12.075.381
Construction 7.200.702 2.493.553 3.197.094
Manufacturing 23.310.279 3.792.595 7.124.848
Wholesale and retail trade 1.109.927 609.754 595.437
Hotel, food and beverageservices 3.281.781 977.745 963.283
Transportation and telecommunication 4.006.265 511.616 1.158.164
Financial institutions 731.382 666.307 390.295
Real estate and renting services 6.864.056 808.234 2.798.101
Education services 27.246 11.127 12.238
Health and social services 7.289.622 207.812 1.207.330
Other 12.249.877 5.677.647 5.918.983
Total 87.273.314 22.164.577 32.818.538

Information about value adjustments and changes in the loan impairment:

Provisionamounts

Opening set aside during Reversal of Other.
balance the period provisions adjustments(l) Closing balance
1 Specific provisions 14.567.648 10.177.612 (3.083.077) (4.781.752) 16.880.431
2 General provisions (Value adjustments) 17.222.220 5.535.996 - - 22.758.216

(1) Thefigure representswrite-off s and also includes NPL sales amounts.
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Explanations on Risk Management:
General Information on Risk Managementand Risk Weighted Amount
Risk Management Approach of The Bank

Risk managementstrategy of the Bank ensures using the capital at an optimumleveland provide sustainable growth
in this framework through measurement of risks in accordance with international standards and local regulations
and taking risk-return balance into consideration in the framework of sustainable growth. Risk management
approach of the Bank is based on strong risk management techniques of ISEDES (Evaluation Process of Intemal
Capital Adequacy) and prospective planning and capital evaluation depending uponrisk profile.

A prospective capital planning approach is adopted for the Bank to carry out its operations if certain losses are
incurred as a result of unexpected events or deteriorations in markets. The best international practices are utilized
for the determination, measurement, analysis and control of risks. The process regarding identification of risks and
determination of appropriate measurement method has a dynamic structure in which the risk management is
improved through inspiring fromadvanced international practices and analyses updated in line with its business
evolution. A risk appetite framework integrated to budget process, has beendeveloped in orderto carry outrelated
activities at an optimum level while reaching predefined budget target of the Bank and therefore an appropriated
risk positions are ensured tobe taken.

Risk appetite, asanintegral part of the main pillarand a crucial instrument of the Bank Management, is implemented
in orderto ensure the execution of Bank’s activities in an ideal manner through taking appropriate risk positions at
an acceptable level of risk. Risk appetite, is integrated to management and budget processes of the Bank with
performance indicators which are sensitive torisk.

Risk appetite indicators, targets, limits and critical thresholds are determined by the Executive Committee with the
joint recommendation of Compliance, Internal Control and Risk Management and Financial Planning and
Administration Management. Possible changes which may occur in economic conditions are taken into
considerationduring the determination of aforementioned limits and thresholds.

Determined risk appetite indicators consists of capital adequacy, liquidity, assets quality, financial risk and
operational risk ratios of the Bank and senior management ensures the Bank to carry out its activities in the range
of such targets and critical thresholds. Senior managementshould be informed to take emergency precautions if the
critical thresholds are exceeded. Monitoring and periodical reporting to senior management is performed by the
related units in orderto implement risk appetite framework.

The Bank implements internal policies and procedures that are audited and approved at least once a year by the
Board of Directors in order to manage market risks arising from on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet liabilities.
Based ontheprinciples mentioned in Regulatory Authority’s directives and best practice guidelines, internal policies
determine responsibilities and practitioners for identification, measurement, monitoring and reporting of the risks
in line with the risk appetite and needs ofthe Bank; lay the groundwork for granting limits in the Bank; and guide
the actionsto be takenin caseof riskappetiteis exceeded.

The Credit Policy Directive, which reflects the general framework of Bank’s credit allocation activities, is updated
minimum annually and implemented with the approval of the Board of Directors. Credit Policy Directive is based
on improving assetquality, supporting effective risk managementand compliance with legal practices. In addition,
it includes managementoflendingactivities according to the Bank’s common standards, limitations and principles.
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The main purpose of the credit risk management is to identify, measure and mitigate credit risk, react in a timely
manner and take necessary actions with the help of efficient and well-functioning rating/scoring models, strategies
and processes. The main strategies include topics like effective implementation of the Credit Policy Directive to
reinforce the sustainability of common risk management approach, steering of the loan portfolio toward less risky
sectors, avoidance of excessive concentration in Group exposures while strictly obeying statutory limits, focus on
customers with better credit ratings, avoidance of transactions bearing high credit and reputational risk, managing
countryrisk in line with established strategy, policy and rules, timely updates to senior management about all
developments in credit risk area to ensure effective credit risk management, performing credit stress tests and
participatingin credit risk regulatory processes.

Risk Management reports to Board of Directors in organisation structure via Audit Committee. Risk Management
organisation is divided into “Market Risk Management”, “Credit Risk Strategy, Modelling and Reporting
Management” and “Risk Validation” units.

In the process of market risk management, related business and risk units performtheir activities within the scope
of the principles determined by internal policies such as the Financial Markets Policy, Liquidity Policy, Liquidity
Risk Limit Management Policy, Liquidity Emergency Policy, Interest Rate Risk Policy, Interest Rate Risk Limit
ManagementPolicy, Hedge Policy, Financial Investment Risk Policy, Immovables Risk Policy, Derivatives Policy,
Independent Price Verification Policy, Policy due to inclusion on Financial assets where fair value change is
reflected to income statement, Market Risk Stres Test Policy.

Value at Risk, Basis Point Value (interest rate sensitivity), and Credit Basis Point Value (credit spread sensitivity)
are risk metrics calculated via internal models and used in measurement of market risks. Risk measures are
monitored at product, portfolio and account (Financial assets where fair value change is reflected to incone
statement and Financial assets where fair value change is reflected to other comprehensive income statement) basis.
Performance of internal models is measured by backtesting of the model’s outputs. In addition, transaction limits
are used at specific products.

Liquidity Risk measurement methods; consists of both short term risk metrics such as Liquidity Coverage Ratio,
Short TermLiquidity, Intraday Liquidity, and Early Warning Indicators and long-term risk metrics such as the Net
Stable Funding Ratio and the funding concentration structure. With various scenario analyzes aimed at stressing the
liquidity, it is examined how the possible deterioration scenarios thatcan be observed in the parameters of the market
or institution-specific or both cases affectthe liquidity position of the Bank.

Measurements performed via internal models in the context of market risk management are reported to the Banks
Top Management, Treasury, Financial Reporting and Credit Monitoring Units (for the Counterparty Credit Risk
process) on adaily basis andto the Board of Directors and Executive Committee on a monthly basis.

Stress tests, provide a prospective point of view during risk management , budget and capital planning processes
throughreviewingthe impact of events or changes in markets, which have a low possibility to occur under normal
conditions but may result in losses to Bankin case they occur. The Bank performs stress tests to measure impacts
of temporary or continuous deteriorations in market risk factors on income statement and to make capital plans.
Scenarios, having basis, mediumand high stress levels, aimto measure impacts of adverse conditions across the
country on the economic value of the Bank throughrisk factors. Other important risk elements such as Fixed Assets
held by the Bank and financial investment risks faced through its subsidiaries, as well as price movements, are
reviewed during stress test processes as well.

Stress test studies are made with the active participationof senior management and impact of the stress test to the
generalrisk profile of the Bank is reported. Senior managementparticipates in establishing o f'stress test’s scenario,
analyzing of its results, through determination of the scope and approach of the scenario, guidance of required
directions and review of results and recommendation of action plans. Stress scenarios, up-to-date estimations and
crisis scenarios are prepared by Research and Analytics Department.

The Bankreduces market risk exposure withinscope of its commercial activities through derivative instruments and
makes an effort to control impacts of the risks on capital through hedge accounting implementation. It holds foreign
exchange positions to manage residual positions as a result of banking activities through performing a conservative
approachto exchange riskand manages its end of day positions at a minimum level.
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For the detection and mitigation of risks, Operational and Reputational Risk Management defines policies and
strategies and determines, reports and monitors actions to reduce potential operational and reputational risks via loss
data, key risk indicators, scenario analysis and risk assessments. Operational Risk Management Policy and
Reputational Risk Policy is updatedevery yearandapproved by the Board of Directors.

Business Continuity Management Policy aims at reducing the risks that may endanger the continuity of Banks
operations to a minimum level and ensuring critical product and services in case of unexpected events in an
acceptable period. Bank's resilience against unexpected events is increased through the Crisis Communication Plan,
Emergency Response Plan, Business Recovery Plan and Crisis Communication Plan. Business Continuity Policy
and Plans are regularly updated and approved by the Board of Directors.

Risk validation management is an independent team that reports directly to the Assistant General Manager of
Compliance, Internal Control and Risk Management, and is responsible for the controls of all models, data and
processes carried out within the framework of risk management. Validation studies include not only statistical
practices, but also compliance with the legal regulations and in-bank policies. The risk validation teamconsists of
three units. These units are regulatory risk validation, strategic risk validation and rating models validation tearrs.
Within the scope of legal risk validation, mainly IRB models, IFRS 9 and credit risk validation in the second
structural pilliar are performed. In the frame of strategic risk validation, strategy validation, managerial modek,
market risk and other risk types as part of the second structural pillar are validated.Validation of rating modek
inclueds validation activities of marketing models, macroeconomic forecasting models, project financing models
and operational risk models.

3.12. Owerview of Risk Weighted Assets

Risk Weighted Assets Minimum Capital
Requirements
Current Period Prior Period Current Period
1 Credit risk (excluding counterparty credit risk (CCR) ® 610.626.631 369.831.219 48.850.130
2 Of which standardised approach (SA) 52.707.788 38.983.014 4.216.623
3 Of which internal rating-based (IRB) approach 557.918.843 307.443.458 44.633.507
4 Counterparty credit risk 13.234.018 11.310.348 1.058.721
5 Of which standardised approach for counterparty credit risk (SA-CCR) 13.234.018 11.310.348 1.058.721
6 Of which internal model method (IMM) - - -
7 Equity positions in banking book under market-based approach - - -
8 Equity investments in funds — look-through approach 14.748 3.117 1.180
9 Equity investments in funds — mandate-based approach - - -
10 Equity investments in funds — fall-back approach - -
11 Settlement risk - 8
12 Securitisation exposures in banking book - -
13 Of which IRB ratings-based approach (RBA)
14 Of which IRB Supervisory Formula Approach (SFA)
15 Of which SA/simplified supervisory formula approach (SSFA) - - -
16 Marlet risk 13.715.305 6.080.358 1.097.224
17 Of which standardised approach (SA) 13.715.305 6.080.358 1.097.224
18 Of which internal model approaches (IMM) - - -
19 Operational risk 42.578.789 34.598.266 3.406.303
20 Of which Basic Indicator Approach 42.578.789 34.598.266 3.406.303
21 Of which Standardised Approach - - -
22 Of which Advanced Measurement Approach - - -
23 Amounts below the thresholds for deduction (subject to 250% riskweight) 5.174.805 3.510.914 413.984
24 Floor adjustment - - -
TOTAL (1+4+7+8+9+10+11+12+16+19+23+24) 685.344.296 425.334.230 54.827.542

(1) Forthe prior period, inthe context of transition to IRB regulation, there is a value adjustment amounting to TL 23.404.747.
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Linkages between financial statements and risk amounts

3.2.1. Differences and matching between asset and liabilities’ carrying values in financial s tatements and risk amounts in capital adequacy calculation

Carrying values of items in accordance with TAS

Carrying values in financial Subjectto  Subject to the Not subject to capital

statements prepared as per  Subject to credit counterparty  Securitisation Subject to requirements or subject to
Current Period TAS risk credit risk framework market risk deduction from capital
Assets
Financial Assets (Net) 269.783.597 251.307.678 26.422.662 - 9.206.416 -
Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost (Net) 733.352.728 768.887.154 30.158.530 - - 63.481
Assets Held For Resale And Related To Discontinued Operations (Net) 1.035.873 1.035.873 - - - -
Investment in Subsidiaries, Associates, Joint VVentures 20.848.457 20.848.457 - - - -
Property And Equipment (Net) 9.846.677 9.644.534 - - - 202.143
Intangible Assets (Net) 1.206.951 147.482 - - - 1.059.469
Tax Asset 5.146.976 5.146.976 - - - -
Other Assets 66.872.334 54.733.871 - - - -
TOTALASSETS 1.108.093.593 1.111.752.025 56.581.192 - 9.206.416 1.325.093
Liabilities
Deposits 672.765.318 - - - - 672.765.318
Borrowings 70.048.420 - - - - 70.048.420
Money Markets 35.514.486 - 25.648.224 - - 9.866.262
Marketable Securities Issued (Net) 40.540.324 - - - - 40.540.324
Financial Liabilities Measured at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 37.239.659 - - - - 37.239.659
Derivative Financial Liabilities 13.774.007 - - - 8.239.776 13.774.007
Lease Payables (Net) 1.855.391 - - - - 1.855.391
Provisions 11.084.141 - - - - 11.084.141
Tax Liability 5.598.484 - - - - 5.598.484
Subordinated Debts 39.388.232 - - - - 39.388.232
Other Liabilities 54.028.741 - - - - 54.028.741
Shareholder’s Equity 126.256.390 - - - - 126.256.390
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1.108.093.593 - 25.648.224 - 8.239.776 1.082.445.369
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Carrying values of items in accordance with TAS

Carrying values in financial Subjectto  Subject to the Not subject to capital

statements prepared as per ~ Subject to credit counterparty  Securitisation Subject to requirements or subject to|
Prior Period TAS risk credit risk framework market risk deduction from capita
Assets
Financial Assets (Net) 201.127.450 177.366.849 35.988.280 - 8.501.785 -
Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost (Net) 469.423.312 498.303.322 38.973.799 - - 76.825
Assets Held For Resale And Related To Discontinued Operations (Net) 1.327.210 1.327.210 - - - -
Investment in Subsidiaries, Associates, Joint VVentures 15.207.109 15.207.109 - - - -
Property And Equipment (Net) 4.851.380 4.720.302 - - - 131.078
Intangible Assets (Net) 2.001.661 112.060 - - - 1.889.601
Tax Asset 3.484.572 3.484.572 - - - -
Other Assets 39.347.072 39.671.914 - - - -
TOTALASSETS 736.769.766 740.193.338 74.962.079 - 8.501.785 2.097.504
Liabilities
Deposits 401.095.416 - - - - 401.095.416
Borrowings 61.124.168 - - - - 61.124.168
Money Markets 52.908.277 - 47.919.291 - - 4.988.986
Marketable Securities Issued (Net) 34.253.742 - - - - 34.253.742
Financial Liabilities Measured at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 25.794.232 - - - - 25.794.232
Derivative Financial Liabilities 18.032.048 - 6.058.125 - 7.294.512 11.973.923
Lease Payables (Net) 1.306.217 - - - - 1.306.217
Provisions 5.826.499 - - - - 5.826.499
Tax Liability 2.877.865 - - - - 2.877.865
Subordinated Debts 39.441.999 - - - - 39.441.999
Other Liabilities 30.625.125 - - - - 30.625.125
Shareholder’s Equity 63.484.178 - - - - 63.484.178
TOTALLTABILITIES 736.769.766 - 53.977.416 - 7.294.512 682.792.350
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Main sources of differences between regulatory exposureamounts andcarrying values in financial statements

Subject To Subject To
Current Period Subject To  Subject to the Counterparty Market
Total Credit Risk  Securitisation Credit Risk Risk
1 Asset carrying value amount under scope of regulatory
Consolidation (As note 3.2.1 of Section 4) 1.177.539.633 1.111.752.025 - 56.581.192  9.206.416
2 Liabilities carrying value amount under regulatory scope of
consolidation 33.888.000 - - 25.648.224  8.239.776
3 Total net amountunder regulatory scope of consolidation 1.143.651.633 1.111.752.025 - 30.932.968 966.640
4 OffBalance Sheet Amounts 551.922.907  204.754.583 - - -
5 Differences in valuations - - - -
6 Differences due to different netting rules, other than those
already included in row 2 - - - -
7 Differences due to consideration of provisions - - - -
8 Differences Resulted from the BRSA’s Applications (134.154.013) - (6.139.265) 12.748.665
9  Diflerences due to risk reduction (147.613) - - -
Risk Amounts 1.182.204.982 - 24.793.703  13.715.305
Subject To  Subject To
Prior Period Subject To Subject to the Counterparty Market
Total Credit Risk Securitisation  Credit Risk Risk
1 Asset carrying value amount under scope of regulatory
Consolidation (As note 3.2.1 of Section 4) 823.657.202  740.193.338 - 74962079  8.501.785
2 Liabilities carrying value amount under regulatory scope of
consolidation 61.271.928 - - 53.977.416 7.294.512
3 Total net amountunder regulatory scope of consolidation  762.385.274 740.193.338 - 20.984.663 1.207.273
4 OffBalance Sheet Amounts 306.995.814 113.316.827 - 2.818.314 -
5  Diferences invaluations - - - -
6  Diflerences due to diflerent netting rules, other than those
already included in row 2 - - - -
7  Diferences due to consideration of provisions - - - R
8  Diffrences Resulted from the BRSA’s Applications (129.759.336) - (1.765.701) 4.873.085
9  Differences due to risk reduction (78.023) - (1.770.322) -
Risk Amounts 723.672.806 - 20.266.954 6.080.358

Explanations of differences between accounting and regulatory exposure amounts

There is no difference betweenamounts reported in the financial statements and valuated in accordance with TAS
and amounts valuated in accordance with TAS in scope of legal consolidation.

Bank’s financial instruments subject to fair value measurementare valued using Mark-to-Market or Mark-to- Model
approachbased ontheir product types. Implementation of valuation methodologies is carried outin accordance with
the "Fair Value Measurement" policies in line with the prudent valuation principles set out in the annex of the
Directive on Measurement and Assessment of Banks' Capital Adequacy. The Bank uses market prices for bonds
and futures contracts traded in organized markets, while it often uses platforms generating Mark-to- Model value
for derivative transactions traded in OTC markets. Mark-to-Market or Mark-to-Model valuations are made on a
daily basis sothatchanges in the market can be reflected in the Bank's financials with thesame frequency.

The Independent Price Control process (IPV) is designed to draw the errors or deviations that may occur in the
valuations to theminimum level, to calculate the correct profit / loss andrisk, through verification, comparison and
approval of market prices and model inputs regularly with independent and different sources. The purpose of the
IPV is to ensure that the data used for bank valuations are generated on a daily basis froma highly representative,
adequately liquid and accurate instruments. All these processes have a clear, integrated and complementary
approachthat is in line with the objectives of the Bank.

Prices quoted in active markets for securities and derivative transactions are used to record the fair value of an
instrument, but quoted prices are generally not available in active markets. Appropriate valuation techniques are
used for financial instruments that are not traded in the market but the estimated fair value is adjusted through
valuation techniques of the market participant's estimation of similar asset or liability price. Such adjustments are
categorized close out cost, market liquidity, modelriskand credit valuation adjustments.
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Close out Cost adjustment reflects the amount which would be incurred to arrive at an appropriate ask/liquidation
price (financial instruments whichare assets at valuation date) or bid/unwind price (financial instruments which are
liabilities at valuationdate) for financial instruments valued at mid -market prices.

Market liquidity adjustmentis calculated to reflect the amount which would be incurred to close out the position
when liquidity is notsufficient. Whenthere is not any tradeable price onliquid two way market, a liquidity discount
is applied for pricing.

Modelrisk; reflects the risk stemming fromdeficiencies in model. Complexity of the model, being market standard
and capability to incorporate all known risk factors determine the necessity/applicability of model risk adjustments.

Credit Value Adjustment (CVA), is defined as market value of counterparty credit risk (CCR), which arises from
the possibility of a counterparty’s default and considered in regulatory capital adequacy calculations for all CCR
exposures.

Explanations on CreditRisk

3.3.1. General information on creditrisk

3.3.1.1. General qualitative information on creditrisk

Credit Policy is prepared to be well-structured in line with the BRSA loan managementguidebook.

Credit policy is revised at least once a year, approved by Board of Directors, announced within the bank and
implemented in accordance with theappropriate procedures in banks.During the review of credit policies, economic
conjuncture, the bank’s capital adequacy ratio and amendments in related regulation are taken into consideration.
Key elements such as target markets, portfolio structureand concentration, large exposures, credit limit applications,
approval authorities are determined in the credit policies. In the policies,key messages are provided based on
principles of prudence,continuity aboutthe customer's credit worthiness, specific sectors, segments and products for
growth in accordance with thedefined credit strategies.

Credit Risk Management Section is established to manage the credit risk of the Bank by determining, measuring,
monitoring, evaluatingand reporting the risks. In order to improve theasset quality of the Bank, the main roles and
responsibilities ofthe sectionare composed of performing periodical analyses on credit portfolio trend, calculating
credit risk cost based on segments and executing compliance activities between risk management practices with
Basel requirements.

Credit risk management consists of two sub-units: credit risk strategies and operational risk management and credit
risk planning, modeling and reporting management.

Credit risk strategies and operational risk management is responsible for developing underwriting, monitoring,
collection and workout strategies and following the actions taken in accordance with the Bank's risk appetite in
terms of credit risk. The unit takes an active role in the development o f these strategies by conducting risk analysis,
determining the rulesto be usedin decisiontrees, putting theminto practice through decision supportsystems, and
running the flow smoothly. The unit is also responsible for definition of the operational and reputational risk
policies, implementation of measurement, monitoring and reporting systems, identification of the key risk
indicators, and performance of scenario analyses. The unit carries out the activities regarding Basel compliance,
operational risk models setting and development, operational risk weighted asset calculation and risk based
insurance activities. The unit is responsible for the studies on Information Systems risk inventory, coordination of
the SupportServices Risk Management Programand setting up the relevant monitoring systems and managernent,
as well as developmentofthe Business Continuity ManagementPolicy and Plans and continuous updating of these
policy and plans. The unit also ensures theactions taken under business contiunity and the coordinationand control
of Business Continuity Management projects and budget.
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Credit Risk Planning, Modeling and Reporting Management is responsible for preparation of credit risk budgeting
and credit risk reporting activities of the Bank, calculation of loan loss provisions; identification of the Credit Policy
according to risk appetite of the Bank, implementation of the policy throughout the Banks and its subsidiaries,
support toallunits in the Bank for the related topics. The units establishes a common risk culture on group basis and
performs process analyses of credit and risk management functions in subsidiaries to ensure standard risk
management practices and establishes action plans for the standardization of all gaps within the group. The unit
prepares reports forassessment of credit riskand for the preparation of various and comprehensive concentrations
and forecasts on assetquality trends for the Bank, performs necessary calculations to measure the risk profile of the
bank and ensures that the country riskis identified.The unit is also responsible for taking part in the model
development processes of PD, EAD, LGD models which are in the scope of IRB communique (issued by BRSA —
using internal rating based approach for credit risk calculations) and giving opinions as the ultimate authority,
supervising the rating systems, monitoring the performance, analysing the results regularly, ensuring the proper
functioning of the rating systems, leading the studies for the areas that need improvement and the deficiencies
identified, informing the BRSA aboutthe changes made in the rating systems and the relevant units within the Bank,
evaluating model use test, ensuring dissemination of the models in the bank internal processes within the scope
requested by the BRSA and monitoring the projects carried outin the Bank within the scope of Basel for commercial
customers. This business unit is also responsible for taking partin the developmentprocesses of operational modek
used in underwriting, monitoring, collection, etc. processes and monitoring their performance.

ISEDES report is prepared in accordance with the related guide of BRSA and submitted tothe approval of the
Board of Directors. The reportmainly includes the Bank’s approach for the review of risks and capital in orderto
preservecapitaladequacy of the Bankwith respect toits current and future activities and information on
management structure and applied approaches.

Regularsupervisionand controls are performed to ensure that credit process is carried out in compliance with the
Bank credit policies and procedures, loans are extended in accordance with principles and procedures determined
by the Board of Directors and loans are reported properly with the information of maturity, quantity and qualification
to top management.

Activities carried out by units within scope of internal systems are employed as a tool to define weak points
regarding the credit risk management process, policy and procedures and to determine the transactions that are not
compliant with limits, policy and procedures.

Issues that are observed during the examinations is being regularly reported to top management and Audit
Committee consideringimportance level.

Summary of the activities of units within the scope of internal systems are effectively utilized by the management
and actionsare taken in order to prevent repetition of weaknesses and conflicts regarding credit management.
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3.3.1.2. Credit quality of assets

Gross carrying values of as per TAS
Current Period Defaulted exposures  Non-defaulted exposures Allowances/ impairment Net values
1 Loans 20.733.112 585.381.215 35.667.156 570.447.171
2 Debt Securities - 242.265.589 557.197 241.708.392
3 Offbalance sheet exposures 1.431.465 502.388.582 2.222.157 501.597.890
Total 22.164.577 1.330.035.386 38.446.510 1.313.753.453
Gross carrying values of as per TAS
Prior Period Defaulted exposures Non-defaulted exposures Allowances/ impairment Net values
1 Loans 18.885.802 388.115.686 29.233.396 377.768.092
2 Debt Securities - 127.418.012 293.305 127.124.707
3 Offbalance sheet exposures 1.138.170 282.122.389 1.717.775 281.542.784
Total 20.023.972 797.656.087 31.244.476 786.435.583
3.3.1.3. Changes instock of defaulted loans and debt securities
Current Prior
Period Period
1 Defaulted Toans and debt securities at the end of the previous reporting period 20.023.972 19.784.137
2 Loans and debt securities that have defaulted since the last reporting period 11.517.943 4.718.667
3 Returned to non-defaulted status (-) 106.767 95.924
4 Amounts written off (-) 4.781.752 1.035.078
5  Other changes (4.488.819) (3.347.830)
Defaulted Toans and debt securities at the end of the reporting period (1+2-3-45) 22.164.577 20.023.972

3.3.14. Additional disclosure relatedto the creditquality of assets

According to the BRSA Regulation “Regulation on the procedures and principles for the determination of
qualification of loans and other receivables by Banks and provisionto be set aside”in the cases:

»  Forwhich recovery of principal or interest or both delays for more than ninety days from their terms or due

dates or;

»  Which havelimited means for total recovery because debtors’ equity or guarantees extended by themare found
inadequate to cover payment of debts on respective terms and are likely to lead to losses in case any such

problems observedare notsolved or;

»  For which debtors have suffered deterioration in their creditworthiness and credits have suffered weakness

consequently or;

»  Forwhich itis believed thatrecovery by banks of principal or interest or bothwould delay for more than ninety
days fromtheir terms or due dates due to reasons such as problems encountered by debtors over operating

capital financing or additional liquidity creation,

loans and receivables are classified as ‘non performing loans* and are transferred to non performing loan accounts.
Within thescope of the same regulation, these loans are setaside for the expected credit loss according to the intemal

models developed by the Bank.

In accordance with the regulation; in the event that failure to meet payment obligations towards banks stems from
temporary liquidity difficulties related to the loans and other receivables as part ofthe principles of classification,
loans and other receivables includingany overdue interest may be restructured or subject toa new redemption plan
for the purpose of providing debtors with liquidity capability and ensuring recovery of receivables by bank.

3.3.14.1. Exposures provisioned againstby major regions®

Current Period Prior Period
Domestic 793.276.693 538.193.051
USA, Canada 483.313 145.214
European Union (EU) Countries 12.408.341 10.111.379
OECD Countries 1.520.692 1.552.753
Off-Shore Banking Regions 720 294
Other Countries 4.436.686 3.057.582
Total 812.126.445 553.060.273

(1) Breakdown ofcash, non-cash and non-performing loans with respect to geographical regions are provided.
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3.3.14.2. Exposures provisioned againstby major sectors®

Current Period Prior Period

Agricultural 13.118.301 7.109.491
Farming and raising livestock 10.369.931 5.604.063
Forestry 2.143.008 1.011.842
Fishing 605.362 493.586
Manufacturing 347.990.660 237.069.140
Mining and Quarrying 1.909.269 1.519.479
Production 271.740.275 168.442.598
Electricity, Gas, Water 74.341.116 67.107.063
Construction 81.032.270 57.441.909
Services 192.199.592 121.915.214
Wholesale and retail trade 48.424.277 26.328.449
Hotel, food and beverage services 18.376.984 14.001.903
Transportation and telecommunication 30.123.807 23.119.568
Financial institutions 43.957.384 25.186.008

Real estate and leasing services 14.896.658 11.508.305
Education services 1.722.336 813.548
Health and social services 34.698.146 20.957.433
Other 177.785.622 129.524.519
Total 812.126.445 553.060.273

(1) Breakdown ofcash loans, non-cash loans and non-performing loans by sectors

3.3.14.3. Receivables according to remaining maturities:

Receivables according to remaining maturities are explained Note 7 of Section 4.

3.3.14.4. Exposures provisioned against by major sectors:

Information on the amountof receivables and provisions provided for on the sector basis are disclosed in Note 2 of

Section 4.
3.3.14.5. Exposures provisioned againstby major regions :

The distribution of the specific provisions is predominantly domestic and a provision amounting to TL 20.533.781
(December 31, 2021- TL 16.929.727) has been set aside for the riskat an amount of TL 15.668.894 (December 31,

2021- TL 13.554.453)

3.3.14.6. Aging analysis for overdue receivables

Overdue days count Current Period Prior Period
1-30 days 2.215.532 2.132.810
31-60 days 1.650.121 2.024.367
61-90 days 843.339 698.168
91-180 days - 138.443
Total 4.708.992 4.993.788

(L) Overdue receivables under close monitoring represent overdue of cash loans.

Loans under close monitoring amounting to TL 75.378.960 (December 31, 2021 — TL 61.152.843) are not

overdue.

3.3.14.7. Breakdown of restructuredreceivables basedon whether or not provisions are allocated:

Provisions are recognized forall non-performing loans in accordance with Provisioning Regulation.

Credit Class Current Period Prior Period

Loans restructured from Loans and other receivables under close monitoring 50.232.044 37.973.369
Loans restructured from Loans under legal follow-up 5.170.167 3.082.113
Total 55.402.211 41.055.482
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3.3.14.8. Informations related to expected creditlosses for loans:

Current Period Stagel Stage2 Stage3 Total
Beginning of the period 3.082.442  12.433.108 13.717.846 29.233.396
Additions 2.065.190 4.423.280 9.897.668 16.386.138
Disposals 1.575.876 3.787.625 4.593.670 9.957.171
Sold (-) - - 1.672.492 1.672.492
Write offs - - 3.109.260 3.109.260
Transfer to stage 1 312.126 (312.032) 94) -
Transfr to stage 2 (18.152) 112.363 (94.211) -
Transfer to stage 3 (5) (1.636.524) 1.636.529 -
Foreign currency diflerences 664.589 4.121.956 - 4.786.545
End of the period 4.530.314  15.354.526 15.782.316 35.667.156
Prior Period Stagel Stage2 Stage3 Total
Beginning of the period 2.618.000 8.128.374 13.051.949 23.798.323
Additions 1.294.785 1.868.734 3.885.173 7.048.692
Disposals 1.221.284 1.848.988 2.391.956 5.462.228
Sold (-) - - - -
Write offs - - 1.035.078 1.035.078
Transfer to stage 1 604.487 (568.581) (35.906) -
Transfer to stage 2 (723.439) 911.611 (188.172) -
Transfer to stage 3 (68.745) (363.091) 431.836 -
Foreign currency diflerences 578.638 4.305.049 - 4.883.687
End of the period 3.082.442  12.433.108 13.717.846 29.233.396

3.3.2. Credit risk mitigation
3.32.1. Qualitatiwe disclosureon credit risk mitigation techniques

The Bank employs on-balance sheet netting and/or general netting agreements for specific capital market
transactions for credit risk mitigation, with the condition of meeting the requirements of having implemented
corresponding systemsupported methods and processes and clear documentation of the required documents.

The Bankmay useassets and liabilities as an on balance sheet netting instrument consid ering themas cash collateral.

The capital requirements may be determined on the base of net exposure of assets and liabilities, if the following
conditions are met:

» The agreement should provide the Bank the authorization to monitor the receivable of the payee over a single
value after netting all payables and receivables even though there is no such indicator for the counterparty
showingbankruptcy or financial difficulty in accordance with the regulations of governments.

» The Bankis provided the authority of netting and monitoring the risk overasingle value even the counterparty is
notin bankruptcy case ofabankruptcy of one counterparty,the other counterparty should have the authority to
terminate all contracts under the agreement

» Theagreementshould provide the facility to monitor thereceivable of the payee overasingle value after netting
all payables and receivables in case of the termination of all contracts

In the policies and procedures regarding the assessment and management of the collaterals as part of collateralized
lending, Credit risk mitigation techniques aims at:

> Determination of general and specific requirements for the improvementand optimization of collateral systens,
processes, strategies and procedures;

Valuation of collateral taking into considerationthe local regulations and procedures;

Provision of the soundness, legal enforceability and maintenance of ratable collateral based on a legal
framework;

Determination of the level of the collateral haircut taking the local conditions and the process of risk
management into consideration;

Regularmonitoring of the collateral value;

Differentiation between counterparty (economic) and country (political) risk aspects,

Mitigation of concentration risks, correlation risks and residual risks through recognition of collateral;
Improvement in the quality of strategic business and overall Bank management

Clear definition of Roles and Responsibilities

Determination of acceptable collaterals and collateral related conditions (list of collateral) / (non-parametric
condition list)

A\ 4
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In the calculations regarding credit risk mitigation, the Bank performs risk mitigation within the regulations setout
in the Credit Risk Mitigation Techniques Notification dated September 6, 2014 and numbered 29111 and uses a
comprehensive financial guarantee method for its financial collaterals. With the comprehensive financial collateral
method, the relevant volatility adjustments specified in the regulation made on the value of the financial collate raks
that are usedin calculating the capital requirements.

The credit policies establish an operational connection between Bank’s activities and its risk capacity and covers
the main business areas in accordance with target portfolio structure, risk targets regarding expected and unexpected
loss in line with risk capacity and limits relating to risk concentration. Limits are ensured to be compliant with
restrictions determined by related regulation and regulatory authorities. Bank uses an integrated approach in
concentration risk management, in which all risk concentrations are identified, monitored and evaluated. Therefore,
besidesthe loans to individuals and companies, also the concentrations of market, sector, country and segment are
being taken into consideration. Bank pays utmost attention to any concentration of the credit and market risks on a
specific counterparty orrisk classification in accordance with policies and internal procedures.

3.322.Credit risk mitigation techniques — overview

Collateralizd Collateralizd

Collateralized amount of amount of

Exposures amount of Exposures exposures Exposures exposures

unsecured: Exposures exposures secured by  secured by secured by secured by

carrying amount secured by secured by financial financial credit credit

Current Period as per TAS collateral collateral guarantees guarantees derivatives derivatives
Loans 512.212.727  58.234.444  42.737.061 4.073.740 3.442.226 - -
Debt securities 241.708.392 - - - - - -
Total 753.921.119  58.234.444  42.737.061 4.073.740 3.442.226 - -
Of which defaulted 3.450.990 1.499.806 663.375 435.944 305.249 - -
Collateralizd Collateralizd

Collateralized amount of amount of

Exposures amount of Exposures exposures Exposures exposures

unsecured: Exposures exposures secured by  secured by secured by secured by

carrying amount secured by secured by financial financial credit credit

Prior Period as per TAS collateral collateral guarantees guarantees derivatives derivatives
Loans 324.780.725  52.987.367  35.086.690 2.895.274 2.348.548 - -
Debt securities 127.124.707 - - - - - -
Total 451.905.432  52.987.367  35.086.690 2.895.274 2.348.548 - -
Of which defaulted 4.058.968 1.108.988 435.279 913.700 422.671 - -
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3.33. Credit risk under standardisedapproach

3.3.3.1. Qualitative disclosures on banks’ use of external credit ratings under the standardised approach for credit

risk

An international rating firm, Fitch Ratings’ external risk ratings are used to determine the risk weights of the risk
categories as perthe Article 6 of the "Regulation on Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy Ratios of
Banks". The international risk ratings are used for all the exposures to central governments/central banks, for
Financial Institutions, Corporations, Regional Governments, Administrative Bodies and for Multinational
DevelopmentBanks assetclasses of which the counterparty resides in foreign countries.

Bxposures to central governments and central banks which are not rated by Fitch Ratings are included in the
calculation of capital adequacy as unrated. Receivables fromresidents in Turkey are classified as unrated.

Fitch Ratings’ risk ratings as perthe credit quality grades and therisk weights according to exposure categories are

presented below:

Claims on banks and intermediary
institutions
Claims on
. administrative Contractual
. Claims on : Contractual : :
C.md't Fitch Ratings sovereigns and bodies and maturity of claims maturity of Claims on
Quality Grade Central Banks other non- under 3 months claims over 3 corporates
commercial months
undertakings
AAA
AA+
1 AA 0% 20% 20% 20% 20%
AA-
A+
2 A 20% 50% 20% 50% 50%
A-
BBB+
3 BBB 50% 100% 20% 50% 100%
BBB-
BB+
4 BB 100% 100% 50% 100% 100%
BB-
B+
5 B 100% 100% 50% 100% 150%
B-
CCC+
CCC
CCC-
6 cc 150% 150% 150% 150% 150%
C
D
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3.3.3.2. Standardised approach — Credit risk exposure andcredit risk mitigation (CRM) effects

Exposures before Exposures post
Current Period CCF and CRM CCF and CRM RWA and RWA density
On-balance
sheet ~ Off-balance  On-balance Off-balancee RWA

Asset classes amount sheet amount sheet amount  sheet amount RWA density
1 Exposures to central governments or

central banks 325.235.895 2.422 328.983.371 173.891 - -
2 Exposures to regional governments or

local authorities 208.510 20.512 208.510 10.256 109.383 50,00%
3 Exposures to public sector entities 1.497.583 716.706 1.497.526 253.137 1.750.663  100,00%
4 Exposures to multilateral development

banks 878.649 168.348 878.649 128.199 - :
5 Exposures to institutions 62.112.083 33.722.366 62.112.083 5.025.225 20.050.719 29,87%
6  Exposures to corporates 10.120.736 48.122.343 8.358.291 10.752.824 13.182.900 68,98%
7 Retail exposures 2.879.918 1.116.763 1.199.411 58.221 1.060.269 84,31%
8  Exposures secured by residential

property 79.237 1.043 79.237 359 29.104 36,56%
9 Exposures secured by commercial real

estate 15.297 1.383.382 15.297 691.681 363.028 51,35%
10 Past-due loans 103.168 - 1.665 - 926 55,62%
11 Higher-risk categories by the Agency

Board 445,944 4.243.498 242.091 13.226 382.976  150,00%
12 Exposures inthe form of collective

investment undertaking 31.895 - 31.895 - 14.749 46,24%
13 Investments in equities 17.847.741 - 17.847.741 - 20.952.624  117,40%
14 Other receivables . - - - - .

Total 421.456.656 89.497.383 421.455.767 17.107.019 57.897.341 13,20%

Exposures before Exposures post
Prior Period CCF and CRM CCF and CRM RWA and RWA density
On-balance
sheet  Off-balance  On-balance Off-balane RWA

Asset classes amount sheet amount sheet amount sheet amount RWA density
1 Exposures to central governments or

central banks 191.098.697 143 193.869.916 206.983 - -
2 Exposures to regional governments or

local authorities 466 - 466 - 93 19,96%
3 Exposures to public sector entities 20.625 126.271 20.111 53.965 74.076 100,00%
4 Exposures to multilateral development

banks 655.854 53.225 655.854 27.704 - -
5  Exposures to institutions 51.914.386 20.247.056 51.894.386 4.281.615 15.316.147 27,26%
6  Exposures to corporates 8.510.578 20.145.956 7.468.011 3.999.108 7.683.174 67,00%
7  Retail exposures 2.188.225 2.182.757 899.218 55.244 771.511 80,83%
8  Exposures secured by residential

property 12.175 664 12.175 316 4.372 35,00%
9 Exposures secured by commercial real

estate 4.199.024 336.667 4.179.730 168.328 3.478.505 80,00%
10 Past-due loans 148.631 1 1.036 - 667 64,38%
11 Higher-risk categories by the Agency

Board 502.949 3.000.607 227.116 21.844 366.012 147,02%
12 Exposures in the form of collective

investment undertaking 4.469 - 4.469 - 3.117 69,75%
13 Investments in equities 12.692.823 - 12.692.823 - 14.799.371 116,60%
14 Other receivables - - - - - -

Total 271.948.902 46.093.347  271.925.311 8.815.107  42.497.045 15,14%
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3.3.3.3. Standardised approach —exposures by assetclasses andrisk weights

Current Period
Total credit
risk exposure
amount (after
CCFand
Asset classes/ Risk weight 0% 10% 20% 35% 50% 75% 100% 150% 200% 250% 1250% CRM)
1 Exposures to central governments or central banks 329.157.262 - - - - - - - - - - 329.157.262
2 Exposures to regional governments or local authorities - - - - 218.766 - - - - - - 218.766
3 Exposures to public sector entities - - - - - - 1.750.663 - - - - 1.750.663
4 Exposures to multilateral development banks 1.006.848 - - - - - - - - - - 1.006.848
5 Exposures to institutions - - 45441435 - 21.466.882 - 228.991 - - - - 67.137.308
6 Exposures to corporates 330.804 - 668.282 - 10.125.570 - 7.986.459 - - - - 19.111.115
7 Retail exposures - - - - - 789.452 468.180 - - - - 1.257.632
8 Exposures secured by residential property - - - 76.481 - 3.115 - - - - - 79.596
9 Exposures secured by commercial real estate - - - - 685.271 5.267 16.440 - - - - 706.978
10 Past-due loans - - - - 1.473 - 192 - - - - 1.665
11 Higher-risk categories by the Agency Board - - - - - - - 255317 - - - 255.317
12 Investments made in collective investment companies 1.678 - 14.924 - 7.059 - 8.234 - - - - 31.895
13 Investmentsinequities - - - - - - 15.777.819 - - 2.069.922 - 17.847.741
14 Other receivables - - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 330.496.592 - 46.124.641 76.481 32.505.021 797.834 26.236.978  255.317 - 2.069.922 - 438.562.786

Prior Period

Total credit
risk exposure
amount (after
CCFand
Asset classes/ Risk weight 0% 10% 20% 35% 50% 75% 100% 150% 200% 250% 1250% CRM)
1 Exposures to central governments or central banks 194.076.899 - - - - - - - - - - 194.076.899
2 Exposures to regional governments or local authorities - - 466 - - - - - - - - 466
3 Exposures to public sector entities - - - - - - 74.076 - - - - 74.076
4 Exposures to multilateral development banks 683.558 - - - - - - - - - - 683.558
5 Exposures to institutions - - 42.846.150 - 13.165.867 - 163.984 - - - - 56.176.001
6 Exposures to corporates 330.804 - 654.445 - 5.859.169 - 4.622.701 - - - - 11.467.119
7 Retail exposures - - - - - 731.806 222.656 - - - - 954.462
8 Exposures secured by residential property - - - 12.491 - - - - - - - 12.491
9 Exposures secured by commercial real estate - - - - 1.735.003 8.207 2.604.848 - - - - 4.348.058
10 Past-due loans - - - - 738 - 298 - - - - 1.036
11 Higher-risk categories by the Agency Board - - - - 1503 - 11.851 235.606 - - - 248.960
12 Investments made in collective investment companies 327 - 664 - 990 - 2.488 - - - - 4.469
13 Investmentsinequities - - - - - - 11.288.457 - - 1.404.366 - 12.692.823
14 Other receivables - - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 195.091.588 - 43501.725 12491 20.763.270 740.013 18.991.359 235.606 - 1.404.366 - 280.740418
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3.3.34. Explanations on the use of IRB Models
In the development of internal models;

> Asthe owners ofthe probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default (EAD)
models used in capital adequacy calculations, credit risk control and modeling units (individual and
commercial) are responsible for the development and implementation processes of the models, also the
regular monitoring and updating of the models.

> Incaseofneed, advanced analytics unit is responsible for the development of the PD, LGD, EAD modek,

> Validation unit is responsible for performing the initial and periodic validation of the models and providing
the regular validationreport.

When the development of the models is completed and following the approval of the validation unit, they are
submitted to the approval of the credit committee and the Board of Directors. The models canbe got into useafter
the necessary approvals are obtained fromthe relevant committees.

Performance monitoring of the model, which has been developed and put into use, is carried out by the credit risk
controland modeling units and the validation unit. Performance monitoring of the models is carried outthrough the
credit risk controlunit report prepared quarterly by the credit risk controland modeling teams and annual periodic
validation studies. In addition, every month before the models are run, certification checks are carried out and the
accuracy ofthedatausedin the modelis confirmed.

Re-development, re-train or re-calibration of the models can be done according to the performance monitoring
results ofthe models in use.

In accordance with the IRB communiqué (issued by BRSA — using internal rating based approach for credit risk
calculations) as published in the Official Gazette dated 23 October 2015 numbered 29511, all IRB modek and
validation processes are audited annually by the Internal Audit Department. The scope of audits consists of three
main areas: governanceand validation, rating systems and quantification of risks and usage testing. Audit processes
include reviewing IRB models for compliance with all minimum requirements, as well as validation of models. In
this framework, initial, periodic, dataand process validationactivities are examined and validation findings are also
taken into account within the scope of relevant model audits.

Reports on credit riskmodels are prepared in order to explain the structure, process and performance of the rating
system, the areas that need improvement, the activities to complete the identified deficiencies, and to monitor the
credit risk. Commercial credit risk control and modeling and retail credit risk control and modeling units are
responsible for reporting. Therelated report includes therisk profile according to grades, migrations between grades,
comparison of the estimations of risk parameters and observed values, and analysis of the effectiveness of the
override process. Ifthere is a rating override for project finance loans in the relevant reporting period, the reasons
for the change are alsoincluded.

For the capital calculation, BRSA allowed the use of PD and EAD models in the corporate receivables class, the
PD, LGD and EAD models in the retail receivables class, and the use of theslotting method in project finance loans.

90% of the bank’s total risk weighted assets amount is calculated with the IRB approach. 7% of the total risk
weighted asssetsamount is in portfolios such as receivables fromcentral governments or financial institutions that
do not have an IRB approach permit. The corporate and commercial portfolio is under the Foundation IRB approach,
94% of which is calculated with the IRB approach. The retail portfolio is under the Advanced IRB approach and
99% of it is calculated with the IRB approach. The slotting approach is used forall project financerisks.
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There are application and behavior PD Models for both corporate and retail receivables classes. Application modek
are the models that work at the moment whena customer applies fora loan to the Bank. Behavioral models are run
at the end of each month for customers with limits orrisks in the bank (for the behaviorinsert, it is required to be
olderthan sixmonths in the individual portfolio and older than four months in the SME portfolio).

» Individual portfolio PD application models consist of five models thatwork separately foreach product in
case the customer makes their own application. Behavior PD model is a model that consists of nine different
segments.

> Individual portfolio EAD models are two models consisting of eight different segments that vary according
to the limit usage rate andriskamount for the customer's credit card and overdraft products. LGD models
are five models consisting of elevendifferentsegments in terms of riskamount breakdown by product.

» SME portfolio PD application model consists of six different segments, which vary according to the
customer's information suchas turnover, memzug and Credit Bureau (KKB) information, bank limit, and
customertype. A customer can be rated through only one of the sixsegments. The SMEbehavior model
consists of two different segments according to the customer's total bank limit amount (the customer can
be rated throughonly one of the two segments).

» Thesame modelis used forapplicationand behavior in the corporate/commercial portfolio PD calculation.
The model consists of four different segments that vary according to the customer's balance sheet type,
bank portfolio assignment and bank total limit. The customer can be rated through only one of these
segments.

» Corporate/commercial/SME portfolio EAD model consists of forty-seven different segments that vary
according to the portfolio, limit, risk, limit usage rate and limit gap information for the customers
commercial overdraft, commercial credit card, non-cash (check, letter of guarantee, letter of credi)
products. Fifteen of the forty-seven segments are for the corporate/commercial portfolio and thirty-two are
for the SME portfolio.

Bank’s PD models are developed using logistic regression. Atleastfive years of data are used while developing the
model in accordance with the articles specified in the communique. For the initial validation activities, out-of-
sample (OOS) and out-of-time (OOT) data is separated. As stated in the Communique, the PD of the bestgrade can
be at least 0,03%.

Due to the use of minimum five-year data during model development and the higher default rates during the model
development period compared to the current period, the calculated PD value especially for the individual portfolio
differs relatively fromthe observed DR.

The PD modelis used in underwriting strategies, provision calculations and economic capital calculations as well
as capital calculations.

Specialized loans can be defined as portfolios with low default rates. PD calculation is not made for specialized
loans, the classification method is used.

While developing the LGD model, the gross LGD approach was used. At least 5-7 years of data are used while
developing the model in accordance with the articles specified in the communique. For the initial validation
activities, out-of-sample (OOS) and out-of-time (OOT) data is separated. As stated in the communicue, it has been
ensuredthatthe LGD value of mortgage loansis at least 10%. The downturn period effect for the individual portfolio
is added as a conservatismmargin:

» Arandomsample is selected one thousandtimes, with the LGD values calculated for the performing and
default groups equal to thenumber of observations foreach product.

» In each sample, the average of LGD values forthe performing and default groups is calculated.

» LGD averages calculated in the previous step were ordered for all segments and groups, and the 75th
percentile was determinedas LGD with a conservatismmargin added.

» Inorderto reflect the effectof the downturn period, the 90th percentile was chosen after the LGD averages
were ranked forall segments and groups.
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For Commercial LGD model, the total collectionamountin thefirst year when the customers entered the liquidation
process was calculated and this amount was deducted fromthe default amount of the following year. Thus, the
defaultamounts remainingin the following years spentby the customer in the liquidation process are reflected. The
annual collection has been made taking into account these default amounts. Thus, the year in which the collection
rate was bad in the economic cycle was taken into account. The through-the-cycle (TtC) LGD of the annual
calculated LGD values was found. The year with the largest percentage difference ofthe annual LGD values from
the calculated TtC LGD was determined as the downturnyear, and the related percentage difference was determined
as the downturn period coefficient.

The saturation point values used for the time between the default event and the closing of the receivable are as
follows.

Product/ Portfolio Saturation Point
Consumer loan 74
Auto loan 30
Overdraft 42
Mortgage 33
Credit card 50
Commercial portfolio 73
SME portfolio 68
Corporate portfolio 50

EAD model begins by associating defaulted loans with the 12-month riskand limit information before the default
date. A randomobservation month is selected fromthe 12-month period from the date of default by the custorrer,
and the EAD parameters are calculated accordingly. In product segmentation, arithmetic mean EAD ratios were
calculated by considering business requirements and statistical significance. The last step is to add a conservatism
margin as required in the Baseland IDD communiqué to create the finalmodel.

As aresult of the analysis made for individual loans, it was decided to use the 60th and 70th percentiles for the
conservatismmargin and downturn period effectratios, respectively, in credit card products in risk conservion factor
(RCF), limit conversion factor (LCF) and Non-limit conversion factor (NLCF). For individual overdraft products,
it has been decided to use the 60th and 70th percentiles for the conservatism margin and downturn effect ratios,
respectively, in RCF and LCF, and the 70th and 80th percentiles, respectively, for conservatism margin and
downturneffect ratios in NLCF.

For Commercial loans, five quantile is added over the model output for the conservatismmargin, and five quantile
is added overthe model output for the downturn period effect.
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3.335.IRB Approach: Credit Risk Amounts by Portfolio and PD Ranges

Current Period

Foundation IRB PD Range On-balance sheet amount Off-balance sheet  Average Exposures post-  Average Number of  Average Average Risk Weighted RWA Expected Loss Provisions
amount CCF CCF and CRM PD Customers LGD Maturity Assets Density
0-0,15 4.151.643 18.285.835 48,54% 13.027.132 0,09% 19.049 43,76% 1,80 3.268.153 34,19% 5473 9.830
0,15-0,25 1.748.718 3.677.631 63,40% 4.080.427 0,17% 34.646 41,67% 1,77 1.508.440 36,97% 3.194 10.518
0,25-0,5 28.419.474 30.929.880 46,24% 42.722.342 0,33% 15.178 42,20% 1,37 20.652.229 59,05% 64.235 72.594
0,5-0,75 63.836.734 60.734.274 45,73% 91.848.786 0,62% 19.949 43,44% 1,46 66.441.988 82,03% 256.557 1.457.225
Exposures to 0,75-2,5 55.846.780 44.964.614 42,22% 75.119.805 1,56% 23.492 41,71% 1,49 74.117.427 100,45% 528.659 1.188.716
corporates 2,5-10 28.523.654 27.138.050 38,36% 38.992.401 5,05% 13.949 41,84% 1,73 54.951.415 137,77% 886.139 1.801.040
10-100 2.489.407 4.122.871 21,53% 3.377.054 27,92% 1.830 42,34% 141 7.679.676 216,72% 424.266 169.620
100 (default) 11.315.590 557.785 20,23% 11.428.425  100,00% 7.554 39,65% 2,50 894.949 0,00% 8.524.860 8.109.345
Sub Total 196.332.000 190.410.940 43,95% 280.596.372 5,81% 135.647 42,39% 1,55 229.514.277 86,58% 10.693.383 12.818.888
Current Period
Advanced IRB PD Range On-balance sheet Off-balance sheet ~ Average Exposures post-  Average Number of  Average Average Risk Weighted RWA Expected Loss Provisions
amount amount CCF CCF and CRM PD Customers LGD Maturity Assets Density
0-0,15 11.481.540 26.700.133 26,86% 18.653.823 0,10% 977.686 44.21% - 603.499 35,94% .980 3.836
0,15-0,25 13.731.338 31.430.466 26,94% 22.197.979 0,19% 1.459.760 43,28% - 1.238.256 38,39% 18.504 9.808
0,25-0,5 4.614.859 7.757.258 27,83% 6.773.835 0,33% 432.008 43,33% - 579.918 42,00% 9.810 5.564
0,5-0,75 11.245.089 16.529.290 28,14% 15.895.869 0,64% 945.891 43,73% - 2.320.766 46,25% 44.683 19.155
Q ualifying 075-25
Revolving ' ! 15.647.502 21.631.895 27,89% 21.679.935 1,49% 1.605.773 42,45% - 5.744.070 49,94% 136.978 67.879
Retail Exposures 2,5-10 13.990.073 9.670.544 29,71% 16.863.465 5,14% 1.554.470 42,09% - 8.559.913 68,55% 363.348 216.705
10-100 2.185.421 572.404 32,69% 2.372.525 27,48% 342.761 38,93% - 3.196.063 116,51% 257.092 138.084
100 (default) 38.491 255 25,89% 38.557 100,00% 5.786 40,38% - 260.116 392,34% 142 5.144
Sub Total 72.934.313 114.292.245 27,60% 104.475.988 1,98% 7.324.135 43,05% - 22.502.601 48,55% 838.537 466.175
0-0,15 1.127.021 2.802.973 37,04% 2.165.217 0,10% 64.136 47,95% - 299.854 32,22% 1.070 3.932
0,15-0,25 6.541.891 10.972.378 53,23% 12.382.523 0,17% 141.691 49,24% - 2.431.691 23,64% 10.583 37.907
0,25-0,5 12.818.653 15.847.176 45,92% 20.096.339 0,37% 130.400 49,73% - 6.297.904 32,16% 36.769 87.859
0,5-0,75 9.487.490 8.771.337 41,98% 13.169.456 0,61% 123.153 49,52% - 5.695.395 45,30% 39.912 78.495
Retail SME 0,75-2,5 22.661.179 15.087.678 40,54% 28.777.984 1,47% 240.416 48,96% - 17.417.618 61,01% 206.496 261.000
Exposures 2,5-10 15.219.038 6.287.484 37,37% 17.568.407 5,03% 175.733 48,42% - 13.683.606 76,62% 427.018 304.485
10-100 2.806.022 889.901 30,88% 3.080.867 18,75% 36.882 46,92% - 3.236.009 101,44% 271.286 114.058
100 (default) 3.010.771 591.341 21,44% 3.137.569  100,00% 55.013 80,62% - 404.960 12,96% 2.498.888 3.421.306
Sub Total 73.672.065 61.250.268 43,60% 100.378.362 5,18% 967.424 50,03% - 49.467.037 50,42% 3.492.022 4.309.042
0-0,15 976.024 4.203.450 81,40% 4.397.743 0,10% 1.092.070 56,40% - 675.705 24,86% 2.391 4.166
0,15-0,25 4.759.289 5.952.966 81,71% 9.623.703 0,19% 1.378.190 58,44% - 2.697.916 46,99% 10.833 15.077
0,25-0,5 2.053.921 2.630.257 82,12% 4.213.768 0,34% 482.587 58,67% - 1.705.622 54,08% 8.475 8.901
0,5-0,75 12.159.587 4.865.386 82,75% 16.185.667 0,65% 987.772 60,22% - 10.741.070 80,20% 62.978 48.427
Other Retail 0,75-2,5 26.958.674 6.154.708 83,88% 32.121.428 1,54% 1.470.401 60,54% - 31.991.303 96,14% 300.057 190.067
Exposures 2,5-10 37.313.800 2.803.584 89,78% 39.830.822 5,36% 1.462.903 60,90% - 54.816.083 109,76% 1.301.040 729.941
10-100 8.040.243 101.145  133,11% 8.174.879 28,90% 255511 61,49% - 19.286.226 134,77% 1.456.962 769.316
100 (default) 5.751.379 6.456 26,89% 5.753.115  100,00% 191.543 77,79% - 1.864.682 17,75% 4.363.917 4.714.144
Sub Total 98.012.917 26.717.952 83,42% 120.301.125 9,05% 7.320.977 61,12% - 123.778.607 89,37% 7.506.653 6.480.039
Retail Total 244.619.295 202.260.465 39,82% 325.155.475 5,58% 15.612.536 51,89% - 195.748.245 64,23% 11.837.212 11.255.256
Other Items Sub Total 57.251.381 - - 57.251.381 - 2 - - 44.684.396 77,99% - -
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Prior Period
Foundation IRB PD Range On-balance sheet amount Off-balance sheet Average Exposures post- ~ Average Number of  Average Average Risk Weighted RWA Expected Loss Provisions
amount CCF CCF and CRM PD Customers LGD Maturity Assets Density
0-0,15 5.106.269 10.136.539 44,50% 9.616.677 0,10% 29.394 42,50% 1,82 2.283.174 23,74% 4.032 9.424
0,15-0,25 3.825.165 1.471.457 51,85% 4.588.187 0,19% 65.111 38,34% 2,49 1.725.974 37,62% 3.292 4.852
0,25-0,5 16.300.123 16.832.930 47,07% 24.223.775 0,33% 22.109 43,46% 185 12.453.675 51,41% 34.660 476.527
0,5-0,75 39.254.397 32.691.451 43,99% 53.633.941 0,61% 39.404 42,82% 1,53 34.387.897 64,12% 140.682 437.120
Exposures to 0,75-2,5 39.963.119 30.524.736 38,07% 51.584.853 1,45% 41.428 42,60% 1,90 49.163.046 95,31% 318.865 1.250.175
corporates 2,5-10 15.959.873 15.739.642 36,09% 21.641.096 5,52% 25.907 41,73% 1,55 29.356.910  135,65% 496.872 998.151
10-100 787.645 802.302 20,84% 954.845  25,56% 5.569 40,76% 1,77 2.059.318  215,67% 98.660 70.300
100 (default) 9.918.477 376.217 21,62% 9.999.819  100,00% 13.867 45,00% 2,50 - - 4.499.918 6.739.322
Sub Total 131.115.068 108.575.274 41,56% 176.243.193 7,16% 234.027 42,69% 1,78 131.429.994 74,57% 5.596.981 9.985.871
Prior Period
Advanced IRB PD Range On-balance sheet Off-balance sheet Average Exposures post-  Average Number of  Average Average Risk Weighted RWA Expected Loss Provisions
amount amount CCF CCF and CRM PD Customers LGD Maturity Assets Density
0-0,15 5.375.727 13.290.210 26,79% 8.935.980 0,10% 872.966 39,65% - 219.263 2,45% 3.416 4.733
0,15-0,25 6.031.116 13.577.991 27,17% 9.719.610 0,19% 1.248.224 38,42% - 409.485 4,21% 7.192 11.130
0,25-0,5 1.723.417 2.665.726 28,30% 2.477.714 0,33% 299.760 39,14% - 164.271 6,63% 3.191 5.279
0,5-0,75 4.703.256 6.763.265 28,20% 6.610.245 0,64% 842.923 38,68% - 732.449 11,08% 16.323 19.605
gel‘\'laol;fl}i/r']gg 0,75-2,5 6.379.855 7.597.886 28,38% 8.535.837 1,50% 1.202.146 38,08% - 1.768.237 20,72% 48.771 58.088
Retail Exposures 2,5-10 6.310.169 3.624.753 30,46% 7.414.268 5,33% 1.241.491 36,36% - 3.454.643 46,59% 141.545 165.017
10-100 1.305.949 271.781 33,36% 1.396.624 27,67% 311.478 32,32% - 1.368.372 97,98% 126.168 125.345
100 (default) 43.062 24 33,33% 43.070  100,00% 9.353 39,58% - 151.444 351,62% 5.618 11.237
Sub Total 31.872.551 47.791.636 27,75% 45.133.348 2,28% 6.028.341 38,15% - 8.268.164 18,32% 352.224 400.434
0-0,15 796.415 2.349.391 38,91% 1.710.560 0,11% 51.674 46,56% - 221.542 12,95% 865 3.824
0,15-0,25 4.718.843 6.788.985 54,26% 8.402.336 0,17% 120.835 46,97% - 1.532.987 18,24% 6.823 25.433
0,25-0,5 8.504.653 10.368.987 46,05% 13.279.805 0,36% 106.606 48,32% - 3.995.922 30,09% 23.296 54.745
0,5-0,75 7.067.315 6.422.647 40,26% 9.653.143 0,61% 104.254 46,51% - 3.800.792 39,37% 27.245 55.457
Retail SME 0,75-2,5 15.579.067 8.837.005 41,00% 19.202.032 1,48% 208.726 46,89% - 10.988.225 57,22% 133.279 192.386
Exposures 2,5-10 9.979.544 3.648.915 36,94% 11.327.271 5,04% 160.381 46,82% - 8.290.445 73,19% 266.711 258.960
10-100 1.915.829 479.317 29,95% 2.059.392 21,42% 33.109 45,69% - 2.114.894 102,70% 200.128 129.306
100 (default) 4.234.372 549.959 21,19% 4.350.896 100,00% 72.159 80,84% - 612.696 14,08% 3.470.823 4.200.964
Sub Total 52.796.038 39.445.206 43,58% 69.985.435 8,24% 716.108 49,17% - 31.557.503 45,09% 4.129.170 4.921.075
0-0,15 771.434 1.998.625 81,07% 2.391.670 0,10% 966.641 50,81% - 311.162 13,01% 1172 1.921
0,15-0,25 3.536.409 2.376.311 81,59% 5.475.178 0,19% 1.184.040 53,72% - 1.230.764 22,48% 5.665 8.009
0,25-0,5 1.232.351 591.532 82,26% 1.718.966 0,33% 331.005 54,19% - 555.784 32,33% 3.087 3.498
0,5-0,75 7.333.011 1.826.481 82,67% 8.842.925 0,64% 865.137 58,39% - 4.513.379 51,04% 33.312 29.170
Other Retail 0,75-2,5 14.603.008 1.864.790 84,49% 16.178.549 1,54% 1.113.981 60,02% - 12.027.772 74,34% 150.645 111.333
Exposures 2,5-10 20.986.455 1.157.489 91,22% 22.042.351 5,62% 1.288.546 60,64% - 21.247.667 96,39% 751.690 573.227
10-100 6.965.048 89.382 123,84% 7.075.741 29,00% 339.008 60,82% - 11.364.776 160,62% 1.246.786 867.980
100 (default) 3.987.378 339 85,08% 3.987.666 100,00% 212.406 77,54% - 1.791.426 44,92% 2.956.847 3.033.606
Sub Total 59.415.094 9.904.949 83,78% 67.713.046 11,23% 6.286.672 60,14% - 53.042.730 78,33% 5.149.204 4.628.744
Retail Total 144.083.683 97.141.791 39,89% 182.831.829 7,88% 9.177.035 50,51% - 92.868.397 50,79% 9.630.598 9.950.253
Other Items Sub Total 22.091.850 - - 22.091.850 - 2 - - 11.947.579 57,08% - -
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3.336.IRB: The effect of credit derivatives used as CRM technique on RWA

3.337.

Current Period RWA —PRE Actual RWA
Credit
1  Exposures to central governments or central banks -Foundation IRB - -
2 Exposures to central governments or central banks -Advanced IRB - -
3 Exposures to banks and financial institutions - Foundation IRB - -
4 Exposures to banks and financial institutions - Advanced IRB - -
5  Exposures to corporates -Foundation IRB 232.301.612 232.301.612
6  Exposures to corporates - Advanced IRB - -
7  Specialised Lending - Foundation IRB - -
8  Specialised Lending - Advanced IRB 88.601.685 88.601.685
9  Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving 22.502.601 22.502.601
10 Retail exposures - secured by real estate - -
11 Retail exposures - SME 49.482.874 49.482.874
12 Retail Exposures - Other 123.778.607 123.778.607
13 Investments in equities - Foundation IRB - -
14 Investments in equities - Advanced IRB - -
15 Purchased Receivables - Foundation IRB - -
16 Purchased Receivables - Advanced IRB - -
17 Other Items - Advanced IRB 44.684.396 44.684.396
Total 561.351.775 561.351.775
Prior Period RWA-PRE  Actual RWA
Credit
1  Exposures to central governments or central banks -Foundation IRB - -
2 Exposures to central governments or central banks -Advanced IRB - -
3 Exposures to banks and financial institutions - Foundation IRB - -
4 Exposures to banks and financial institutions - Advanced IRB - -
5  Exposures to corporates -Foundation IRB 134.096.153 134.096.153
6  Exposures to corporates - Advanced IRB - -
7  Specialised Lending - Foundation IRB - -
8  Specialised Lending - Advanced IRB 71.736.276 71.736.276
9  Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving 8.268.164 8.268.164
10 Retail exposures - secured by real estate - -
11 Retail exposures - SME 31.572.185 31.572.185
12 Retail Exposures - Other 53.042.730 53.042.730
13 Investments in equities - Foundation IRB - -
14 Investments in equities - Advanced IRB - -
15 Purchased Receivables - Foundation IRB - -
16 Purchased Receivables - Advanced IRB - -
17 Other Items - Advanced IRB 11.947.579 11.947.579
Total 310.663.087 310.663.087
RWA Mowvement Table Under IRB Approach®
Current Period Prior Period
1 Previous Period Closing Amount @ 307.443.458 -
2 Changes in Volume 150.413.143 -
3 Changes in Asset Quality 13.044.144 -
4 Model Updates (198.188) -
5 Policy and Regulatory Changes 87.216.286 -
6 Purchasing and Selling - -
7 FXDiflerence - -
8 Other - 307.443.458
9 Current Period Closing Amount 557.918.843 307.443.458
(1) Counterparty creditrisk is not included in the table.
(2) The Bank has started to use IRB approach as ofJJune 30, 2021.
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3.3.38.IRB: Back-testing of probability of default ineach assetclass

. Weighted . Borrowers in default
Asset classes PD Range Equ!valent External Average Mean PD By Borrower _Numbel_‘ of Borrowes . BorrOV\{er_s in default for the first time Average historical
Rating Prior Period  Current Period within the year o
PD within the year annual default rate
Corporate exposures - 1 0% - 0,14% AAA to A+ 0,09% 0,10% 29.394 19.019 7 - 0,03%
Corporate exposures - 2 0,14% - 0,41% Ato A- 0,31% 0,24% 83.896 47.748 38 3 0,06%
Corporate exposures - 3 0,41% - 1,17% BBB+ to BBB- 0,72% 0,77% 60.912 32.013 87 13 0,18%
Corporate exposures - 4 1,17% - 3,22% BB+ to BB- 2,04% 2,07% 32.308 18.703 187 21 0,55%
Corporate exposures - 5 3,22% - 15,08% B+ to B- 6,35% 6,62% 16.570 8.932 384 46 1,83%
Corporate exposures - 6 15,08% - 33,77% CCC+ to CCC- 26,75% 27,73% 4.755 1.230 523 46 9,77%
Corporate exposures - 7 33,77% - 99,99% cc 41,06% 41,07% 47 72 13 4 21,62%
Corporate exposures - 8 100% D 100,00% 100,00% 13.867 7.554 - - -
Sub Total Sub Total 5,66% 7,65% 241.749 135.271 1.239 133 0,42%
. Weighted . Borrowers in default
Asset classes PD Range Equ!valent External Average Mean PD By Borrower .N“mbef of Borrowes . Borrowersin default for the first time Average historical
Rating Prior Period  Current Period within the year s
PD within the year annual default rate
Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving -1 0% - 0,14% AAA to A+ 0,10% 0,10% 872.966 966.927 245 10 0,02%
Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving - 2 0,14% - 0,41% Ato A- 0,22% 0,22% 1.547.984 1.846.177 845 43 0,05%
Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving -3 0,41% - 1,17% BBB+ to BBB- 0,77% 0,77% 1.311.002 1.651.295 2.747 383 0,17%
Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving - 4~ 1,17% - 3,22% BB+ to BB- 2,28% 2,30% 1.220.159 1.564.777 8.689 2.165 0,48%
Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving -5 3,22% - 15,08% B+ to B- 6,96% 7,17% 790.203 1.020.850 23.686 5.892 2,07%
Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving- 6~ 15,08% - 33,77% CCC+ to CCC- 29,59% 28,30% 276.674 268.323 40.985 3.544 10,37%
Retail exposures - Qualify ing revolving - 7 33,77% - 99,99% CcC 0,00% 0,00% - - - - 22,11%
Retail exposures - Qualifying revolving - 8 100% D 100,00% 100,00% 9.353 5.786 - - -
Sub Total Sub Total 2,04% 2,59% 6.028.341 7.324.135 77.197 12.037 2,06%
. Weighted . Borrowers in default
Asset classes PD Range Equwalent' External Average Mean PD By Borrower _Numbet_* of Borrowes . BorrOV\{er_s in default for the first time Average historical
Rating Prior Period  Current Period within the year o
PD within the year annual default rate
Retail exposures - SME - 1 0% - 0,14% AAA to A+ 0,10% 0,10% 51.674 64.019 20 - 0,05%
Retail exposures - SME - 2 0,14% - 0,41% AtoA- 0,23% 0,23% 181.813 216.223 169 34 0,17%
Retail exposures - SME - 3 0,41% - 1,17% BBB+ to BBB- 0,71% 0,73% 213.267 256.206 606 150 0,55%
Retail exposures - SME - 4 1,17% - 3,22% BB+ to BB- 1,97% 2,09% 182.474 206.153 1.592 385 1,38%
Retail exposures - SME - 5 3,22% - 15,08% B+ to B- 6,45% 6,58% 129.561 142.315 3.878 762 3,92%
Retail exposures - SME - 6 15,08% - 33,77% CCC+ to CCC- 23,23% 24,56% 19.192 20.202 2.535 463 13,25%
Retail exposures - SME - 7 33,77% - 99,99% cc 43,51% 45,24% 1.083 1.113 146 21 20,09%
Retail exposures - SME - 8 100% D 100,00% 100,00% 72.159 55.092 - - -
Sub Total Sub Total 5,33% 10,22% 851.223 961.323 8.946 1.815 1,34%
. Weighted . Borrowers in default
Asset classes PD Range Equ!valent External Average Mean PD By Borrower .N“mbef of Borrowes . Borrowersin default for the first time Average historical
Rating Prior Period  Current Period within the year s
PD within the year annual default rate
Retail Exposures - Other - 1 0% - 0,14% AAA to A+ 0,10% 0,10% 966.641 1.093.603 222 40 0,01%
Retail Exposures - Other- 2 0,14% - 0,41% Ato A- 0,23% 0,23% 1.514.953 1.867.693 1.118 327 0,05%
Retail Exposures - Other- 3 0,41% - 1,17% BBB+ to BBB- 0,80% 0,80% 1.330.222 1.679.385 3.645 2.085 0,18%
Retail Exposures - Other- 4 1,17% - 3,22% BB+ to BB- 2,36% 2,38% 1.160.407 1.375.367 10.318 5.735 0,53%
Retail Exposures - Other- 5 3,22% - 15,08% B+ to B- 6,98% 7,07% 811.750 902.758 26.166 10.789 1,89%
Retail Exposures - Other- 6 15,08% - 33,77% CCC+ to CCC- 30,72% 30,92% 304.738 225.037 50.472 11.452 10,31%
Retail Exposures - Other- 7 33,77% - 99,99% cC 0,00% 0,00% - - - - 19,00%
Retail Exposures - Other- 8 100% D 100,00% 100,00% 212.406 191.637 - - -
Sub Total Sub Total 9,30% 6,44% 6.301.117 7.335.480 91.941 30.428 1,90%
. Weighted . Borrowers in default
Asset classes PD Range Equ!valent External Average Mean PD By Borrower l\_lumber_ of Borrowers . BorrOV\{er§ in default for the first time Average historical
Rating Prior Period  Current Period within the year o
PD within the year annual default rate
Other Items - 1 - - - 2 2 - - -
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3.339.IRB: Specializedlending and equity investments subject to the simple risk weight approach

Current Period
Specialised Lendings
Besides High-volatility Commercial Real Estates
Risk Amount RWA Amount Expected
Losses
Category Remaining On-  Off-balance Counterparty Risk Project Object Commodities Income Total Credit Risk Counter
Maturity balance sheet amount credit risk  Weight Finance Finance Finance Producing Party Credit
sheet Real Estate Risk
amount
Strong <2.5years - - 163.673 50% 162.226 - - 1.447 163.673 - 81.837 -
>2.5years  8.516.500 1.641.022 154.458 70% 8.934.533 - - 67.521 9.002.054 6.193.317 108.121 36.008
Good <2.5years 6.768.998 986.608 219.451 70% 5.944.431 725.674 - 517.403 7.187.508 4.877.640 153.616 28.750
>2.5years 24.154.360 8.095.026 216.571 90% 29.027.733 120.788 - - 29.148.521  26.038.755 194.914 233.188
Satisfactory 28.529.920 1.822.114 79.367 115% 23.654.872 100.667 - 5.434.894 29.190.433  33.477.728 91.273 817.332
Weak 6.605.757 832.649 - 250% 6.489.341 - - 284.412 6.773.753  17.384.485 - 497.697
Default - 34.798 - - 7.021 - - - 7.021 - - 3.510
Total 74.575.535 13.412.217 833.520 74.220.157 947.129 - 6.305.677 81.472.963  87.971.925 629.761 1.616.485
Prior Period
Specialised Lendings
Besides High-volatility Commercial Real Estates
Risk Amount RWA Amount Expected
Losses
Category Remaining On-  Off-balance Counterparty Risk Project Object Commodities Income Total Credit Risk Counter
Maturity balance sheet amount creditrisk  Weight Finance Finance Finance Producing Party Credit
sheet Real Estate Risk
amount
Strong <2.5years - - 67.332 50% 57.505 - - 9.828 67.333 - 33.666 -
>2.5years 5.856.274 1.201.537 292.873 70% 6.171.959 - - 219.613 6.391.572 4.269.089 205.011 25.586
Good <2.5years 1.999.003 6.588 78.462 70% 1.545.182 - - 533.613 2.078.795 1.400.233 54.923 8.315
>2.5years 10.922.217 3.568.399 270.561 90% 14.108.109 94.909 - - 14.203.018  12.539.212 243.506 114.649
Satisfactory 33.568.478 2.907.599 1.463 115% 32.926.008 448.825 - 955.497 34.330.330  39.478.197 1.682 961.249
Weak 5.380.841 116.282 - 250% 5.354.179 50.124 - - 5.404.303  13.510.757 - 432.344
Default - 4.243 - - 856 - - - 856 - - 428
Total 57.726.813 7.804.648 710.691 60.163.798 593.858 - 1.718.551 62.476.207  71.197.488 538.788 1.542.571
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Explanation on Counterparty credit risk

Qualitative evaluation for Counterparty Credit Risk

Counterparty Credit Risk (CCR) is organized under Market Risk Management and is functioning within the scope
of “Regulation on the Measurement and Evaluation of the Capital Adequacy of Banks”. These functions include
counterparty credit risk calculations within general risk appetite and control process of risk management policies

for CCR.

Credit limits under CCR are defined within the scope of internal model method, specified in “Regulation on the
Measurementand Evaluation of the Capital Adequacy of Banks. -Appendix2”, considering various stress scenarios.

General policies for collaterals and provisions under credit risk management are also valid for CCR. Exposure and
collateral values are calculated on a daily basis. In order to mitigate the counterparty credit risk, international
framework agreements (ISDA, CSA, GMRA, etc.) are being used through collateraland margin call mech anisms.

In case of a downgrade in credit note, the amount of additional collateral the Bank has to provide is calculated

periodically under several stress scenarios.

3.42. Assessmentof Counterparty Credit Risk according tothe models of measurement

Alpha used Exposure
Potential for computing after credit Risk
Revaluation credit risk regulatory risk  Weighted
Current Period Cost exposure EEPE® EAD mitigation Amounts
1 Standard Approach-CCR 14.730.636 - 14 14.730.636 7.541.896
2 Internal Model Approach - - -
3 Simplified Standardised Approach for Credit Risk Mitigation - -
4 Comprehensive Method for Credit Risk Mitigation 3.776.098 1.562.017
5 Value at Risk for Repo Transactions, Securities or Commodity
lending or borrowing transactions -
Total 9.103.913
Alpha used Exposure
Potential forcomputing after credit Risk
Revaluation  credit risk regulatory risk Weighted
Prior Period Cost exposure EEPEY EAD mitigation Amounts
1 Standard Approach-CCR 16.242.431 2.003.381 14 17.738.479  5.825.602
2 Internal Model Approach - - -
3 Simplified Standardised Approach for Credit Risk Mitigation - -
4 Comprehensive Method for Credit Risk Mitigation 2.058.542 889.618
5 Value at Risk for Repo Transactions, Securities or Commodity
lending or borrowing transactions - -
Total 6.715.220
(1) Effective expected positive exposure
3.43. Credit valuation adjustment (CVA) capital charge
Current Period Prior Period
Exposure Risk Exposure Risk
(After credit risk Weighted (After credit risk Weighted
mitigation methods) Amounts mitigation methods) Amounts
Total portfolio value with comprehensive approach CVA
capital adequacy -
1 (i) Value at risk component (including 3*multiplier) -
2 (i) Stressed Value at Risk (including 3*multiplier) -
3 All portfolios subject to Standardised CVA capital
obligation 14.730.636 3.881.193 17.738.479 4.583.228
Total amount of CVA capital adequacy 14.730.636 3.881.193 17.738.479 4.583.228
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3.44. Standardised approach — CCR exposures by regulatory portfolio and risk weights

Current Period

Risk Weights/Risk Classes

0%

2%

4%

10% 20%

35%

50%

75%

100%

150%

Total credit
risk®

Central governments and central
banks receivables

Local governments and
municipalities receivables
Administrative and non
commercial receivables
Multilateral Development Bank
receivables

Banks and Intermediary
Institutions receivables
Corporate receivables

Retail receivables

Mortgage receivables

Non performing receivables
High risk defined receivables
Equity investments

Other receivables

1.850.8%

- 128.315

6.158.6%4

- 3.332.689
- 4.562

7.326.877
33.331

717.930

4.993

207.665
572.321

1.850.855

4.993

17.154.200
610.214
717.930

Total

1.850.855 128.315

6.158.6%4

- 3.337.251

7.360.208

717.930

784.979

20.338.192

Prior Period

Risk Weights/Risk Classes

0%

2%

4%

10% 20%

35%

50%

75%

100%

150%

Total credit
risk®

Central governments and central
banks receivables

Local governments and
municipalities receivables
Administrative and non
commercial receivables
Multilateral Development Bank
receivables

Banks and Intermediary
Institutions receivables
Corporate receivables

Retail receivables

Mortgage receivables

Non performing receivables
High risk defined receivables
Equity investments

Other receivables

7.701.691

344.884

125.049

- 2.294.065
- 25.336

5.430.812

308.020

7.701.691

8.194.810
333.356
11.047

Total

7.701.691

344.884

125.049

- 2.319.401

5.430.812

308.020

16.240.904

(1) Counterparty creditrisk is notincluded in the table.
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3.45. Counterparty Credit Risk Amounts by Portfolioand PD Ranges

Current Period

Foundation IRB PD Range Exposures post Average PD Number of Customers Average LGD Average Maturity Risk Weighted Assets RWA Density
CRM
0-0,15 125.759 0,12% 24 45,00% 1.00 27.684 22,01%
0,15-0,25 17.104 0,17% 4 45,00% 1.00 3.903 22,82%
0,25-0,5 556.721 0,33% 83 45,00% 1.54 274.284 49,27%
0,5-0,75 1.508.874 0,64% 75 45,00% 1.66 1.076.068 71,32%
Exposures to 0,75-2,5 1.290.668 1,51% 55 45,00% 1.65 1.276.796 98,93%
corporates 2,5-10 76.443 7,94% 7 44,95% 1.00 128.033 167,49%
10-100 262 14,86% 1 45,00% 1.00 567 216,70%
100 (default) - 0,00% - 0,00% - - 0,00%
Sub Total 3.575.831 1,04% 249 45,00% 1.60 2.787.335 77,95%
Advanced IRB PD Range Exposures post Average PD  Number of Customers Average LGD Average Maturity Risk Weighted Assets RWA Density
CRM
0-0,15 - - - - - -
0,15-0,25 - - - - - -
0,25-0,5 - - - - - -
0,5-0,75 - - - - - -
Q ualifying Revolving 0,75-2,5 - - - - - -
Retail Exposures 2,5-10 - - - - - -
10-100 - - - - - -
100 (default) - - - - - -
Sub Total - - - - N R
0-0,15 7.584 0,12% 7 50,70% 1.153 15,20%
0,15-0,25 10.882 0,17% 24 52,65% 2.201 20,23%
0,25-0,5 11.340 0,34% 20 48,16% 3.304 29,14%
0,5-0,75 6.853 0,60% 12 48,21% 2.782 40,60%
Retail SME 0,75-2,5 7.963 1,63% 12 51,20% 5.216 65,50%
Exposures 2,5-10 1.538 3,88% 3 50,48% 1.180 76,74%
10-100 - - - - - -
100 (default) - - - - - -
Sub Total 46.160 0,64% 78 50,24% 15.836 34,31%
0-0,15 - - - - - -
0,15-0,25 - - - - - -
0,25-0,5 - - - - - -
0,5-0,75 - - - - - -
Other Retail 0,75-2,5 - - - - - -
Exposures 2,5-10 - - - - - -
10-100 - - - - - -
100 (default) - - - - - -
Sub Total - - - - - -
Total (All portfolios) 46.160 0,64% 78 50,24% 15.836 34,31%
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Prior Period
Foundation IRB PD Range Exposures post Average PD Number of Customers Average LGD Average Maturity Risk Weighted Assets RWA Density
CRM
0-0,15 265.369 0,12% 26 44,00% 2,91 97.171 36,62%
0,15-0,25 9 0,17% 1 45,00% 1,00 3 28,59%
0,25-0,5 488.827 0,33% 49 44,47% 1,50 235.543 48,19%
0,5-0,75 1.200.613 0,62% 57 43,32% 2,58 937.565 76,05%
Exposures to 0,75-2,5 962.230 1,24% 42 43,85% 1,95 908.856 94,45%
corporates 2,5-10 366.124 4,28% 13 42,80% 1,70 487.021 133,02%
10-100 - - - - - - -
100 (default) - - - - - - -
Sub Total 3.283.172 1,09% 188 43,62% 2,20 2.666.159 80,10%
Advanced IRB PD Range Exposures post Average PD  Number of Customers Average LGD Average Maturity Risk Weighted Assets RWA Density
CRM
0-0,15 - - - - - - -
0,15-0,25 - - - - - - -
0,25-0,5 - - - - - - -
0,5-0,75 - - - - - - -
Q ualifying Revolving 0,75-2,5 - - - - - - -
Retail Exposures 2,5-10 - - - - - - -
10-100 - - - - - - -
100 (default) - - - - - R -
Sub Total - - - - - - -
0-0,15 2.220 0,12% 8 50,54% - 336 15,15%
0,15-0,25 2.134 0,17% 13 47,67% - 391 18,31%
0,25-0,5 8.155 0,33% 21 47,37% - 2.294 28,13%
0,5-0,75 3.801 0,58% 11 43,66% - 1.367 35,96%
Retail SME 0,75-2,5 12.047 1,23% 24 48,09% - 7.220 56,04%
Exposures 2,5-10 3.830 7,70% 4 48,16% - 3.074 80,28%
10-100 - - - - - - -
100 (default) - - - - - - -
Sub Total 32.187 1,52% 81 47,59% - 14.682 45,34%
0-0,15 - - - - - - -
0,15-0,25 - - - - - - -
0,25-0,5 - - - - - - -
0,5-0,75 - - - - - - -
Other Retail 0,75-2,5 - - - - - - -
Exposures 2,5-10 - - - - - - -
10-100 - - - - - - -
100 (default) - - - - - R -
Sub Total - - - - - - -
Total (All portfolios) 32.187 1,52% 81 47,59% - 14.682 45,34%
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3.46. Composition of collateral for CCR exposure

Collaterals for Derivatives Transactions Collaterals or Other Transactions
Current Period Collaterals Taken Collaterals Given Collaterals Taken Collaterals Given
Segregated Unsegregated  Segregated  Unsegregated
1 Cash-domestic currency - - - - 18.496.136 -
2 Cash-foreign currency - - - - 5.473.263 -
3 Domestic sovereign debts - - - - - 18.844.825
4 Other sovereign debt - - - - - 8.714.900
5  Government agency debt - - - - - -
6  Corporate debts - - - - - -
7 Equity securities - - - - - -
g  Other collateral - - - - - -
Total - - - - 23.969.399 27.559.725
Collaterals for Derivatives Transactions Collaterals or Other Transactions
Prior Period Collaterals Taken Collaterals Given Collaterals Taken Collaterals Given
Unsegregated Segregated Unsegregated
1  Cash-domestic currency - 9.912 - - 45.359.285 1.750.689
2 Cash-foreign currency - 19.884 - - 3.095.195 -
3 Domestic sovereign debts - - - - 1.782.917 44.822.415
4 Other sovereign debt - - - - - 4.198.676
5  Government agency debt - - - - - -
6  Corporate debts - - - - - -
7  Equity securities - - - - - -
8  Other collateral - 477.537 - - - -
Total - 507.333 - - 50.237.397 50.771.780
3.4.7. Credit derivatives exposures
Current Period Prior Period
Protection Protection Protection
Bought Sold Bought Protection Sold
Nominal
Single-name credit default swaps - - -
Index credit default swaps - - -
Total return swaps - 38.271.238 26.257.676
Credit Options - - -
Other Credit Derivatives - B -
Total Nominal - 38.271.238 26.257.676
Rediscount Amount - (2.448.578) (1.264.379)
Positive Rediscount Amount - 788.608 844.603
Negative Rediscount Amount - (3.237.186) (2.108.982)
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Exposures to central counterparties

Current Period Prior Period
Exposure at Exposure at
default default

(post-CRM) RWA (post-CRM) RWA

1 Exposureto Qualified Central Counterparties (Q CCPs) (total) 248.912 11.900

Exposures for trades at QCCPs (excluding initial margin and default
fund contributions) ); of which

(i) Exchange-traded Derivatives - - -
(iii) Securities financing transactions - - 29
(iv) Netting sets where cross-product netting has been approved - - -
Segregated initial margin - - -
Non-segregated initial margin - - -
Pre-funded default fund contributions - - -
Unfunded default fund contributions - - -

O oo ~NOO O WN

=
o

=
[N

Exposures to non-Q CCPs (total) - - -

Exposures for trades at non-QCCPs (excluding initial margin and
12 default fund contributions) ; of which)
13 (i) OTC Derivatives - - -
14  (ii) Exchange-traded Derivatives - - -
15  (iii) Securities financing transactions - - -
16 (iv) Netting sets where cross-product netting has been approved - - -
17  Segregated initial margin - - -
18  Non-segregated initial margin - - -
19  Pre-funded default fund contributions - - -

20  Unfunded default fund contributions - - -

Securitisations

None.

Explanations on MarketRisk
Qualitative disclosureon marketrisk

Market Risk Management department monitors the interest rate, exchange rate, stock, commodity and credit spread
risks arising fromthe main financial activities of the Bank ona daily basis and measures the probability of loss that may
arise fromthe related risks by using internal model. Risks measured are regularly reported to the business units, their
compliance with the Bank’s risk appetite is monitored and impacts on capital requirement are analyzed. By taking into
account the distinction between banking and trading portfolios, analyses and measurements enable Market Risk
Managementto determine specific limits on sub-portfolio / product levels.

Market risks that the Bank is exposedto are assessed and managed by a triple structure consisting of Treasury, Financial
Planning and Market Risk Management Units. The Board of Directors, the Executive Committee and the Audit
Committee have primary responsibility for management of such risks. Both Top management and the sub -units are
responsible for managing the risks taking into account constraints and targets such as Bank’s interest rate sensitivity,
liquidity constraints, funding sources, budget targets, medium and long-term capital planning and profitability of the
products in operation.

Models, strategies and processes thatare accurateand integrated in accordance with risks the Bankis or may be exposed
to have beenestablished. Automated reporting and validationactivities are carried out for effectiveanalysis, monitoring
and control mechanisms. Risk management infrastructure integrated with day-to-day activities enabling monitor and
measurement independently from executive activities; and supports business and decision-making processes has been
established. Policies, processes, targets, roles / responsibilities, and regular trainings are the main elements of the Bank's
dissemination of risk culture and awareness. Systems and structures compatible with international best practicesand in
line with the risk appetite are available for risk management.
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The Bank implements internal policies and procedures that are reviewed and approved at least once a year by the
Board of Directors in orderto manage market risks arising from on and off-balance sheet liabilities. Based on the
principles mentioned in Regulatory Authority’s directives and best practice guidelines, internal policies determine
responsibilities and practitioners for identification, measurement, monitoringand reporting of the risks in line with
the riskappetiteand needs of the Bank; lay the groundwork for granting limits in the Bank; and guide theactions to
be taken in case of risk appetite is exceeded.

Market Risk Management organization consists of 4 sub-units; Market Risk Analysis, Asset-Liability Management
and Affiliates Coordination, Counterparty Risk and Collateral Management and Risk Methodologies and Market
Data Analysis units.

Market Risk Analysis unit; carry out the activities such as measuring and setting limits for risks arising from
Financial assets where fair value change is reflected to income statement and Financial assets where fair value
changeis reflectedto other comprehensive income statementusing advanced internal methods (Value at Risk, Base
Point Value Sensitivity etc.), complying policies and procedures with new regulations and best practices, product-
based riskanalysis, developing risk measurementand valuation techniques and ap plying stress tests.

Asset Liability Management and Subsidiaries Coordination unit; enables the Bank to measure the liquidity risk,
manage the structural interest rate exposure, manage the protection procedures and the protection accounting
processes used toreducethe risk of re-pricing. Follows the concentration of the Bank's funding side. Also paves the
way for implementation of Bank-side risk applications and risk culture in the Bank’s subsidiaries, plays an active
role in risk appetite determination and coordination processes.

Counterparty Riskand Collateral Management Unit calculates the exposures of overthe counter (OTC) derivative
transactions via internal model method and manages the inclusion ofthese exposures into the monitoring and the
credit underwriting processes.

The Risk Methodologies and Market Data Analysis unit provides unbiased management of all market data related
to treasury products under the risk management framework. The unit is responsible for the verification of fair values,
and transfer of related data sources to the banking system.

3.6.2. Marketrisk under standardisedapproach

Current Period Prior Period

Risk Weighted Risk Weighted

Asset Asset

Outright products 13.080.255 5.299.883

1 Interest rate risk (general and specific) 2.852.682 1.636.497
2 Equity risk (general and specific) - -
3 Foreign exchange risk 10.170.048 3.576.136
4 Commodity risk 57.525 87.250
Options 635.050 780.475

5 Simplified approach - -
6 Delta-plus method 635.050 780.475
7 Scenario approach - -
8 Securitisation - -
Total 13.715.305 6.080.358
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Explanations on Operational Risk:

The Bank calculates theamount subject to operational risk based on “Basic Indicator Method” by using 2021, 2020
and 2019 year-end gross income balances ofthe Bank, in accordance with Section 3 ofthe “Regulation Regarding
Measurementand Evaluation of Banks’ Capital Adequacy Ratio”, published in the Official Gazette No. 29511 dated
October 23,2015, namely “The Calculation of the Amount Subjectto Operational Risk”. As of December 31, 2022,
the totalamount subjectto operational risk is TL 42.578.789 (December 31, 2021 - TL 34.598.266) and the amount
of the related capital requirement is TL 3.406.303 (December 31, 2021 - TL 2.767.861).

Total / Total

2 Prior Period 1 Prior Period Current number of
Current Period Value Value Period value years for __Rate (%) Total
Gross Income 16.147.244 22.290.957 29.687.861 22.708.687 15% 3.406.303
Amount subject to operational risk (Total*12,5) 42.578.789

Total / Total

2 Prior Period 1 Prior Period Current number of
Prior Period Value Value Period value years for Rate (%) Total
Gross Income 16.919.024 16.147.244 22.290.957 18.452.408 15% 2.767.861
Amount subject to operational risk (Total*12,5) 34.598.264

Banking book interestrate risk

Interest rate risk means possible losses onfinancial structure or equity ofthe Bank by movements in interest rates.
Changes in interest rates affect the Bank's earnings by changing the level of net interest incomes, other interest
sensitive incomes and operating expenses. The change in interest rates also affects the underlying values of the
Bank's assets foractive, passive and off-balance sheet items by changing the economic values of future cash flows
(and in some cases, the cash flows themselves).

Interest raterisk has three main reasons:

» Repricing Risk: It is causedby theinconsistency in pricing of active and passive items.

> Yield Curve Risk: It results fromthe variation of the curve and shape oftheyield curve.

» Basis Risk: It’s due to the low correlation of the earned and paid interestyields of different
financial instruments with peer revaluation structure.

The customer's prepaymentrisk (option risk) is indirectly taken into accountin managingand following the interest
rate risk by following a specific risk protectionrate.

Within thescope of the interest rate risk arising frombanking accounts, the core deposit analysis for demand deposits
is carried out according to the maximum maturity structure of the same regulation. In core deposit analysis, it is
possible to distribute demand deposits upto three times using behavioral models reviewed once a year. In addition,
Consumer Price Indexbonds modeland early payment model in real estate and consumer loans are also considered
in the calculationofinterest rate risk.

Interestrate risk is monitored weekly through internal reports and reports made tothe Executive Board ona monthly
basis.

In accordance with the "Regulation on Measurement and Evaluation of the Interest Rate on Banking Accounts by
Standard Shock Method", theeconomic value differences arising fromfluctuations in interestrates are stated in the
table belowas of December 31,2022, basedon thesignificantcurrencies ofthe Bank.

Current Period Prior Period

Applied shock Gains/SE- Gains/SE-
Currency (+/- x basis points) Gains/Losses Losses/SE  Gains/Losses Losses/SE
TRY (+)500 bp (6.479.005) (4,42)% (3.565.705) (4,46)%
TRY (-)400 bp 6.097.199 4,16% 3.206.811 4,01%
EUR (+)200 bp 764.516 0,52% (310.186) (0,39)%
EUR (-)200 bp (754.817) (0,51) % 358.834 0,45%
uUsD (+)200 bp (3.930.975) (2,68) % (1.871.143) (2,34)%
UsD (-)200 bp 4.983.463 3,40% 2.633.830 3,30%
Total (For negative shocks) 10.325.845 7,04% 6.199.475 7,76%
Total (For positive shocks) (9.645.464) (6,57)% (5.747.034) (7,19)%
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Explanations on currency risk

The difference between the Bank’s foreign currency denominated and foreign currency indexed on - and off-balance
sheet assets and liabilities is defined as the “Net Foreign Currency Position” and it is the basis of currency risk.
Cross currencyriskis also taken into consideration for the currency risk calculations and measurements.

The Bank keeps the amount of currency risk exposure within the related legal limits and follows the exchange
positionon a daily/regular basis. In addition, although the internal exchange position limit is lower when compared
to the related legal limit, there has notbeen any limit exceeding during the period. As an instrumentof currency risk
management, derivatives such as swap and forwards are used to reduce risk whenever needed. In order to guard
against extreme volatility during theyear stresstests are applied. Value at risk method is used for the measurerrent
of foreign exchange risk.

The details of hedging of the foreign currency debt instruments and net foreign currency investment risk with
derivative instruments are disclosed in section four Note 10.

The Bank’s publicly announced foreign exchangebid rates as of the date ofthe financial statements and for the last
five work days priorto that dateare as follows:

(Exchange rates presented asfull TL) usD EUR
Balance sheet evaluation rate: 18,6983 19,9349
First day current bid rate 18,6966 19,8816
Second day current bid rate 18,6964 19,8946
Third day current bid rate 18,6813 19,9087
Fourth day current bid rate 18,6649 19,8324
Fifth day current bid rate 18,6592 19,8044
Arithmetic average of the last 31 days: 18,6370 19,7164
Balance sheet evaluation rate as of prior period: 12,9775 14,6823
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Information related to financial position of the Bank

OTHER
Current Period EUR Usb FC® Total
Assets
Cash (Cash invault, effectives, cash in transit, cheques purchased) and balances with
the Central Bank ofthe Republicof Turkey 35.504.139 55.728.838 16.927.119 108.160.09
Banks 5.049.387 16.689.375 363.832 22.102.5%
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 38.583 1.494.979 - 1.533.562
Money market placements - - - -
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 1.868.067 15.119.621 205 16.987.893
Loans @ 70.403.544 83.489.925 6.047.429 159.940.898
Investments inassociates, subsidiariesand joint ventures 9.355.245 1.062.069 2.871.962 13.289.276
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 4.998.277 61.853.856 - 66.852.133
Hedging derivative financial assets 792.649 2.907.278 3.699.927
Tangible assets - - -
Intangibleassets - - - -
Other assets® 6.827.517 21.048.875 4.112.840 31.989.232
Total assets 134.837.408  259.394.816 30.323.387  424.555.611
Liabilities
Bank deposits 673.103 786.133 329.653 1.788.889
Foreign currency deposits 90.768.993  153.052.031 39.734580 283.555.604
Funds frommoney market 4.533.259 2.866.964 - 7.400.223
Funds borrowed fromotherfinancial institutions 28.466.318 39.804.804 2 68.271.124
Marketable securities issued 710.345 27.849.019 3.908.106 32.467.470
Miscellaneous payables 4.132.569 880.955 51.979 5.065.503
Hedging derivative financial liabilities - - - -
Other liabilities® 5.891.036 81.102.012 23.058 87.016.106
Total liabilities 135.175623  306.341.918 44.047.378  485.564.919
Net on-balance sheet position (338.215)  (46.947.102) (13.723.991) (61.009.308)
Net off-balance sheet position® 979.612  37.290.465  16.652.092  54.922.169
Financial derivative assets 21.532.349 115.122.440 18.587.009 155.241.798
Financial derivative liabilities 20.552.737 77.831.975 1934917 100.319.629
Net Position 641397  (9.656.637) 2.928.101  (6.087.139)
Non-cash loans 68.264.361 65.819.518 9.487.407 143.571.286
Prior Period
Total assets 127.107.231  217.103.318 16.676.138  360.886.687
Total liabilities 114883876  279.151.713 26.617.461 420.653.050
Net on-balance sheet position 12.223.355 (62.048.395) (9.941.323) (59.766.363)
Net of f-balance sheet position (10.660.274) 61.558.734 11.969.789 62.868.249
Financial derivative assets 14.368.163 86.627.947 17.176.405 118.172515
Financial derivative liabilities 25.028.437 25.069.213 5.206.616 55.304.266
Net Position 1.563.081 (489.661) 2.028.466 3.101.886
Non-cash loans 55.144.392 57.797.998 6.581.082 119.523472

(1) Includes FXindexed loans amounting to TL 166.285 (December 31, 2021 - TL 320.109) which have beendisclosed as TL in the financial statements.
(2) Does notinclude foreign currency prepaid expenses amountingto TL 1.036.303 (December 31,2021 - TL 444.304).

(3) Does notinclude foreign currency other comprehensive income and expense under equity.
(4) Other FC column includes also gold balance.
(5) Forward transactions classified ascommitments are also included.

Currency risksensitivity analysis:

The table below represents the sensitivity of the Bank to 15% change of currency exchange rates (USD and EUR).
15% change is theassumption of parity change that may be faced according to the Bank’s stress test scenarios.

CurrentPeriod

Prior Period

Changeincurrency exchange rates

Equity and
Profit/loss effect ()

Equity and
Profit/loss effect (Y

(+)15%
(-)15%

1.593.635
(596.848)

436.669
(200.224)

(1) Excluding tax effect.

Explanations on interest rate risk

The monitoring of interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities, including sensitivity analysis regarding the effect of
interest rate fluctuations onthe financial statements, is performed by therisk management department for all interest
sensitive instruments over carrying values. The results are presented monthly to the Asset and Liability Managerrent
function ofthe Executive Committee. By using sensitivity and scenario analyses, the possible effects by interest rate
volatility are analyzed. In these analyses possible losses are calculated for the change in fair value of interest
sensitive products by applying shock tests to interest rates.

Sensitivity analyses are also calculated daily within Market Risk reporting on the basis of maturity and foreign
exchange types andreported to Senior Management by checking themagainstthe determined limits.
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The Bank utilizes TL/FC and TL/TL interest rate and money swap transactions in order to limit the interest and
foreign currencyriskarising fromshort-termdeposit and long-termconsumer loans within the balance sheet.

Interest rate sensitivity of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheetitems based on repricing dates:

5Yearsand  Non-interest
Current Period Up to 1 Month 1-3 Months  3-12 Months 1-5 Years Over bearing Total

Assets
Cash (cash invault, effectives, cashin trarsit,
cheques purchased) and balances with the

Central Bankof the Republic of Turkey 2.990.650 - - - - 140.905.480 143.896.130
Banks 4.302.402 1.515.978 - - - 20.587.586 26.405.966
Financial assets measured at fair value

through profit or loss - 785.794 20.156 127.463 212.054 419.990 1.565.457
Receivables frommoney markets 2.461.599 - - - - - 2.461.599
Financial assets measured at fair value througk

other comprehensive income 10.342.408 18.374.292 19.981.834 13.061.194 15.477.650 106.375 77.343.753
Loans® 121.266.566 115.950.167 203.086.731 119.187.906 25.889.845  (14.934.044) 570.447.171
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 47.403.578 21.317.824 12.593.488 25.816.383 56.169.325 - 163.300.598
Other assets 1.523.180 2.725.701 2.052.369 8.371.026 3.884.915 104.115.728 122.672.919
Total assets 190.290.383 160.669.756 237.734.578 166.563.972 101.633.789 251.201.115  1.108.093.533
Liabilities
Bank deposits 2.616.798 2.582.968 3.914.800 47.571 - 1.236.609 10.398.746
Other deposits 253.255.745 115.690.393 20.076.279 22.215 - 273.321.940 662.366.572
Funds from maoney market 30.029.851 5.484.635 - - - - 35.514.486
Miscellaneos payables - - - - - 42.477.010 42.477.010
Marketable securities issued 1.854.351 14.010.582 24.675.391 - - - 40.540.324
Funds borrowed from other financial

institutions 17.101.017 26.823.141 24.397.752 1.578.836 147.674 - 70.048.420
Other liabilities® 13.383.237 39.873.508 10.105.754 25.280.384 3.614.406 154.490.746 246.748.035
Total liabilities 318.240.999 204.465.227 83.169.976 26.929.006 3.762.080 471.526.305  1.108.093.583
Balance sheet long position - - 154.564.602 139.634.966 97.871.709 - 392.071.277
Balance sheet short position (127.950.616) (43.795.471) - - - (220.325.190)  (392.071.277)
Off-balance sheet long position 21.899.104 41.553.407 - - - - 63.452.511
Off-balance sheet short pasition - - (18.802.958)  (33.692.067)  (10.384.551) - (62.879.576)
Total position (106.051.512) (2.242.064) 135.761.644  105.942.899 87.487.158  (220.325.190) 572.935

Uptol 5Yearsand  Non-interest
Prior Period Month 1-3 Months  3-12 Months 1-5 Years Over bearing Total
Assets
Cash (cash invault, effectives, cashin trarsit,

cheques purchased) and balances with the Central

Bankof the Republic of Turkey 68.178.110 - - - - 48.010.456 116.188.566
Banks 5.602.134 732.023 - - - 19.271.609 25.605.766
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit

or loss - 489.206 5.683 58.396 139.374 518.127 1.210.786
Receivables frommoney markets 1.809.366 - - - - - 1.809.366
Financial assets measured at fair value through cther

comprehersive income 4.910.379 8.509.892 13.328.397 3.636.480 4.101.999 22.553 34.509.700
Loans® 58.261.264 52.653.416 150.581.894 106.139.104 20.480.008  (10.347.595) 377.768.091
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 20.256.530 10.834.713 12.873.962 8.883.497 39.026.798 - 91.875.500
Other assets 5.369.048 7.907.524 2.714.168 5.708.196 329.298 65.773.757 87.801.991
Total assets 164.386.831 81.126.774 179.504.104  124.425.673 64.077.477  123.248.907 736.769.766
Liabilities
Bank deposits 2.782.718 823.611 1.736.802 11573 - 2.764.181 8.118.885
Other deposits 187.039.765 32.753.294 4.662.820 54.620 - 168.466.032 392.976.531
Funds from money market 48.560.168 3.315.191 1.032.918 - - - 52.908.277
Miscellaneos payables - - - - - 25.172.406 25.172.406
Marketable securities issued 2.832.011 16.258.438 15.163.293 - - - 34.253.742
Funds borrowed from other financial ingitutions 3.977.880 41.982.748 11.617.423 2.585.498 960.619 - 61.124.168
Other liabilities® 4.883.941 30.506.219 13.935.249 31.847.398 3.401.689 77.641.261 162.215.757
Total liabilities 250.076.483 125.639.501 48.148.505 34.499.089 4.362.308 274.043.880 736.769.766
Balance sheet long position - - 131.355.599 89.926.584 59.715.169 - 280.997.352
Balance sheet short position (85.689.652) (44.512.727) - - - (150.794.973  (280.997.352
Off-balance sheet long position 18.785.986 43.077.879 - - - - 61.863.865
Off-balance sheet short pasition - - (6.512.770)  (44.264.388) (8.012.207) - (58.789.365)
Total position (66.903.666) (1.434.848) 124.842.829 45.662.196 51.702.962  (150.794.973) 3.074.500

(1)Non-performing loans are shown in net Non-Interest Bearing loss column after being offset by expected loss provisions.
(2) Shareholders’ equity is presented under “Non interest bearing”.
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Awerage interest rates for monetary financial instruments:

The following average interest rates are calculated by weighting the rates with their principal amounts outstanding
as ofthe balance sheet date.

Current Period EUR USD Yen TL
% % % %
Assets
Cash (cash in vault, eflectives, cash in transit, cheques
purchased) and balances with the Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey 2,50 - - -
Banks - - - 10,05
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 4,80 5,38 - -
Receivables from money markets - - - 11,86
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,32 7,59 - 48,75
Loans 6,62 8,46 - 22,83
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 4,32 6,42 - 53,69
Liabilities
Bank deposits® - 3,05 - 8,63
Other deposits® 0,10 0,84 - 8,16
Funds from money market 3,37 4,43 - 8,07
Miscellaneous payables - - - -
Marketable securities issued 5,53 6,78 - 20,85
Funds borrowed from other financial institutions 4,22 5,90 - 11,05
Prior Period EUR Usb Yen TL
% % % %
Assets
Cash (cash in vault, effectives, cash in transit, cheques
purchased) and balances with the Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey - - - 8,89
Banks - - - 13,72
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 3,87 3,43 - 15,57
Receivables from money markets - - - 12,31
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,32 6,31 - 28,85
Loans 4,63 5,76 - 19,26
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 4,33 6,28 - 30,36
Liabilities
Bank deposits® - - - 16,08
Other deposits® 0,08 0,34 - 10,30
Funds from money market 1,01 - - 11,92
Miscellaneous payables - - - -
Marketable securities issued 5,00 6,46 - 17,39
Funds borrowed from other financial institutions 1,84 2,47 - 15,52

(1) Demand deposit balances are included in average interest rate calculation.
Explanation on share certificates position risk frombanking book :
None.
Explanations on Liquidity Risk Managementand Liquidity Cowerage Ratio:

Liquidity riskis defined as risk of unexpected loss to be occurred or bank to have difficulties in raising funds while
meeting maturing liabilities. Liquidity management is daily monitored in the Bank under Treasury Management and
Risk Management. The liquidity policy of the Bank is approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors. Treasury
Management is responsible for carrying out transactions which are appropriate to Bank’s policy, monitoring of
liquidity position and submitting necessary reports to executives. Treasury management contributes to determine
strategies and operatingactions for the management of the liquidity position in addition to prepare funding planand
contingency funding plan of the Bank. Liquidity risk is evaluated with liquidity gap analysis, liquidity stress tests
and supplementary precautions/measurements. Liquidity Gap analysis are performed for two different periods as
short-termand long-term. Going concern scenario and structural positions are reported monthly. This reporting
constitutes the basis of monitoringand management of liquidity position.

The Bankdoes notfunctionas a central funding institution in its relations with its subsidiaries. Intra-group liquidity
management and funding strategies are limited with related legal boundaries.
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The Bankissues an annual funding plan in order to sustain funding in a consistentand balanced way. Funding plan
have to be updatedat least annually and approved by the Executive Committee since it is complied with budgeting
process and risk appetite frameworks. The primary purpose of the funding plan is to provide a reliable balance
between assets and liabilities.

Both short-term liquidity and mediunvlong-term (structural) liquidity measurement and reporting for all types of
currencies are periodically made in the Bank and its subsidiaries. There are limits which are predetermined and
approved by the Board of Directors on the basis of all currencies for each period.

The Bank mainly uses derivative transactions as managing liquidity risk and monitors cash inflow and outflow
periods in the framework of funding planbalancing thedistributionamong currencies.

The Bankaims to reduce therisks tothe lowestlevel if required via measuring possible ris ks in liquidity with stress
tests. Stress tests make it possible forthe Bankto reinterpretanalysis of its liquidity positionaccording to scenarios
depending on possible cases and tail risks except for crisis situations. Liquidity Stress Test methodology makes a
similar approachwith Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) template and henceallows the overview of theresults in line
with Basel approaches. The Bank applies and reports liquidity stresstests consisting of different scenarios and
maturity segments both on solo and consolidated level and the results are compared with both liquidity stress tests
and other liquidity limit and trigger levels set, with different frequencies (weekly, monthly etc.) according to the
scenarios.

“Liquidity Contingency Plan” is applied if the Bank needs more liquidity than its daily liquidity need because of
possible financial events in future. Duties and responsibilities are defined in detail in the aforementioned plan. Both
the liquidity policy and liquidity contingency policy are in line with BRSA best practice documents on liquidity
risk management. The abovementioned policies and the thresholds (limits etc.) covered within liquidity risk
management framework are updated and approved at least annually.

Funding sources of the Bank mainly consistof deposits which constitute 61% (December 31,2021 —54%) oftotal
liabilities of the Bank and also include repo, secured loans, syndication, securitization, bond/security issuance and
otherinstruments including subordinated loans/debts.

The Bank calculates and reports the LCR in full compliance with the regulations. LCR is a metric measuring the
adequacy of unencumbered free liquid assets owned by banks (called high quality liquid assets) to meet expected
net cash outflows over the next 30 days. The metric is an important Basel regulation that measures short-term
liquidity and is closely monitored in the Bank. In addition to the Bank LCR, the Net Stable Funding Rate (NSFR),
which is considered another complementary element and provides another important mediunvlong-term liquidity
risk measurement, has also measures internally. These two metrics are also included within the Risk Appetite
Indicators and closely monitored at the Bank.

High quality liquid assets mentioned in LCR calculation consist of cash, effective money, Central Bank of the
Republic of Turkey (“CBRT”)accounts and reserves and government bonds issued by Treasury of the Republic of
Turkey treatedas high quality liquid assets.

Cash outflows fromderivative transactions in liquidity coverageratio calculationare based oninclusion of netcash
flows with maturity of 30 days in the calculation. Additionally, transactions having a margin possibility are included
in liquidity coverage ratio calculation by taking the largest outflowamount according to the negative values of net
margin flows realized in the last 24 months in respect of 30 days period or for liability into consideration as cash
outflow.

Secured funding consists of repo and other secured borrowings. A large part of securities whichare subjects of the
aforementioned funding transactions consist of Sovereign Bonds issued by Treasury of the Republic of Turkey and
transactions are carried outin both CBRT market and interbank market.

The Bank manages all the transactions made before its foreign branches and partnership in the framework of central
bank, markets and related legislation of the country in which the institutions are located. Legal lending limits and
high limit transactions are closely monitored in this framework.

All cash inflow and outflow items related to liquidity profile of the Bank are included in liquidity coverage ratio
tables below for the last three months.
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Average amounts of weekly liquidity coverage ratio calculations relatedto the last three months of current period
are explained in the table below.

Unweighted Amounts Weighted Amounts
Current Period TL+FC FC TL+FC FC
High Quality Liquid Assets
High Quality Liquid Assets 266.153.547 124.356.546
Cash Outflows
Retail and Small Business Customers Deposits 389.873.368 183.435.928 35.577.660 18.288.074
Stable deposits 68.193.537 1.110.375 3.409.677 55.519
Less stable deposits 321.679.831 182.325.553  32.167.983 18.232.555
Unsecured Funding other than Retail and Small Business
Customers Deposits 261.677.790 125.587.430  151.543.591 68.178.012
Operational deposits - - - -
Non-Operational deposits 199.994.518 101.394.587  98.399.319 43.985.169
Other Unsecured funding 61.683.272 24.192.843 53.144.272 24.192.843
Secured funding - - 78.922 78.922
Other Cash Outflows 3.473.170 3.473.170 3.473.170 3.473.170
Liquidity needs related to derivatives and market
valuation changes on derivatives transactions 3.473.170 3.473.170 3.473.170 3.473.170
Debts related to the structured financial products - - - -
Commitment related to debts to financial markets and
other off balance sheet liabilities - - - -
Commitments that are unconditionally revocable at any time
by the Bank and other contractual commitments 258.428.718 144.633.170 12.921.436 7.231.659
Other irrevocable or conditionally revocable commitments 245.169.276 36.462.264 21.536.223 5.412.562
Total Cash Outflows 225,131.002 102.662.399
Cash Inflows
Secured Lending Transactions - - - -
Unsecured Lending Transactions 67.664.131 31.860.507 49.727.167 29.074.061
Other contractual cash inflows 8.504 76.793.835 8.504 76.793.835
Total Cash Inflows 67.672.635 108.654.342 49.735.671 105.867.896
Capped Amounts
Total High Quality Liquid Assets 266.153.547 124.356.546
Total Net Cash Outflows 175.395.332 25.665.600
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%) 151,74 484,53

The dates and values of minimum and maximum foreign currency andtotal liquidity coverage ratios calculated
weekly related to the last threemonths of currentperiodare explained in the table below.

Current Period Minimum Minimum Maximum Maximum

FC (%) TL+FC (%) FC (%) TL+FC (%)
Week November 11, 2022 December 2, 2022 October 7, 2022 October 7, 2022
Ratio(%0) 432,12 137,02 580,31 170,73
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Averageamounts of weekly liquidity coverageratio calculations related to the last three months of prior period are
explained in the table below.

Unweighted Amounts Weighted Amounts
Prior Period TL+FC FC TL+FC FC
High Quality Liquid Assets
High Quality Liquid Assets 136.485.080 99.885.177
Cash Outflows - -
Retail and Small Business Customers Deposits 220.705.866 133.656.287 20.365.454 13.365.440
Stable deposits 34.102.642 3.765 1.705.132 188
Less stable deposits 186.603.224 133.652.522 18.660.322 13.365.252
Unsecured Fundlpg other than Retail and Small Business 153.105.835 88.096.833 79.489 818 41.963.108
Customers Deposits
Operational deposits - - - -
Non-Operational deposits 126.082.010 80.972.601 57.494.820 34.838.876
Other Unsecured funding 27.023.825 7.124.232 21.994.998 7.124.232
Secured funding - - - -
Other Cash Outflows 2.325.090 2.325.090 2.325.090 2.325.090
Liquidity needs related to derivatives and_ market 2.325.090 2.325.090 2.395.090 2.325.090
valuation changes on derivatives transactions B T B B
Debts related to the structured financial products - - - -
Commitment related to debts to financial markets and
other off balance sheet liabilities i i i i
Commitments that are unconditionally rgvocable at any time 145.973.206 105.434.274 7 298.660 5971.714
by the Bankand other contractual commitments
Other irrevocable or conditionally revocable commitments 124.959.351 25.778.514 10.966.152 3.779.047
Total Cash Outflows 120.445.174 66.704.399
Cash Inflows
Secured Lending T ransactions - - - -
Unsecured Lending Transactions 44.041.465 26.253.757 34.926.930 23.707.262
Other Contractual Cash Inflows 1.531.161 30.960.674 1.531.161 30.960.674
Total Cash Inflows 45.572.626 57.214.431 36.458.091 54.667.936
Capped Amounts
Total High Quality Liquid Assets 136.485.080 99.885.177
Total Net Cash Outflows 83.987.084 16.676.100
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%) 162,51 598,97

The dates and values of minimum and maximum foreign currency and total liquidity coverage ratios calculated
weekly related to the last threemonths of prior period are explained in the table below.

Minimum Minimum Maximum Maximum
Prior Period FC (%) TL+FC (%) FC (%) TL+FC (%)
Week November 5, 2021 October 29, 2021 November 12, 2021 December 17,2021
Ratio(%0) 446,46 137,62 662,13 189,47
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Breakdown of assets andliabilities according totheir remaining maturities:

Upto 1-3 3-12 1-5 5 years Unclassified
Current Period Demand 1 month months months years and over Total

Assets
Cash (cash in vault, effectives, cash in transit, cheques purchased)

and balances with the Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey 81.899.147 61.996.983 - - - - - 143.896.130
Banks 20.587.58€ 4.302.402 1.515.978 - - - - 26.405.966
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 31.89¢ - 5.558 20.156 127.463 992.290 388.095 1.565.457
Receivables frommoney markets - 2.461.599 - - - - - 2.461.599
Financial assets measured at fair value through ather comprehersive

income 71.082 58.791 9.571.529 36.678.346 30.857.630 106.375 77.343.753
Loans 112.601.750 96.338.323 191.510.706 148.419.759 36.510.677 (14.934.044) 570.447.171
Financial assets measured at amortised cost - 48.457 512.678 6.373.614 65.472.991 90.892.858 - 163.300.598
Other assets 46.077.408 621.494 1.604.59¢ 3.325.242 8.968.480 4.037.376 58.038.320 122.672.919
Total assets 148.596.03€ 182.103.767 100.035.927 210.801.247 259.667.039 163.290.831 43.598.746 1.108.093.593
Liabilities
Bank deposits 1.236.60¢ 2.616.798 2.582.968 3.914.800 47571 - - 10.398.746
Other deposits 273.321.94C 253.255.745 115.690.393 20.076.279 22.215 - - 662.366.572
Funds borrowed from other financial institutions - 7.735.757 13.716.151 44.378.119 3.830.605 387.788 - 70.048.420
Funds from money market 30.029.851 5.484.63% - - - - 35.514.486
Marketable securities issued - 1.854.351 13.607.653 5.762.030 19.316.290 - - 40.540.324
Miscellaneous payables 343.71C 40.319.934 307.431 - - - 1.505.935 42.477.010
Other liabilities *) 11.551.731 12.070.970 7.145.187 15.708.120 40.006.246 27.641.406 132.624.375 246.748.035
Total liabilities 286.453.99C 347.883.406 158.534.418 89.839.348 63.222.927 28.029.194 134.130.310 1.108.093.593
Net liquidity gap (137.857.954) (165.779.639) (58.498.491) 120.961.899 196.444.112 135.261.637 (90.531.564) -
Net Off-Balance Sheet Position 323.517 (461.678) (2.326.522) 199.329 2.838.289 - 572.935

Derivative Financial Assets 107.816.647 96.510.99C 54.588.952 101.477.240 71.544.105 - 431.937.934

Derivative Financial Liabilities 107.493.130 96.972.668 56.915.474 101.277.911 68.705.816 - 431.364.999
Non-Cash Loans 8.854.872 25.285.755 110.013.625 31.860.733 12.551.216 54.982.270 243.548.471
Prior Period
Total assets 92.243.72¢ 121.576.905 51.493.462 136.487.443 186.167.987 102.689.977 46.110.264 736.769.766
Total liabilities 176.846.12C 271.440.081 52.976.942 69.845.769 75.890.004 22.102.925 67.667.925 736.769.766
Liquidity gap (84.602.392) (149.863.176) (1.483.480) 66.641.674 110.277.983 80.587.052 (21.557.661) -
Net Off-Balance Sheet Position - 817.417 1.622.181 215.922 (1.779.131) 2.198.111 - 3.074.500

Derivative Financial Assets 71.498.710 76.638.255 33.775.655 86.096.221 61.842.290 - 329.851.131

Derivative Financial Liabilities 70.681.293 75.016.074 33.559.733 87.875.352 59.644.179 - 326.776.631
Non-Cash Loans 6.575.353 20.152.112 65.509.217 22.666.058 9.226.391 36.490.608 160.619.739

(1)
@

Non-performing loans are presented in the “Unclassified” colunn after being offset against expected loss provisions.

Shareholders’ equity is presented under the “Other liabilities” itemin the “Unclassified” column.
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Breakdown of financial liabilities according totheir remaining contractual maturities:

The maturity distribution of values at contracted maturity date of non-derivative financial liabilities is presented
below. Maturity segments also includethe interests of related assets and liabilities.

Demand and Above 5

Current Period® uptol month  1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years years Total
Liabilities
Deposits 533.996.220 122511971 26.042.491 72.797 - 682.623.479
Borrowings 7.883.100 14.347.407 46.646.325 5.018.971 450.651 74.346.454
Financial liabilities measured at fair

value through profit or loss 735.241 1.498.167 5.498.769 31.525.794 17.827.441 57.085.412
Funds from money market 30.071.838 5.602.867 - - - 35.674.705
Subordinated debts 12.222.546 121.714 6.703.541 16.817.742 12.985.673 48.851.216
Marketable securities issued (Net) 1.871.478 13.764.553 6.235.755 19.718.039 - 41.589.825
Total 586.780.423 157.846.679 91.126.881 73.153.343 31.263.765 940.171.091

Demand and Above 5

Prior Period® uptol month  1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years years Total
Liabilities
Deposits 362.137.154 34.160.461 6.575.666 68.335 - 402.941.616
Borrowings 4.023.221 3.569.472 42.444.460 13.004.330 732.655 63.774.138
Financial liabilities measured at fair - 388.705 2.467.767 21.511.330 15.299.094 39.666.896

value through profit or loss
Funds from money market 48.689.495 17.964 1.682.050 2.670.754 - 53.060.263
Subordinated debts 840.699 175471 13.925.427 24.296.937 9.946.031 49.184.565
Marketable securities issued (Net) 1.337.350 9.185.836 4.087.491 20.410.401 147.793 35.168.871
Total 417.027.919 47.497.909 71.182.861 81.962.087 26.125.573 643.796.349

(1) Maturitiesofnon-cash loans are described in Note 3 of Section 5.

Explanations on leverage ratio:

The main reasonforincreasein leverageratio for the currentperiod s the increase in tier 1 capital.

Current Period®

Prior Period®

On-Balance sheet exposures
On-Balance sheet assets (Excluding derivative financial instruments and credit derivatives,

: ; 1.082.697.707 671.365.097
including collaterals)

(Asset amounts deducted in determining Tier 1 capital) (8.560.613) (6.219.615)
Total on-Balance sheet exposures 1.074.137.094 665.145.482
Derivative financial instruments and credit derivatives

Replacement cost of derivative financial instruments and credit derivatives 11.847.994 14.111.211
Potential credit risk of derivative financial instruments and credit derivatives 4.486.744 2.628.177
Total derivative financial instruments and credit derivatives exposure 16.334.738 16.739.388
Securities financing transaction exposure

Total risk of gross securities financing transactions (excluding on-balance sheet exposure) 1.425.925 681.361
Agent transaction exposures - -
Total securities financing transaction exposures 1.425.925 681.361
Off-balance sheet items

Off-balance sheet exposure at gross notional amount 543.644.296 296.934.657
(Adjustments for conversion to credit equivalent amounts) (46.862.850) (21.077.112)
Total risk of offbalance sheet items 496.781.446 275.857.545
Capital and total exposure

Tier1 capital 129.253.872 64.427.583
T otal exposures 1.588.679.203 958.423.776
Leverage ratio (%) 8,13 6,76

(1) Thearithmetic average ofthe last three monthsin the related periods.
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Explanations on the presentation of financial assetsandliabilities atfa

ir values:

The following table summarizes the carrying values and fair values of some financial assets and liabilities of the
Bank. The carrying value represents the acquisition costs and accumulated interest accruals of corresponding

financial assets or liabilities.

Book Value Fair value

Current Period Prior Period Current Period Prior Period

Financial Assets 875.626.243 560.801.820 895.910.485 554.840.752
Due from money market 2.461.599 1.809.366 2.461.599 1.809.366
B_anks _ ) 26.405.966 25.605.766 26.404.761 25.603.336
Financial assets at fair value through other 77.343.753 34.509.700 77.343.753 34.509.700

comprehensive income

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 163.300.598 91.875.500 187.443.110 93.993.601
Loans 606.114.327 407.001.488 602.257.262 398.924.749
Financial Liabilities 902.458.963 586.881.963 902.395.467 586.414.838
Bank deposits 10.398.746 8.118.885 10.397.850 8.009.413
Other deposits 662.366.572 392.976.531 662.839.255 393.012.158
B_orrOV\_/ing_s o ) 70.048.420 61.124.168 70.784.443 60.326.164
F'ngﬁciegr'lﬁﬁ's"“es meastired at G value through 37.239.659 25.794.232 37.239.659 25,794,232
Subordinated debts 39.388.232 39.441.999 40.684.977 42.248.368
Marketable securities issued 40.540.324 34.253.742 37.972.273 31.852.097
Miscellaneous payables 42.477.010 25.172.406 42.477.010 25.172.406

The fair values of deposits, banks, securities issued and funds borrowed from other financial institutions are
determined by calculating the discounted cash flows using the current market interest rates.

The fair value of held-to-maturity assets is determined based on market prices or when this price is not available,
based on market prices quoted for other securities subject to the same redemption qualifications in terms of interest,
maturity and other similar conditions.

The expected fairvalue of loans and receivables is determined by calculating the discounted cash flows using the
current market interest rates for the loans with fixed interest rates. For the loans with floating interest rates (such
as overdraftsand credit card receivables), it is assumed that thecarrying value approaches tothe fair value.

TFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement”, requires classification of line items at fair value presented at the financial
statements according to the defined levels. These levels depend on the observability of data used for fair value
calculations. Classification for fair value is generated as followed below:

Level 1: Assetsor liabilities with prices recorded (unadjusted) in active markets

Level 2: Assets or liabilities that are excluded in the Level 1 of recorded prices directly observable by prices or
indirectly observable derived through prices observable fromsimilar assets or liabilities

Level 3: Assetsand liabilities where no observable market data can be used for valuation
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Accordingtothese classification principles stated, the Bank’s classification of financial as sets and liabilities carried

at their fair value are as follows:

Current Period Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 397.124 1.168.333 - 1.565.457
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 75.469.445 1.767.933 - 77.237.378
Derivative financial assets - 18.557.191 - 18.557.191
Total assets 75.866.569 21.493.457 - 97.360.026
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial liabilities - 37.239.659 - 37.239.659
Total liabilities - 13.774.007 - 13.774.007
51.013.666 - 51.013.666
Prior Period Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 211.114 771.226 228.446 1.210.786
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 33.651.122 836.025 - 34.487.147
Derivative financial assets - 22.028.234 - 22.028.234
Total assets 33.862.236 23.635.485 228.446 57.726.167
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial liabilities - 25.794.232 - 25.794.232
Total liabilities - 18.032.048 - 18.032.048
- 43.826.280 - 43.826.280

The Bankclassify its buildings carried at their fair value within property and equipmentunder level 3.

Explanations on hedge accounting:

The Bank applies the following hedge accounting models: Fair Value Hedge (“FVH”) and Cash Flow Hedge
(“CFH”).

If the fair value of the hedging instrument within fair value hedge ("FVH") is positive it is classified under,
"Derivative financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss"; if thefair value is negative, it is classified
under "Derivative financial liabilities at fair value through profit orloss".

If the fair value of the hedging instrument under hedge of cash flow hedge (" CFH") is positive, it is classified under
"Derivative financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income" if the fair value is
negative, it is classified under " Derivative financial liabilities at fair value through other comprehensive income”.

Interest rate swap and cross currency interest rate swap are used as hedging instrument in FVH and interest rate
swap, currency swap and cross currency interest rate swap are used as hedging instrument in CFH. Contractual
amounts andthe fair values as at December 31, 2022 ofthese hedginginstruments are presented in thetable below:

Current Period Prior Period
Hedging instrument Notional® Asset Liability  Notional® Asset Liability
Interest rate swap / Currency swap / Cross
currency interest rate swap (CFH) 58.891.229 7.357.997 32.350  55.477.585 3.532.488 683.193
Interest rate swap / Cross currency interest
rate swap (FVH) 1.664.564 - 1.380.313 1.225.972 - 988.874
Total 60.555.793 7.357.997 1.412.663  56.703.557 3.532.488 1.672.067

(1) Only the“sell” legs oftherelated derivatives are presented with the addition ofthe “buy” legs ofthese derivatives amounting to TL 59.161.370 (Decenber
31,2021-TL 55.747.727) the total notional of derivative financial assets amounting to TL 119.717.163 (December 31, 2021 —TL 112.451.284) is accounted

for in off-balance sheet under “Hedging Derivative Financial Instruments” line item.

The fair valuation methodology of the derivatives presented in the above table is disclosed in the accounting

principles sectionofthesefinancial statements in Section 3, Part 4.
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Fair value hedge accounting:

Starting from March 1, 2009, the Bank has hedged the possible fair value effects of changes in market interest
rates on some of its fixed interest loan portfolios and fair value effects of changes in foreign exchange rates on part
of its foreign currency funds by using interestrate swap, cross-currency interestrate swap. Starting fromJuly 28,
2015, the Bank has hedged the possible fair value effects of changes in market interest rates and foreign exchange
rates on marketable securities by using cross-currency interestrate swaps. The Bank selected to apply macro FVH
accounting for such relationship in accordance with “TAS — 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

The impact ofapplication of FVH accounting is summarized below:

Current Period
Net gain/(loss)
recognised in the
Fair value income statement
difference/ (Derivative financial
Typeof hedging Hedged item (asset  Nature of adjustment of the Net fair value of the transactions
instrument and liability) hedged risks hedged item® hedging instrument® gains/losses)®
Asset  Liability
Some of fixed
interest loan Fixed interest
portfolios, foreign and changes in
Interest rate swap /  currency funds and foreign
Cross currency marketable exchange rate
interest rate swaps securities risk (10.461) - 1.380.313 (23.015)
Prior Period
Net gain/(loss)
recognised in the
Fair value income statement
difference/ (Derivative financial
Typeof hedging Hedged item (asset  Nature of adjustment of the  Net fair value of the transactions
instrument and liability) hedged risks hedged item® hedging instrument® gains/losses)®
Asset  Liability
Some of fixed
interest loan Fixed interest
portfolios, foreign and changes in
currency funds and foreign
Cross currency marketable exchange rate
interest rate swaps securities risk 12.554 - 988.874 10.081

(1)  Theamount refers to the fair value of the hedged itemcalculated for Some of fixed interest loan portfolios, foreign currency funds and marketable securities
in accordance with hedge accounting effectiveness tests. The foreign exchange rate changes offoreign currency fundings and cross-currency swaps are
reflected to theincome statementin foreign exchange gains/ losses lineitem.

(2)  Theamounts includethe foreign exchange differences and net straight line interest accruals ofthe related derivatives.

(3)  Theineffective portion ofthe mentioned hedging transactionis TL 9.054 loss (December 31,2021 - TL 35.632l0ss).

At the inception date, the Bank documents the relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged itens

required by theFVH accounting application in accordance with “TAS 39- Financial Instruments: Recognitionand

Measurement” and its ownrisk managementpolicies and principles. Every individual relationship is approved and

documented in the same methodology. In accordance with “TAS 39- Financial Instruments: Recognition and

Measurement”, the effectiveness tests of the relationships are performed in accordance with the Bank’s risk

management policies. In the effectiveness tests, the fair values of the hedged itemare calculated using the same

assumptions used in calculation of fair values of the derivatives.

The effectiveness tests are performed prospectively and retrospectively on amonthly basis and the effectiveness
ofrisk relationships are measured. At the inception date the effectiveness tests are performed prospectively. Ifthe
underlying hedge does not conformto the FVH accounting requirements (out of the 80% - 125% effectiveness
range) or if the management voluntarily decides to discontinue the hedging relation, the adjustments made to the
carrying value (amortized cost) of the hedged itemare amortized with the straightline method and recognized in
the profit or loss accounts within the remaining maturity. In addition if the hedging instrument is sold or closed
before its maturity, the amount of the fair value adjustments of the hedged items are amortized to profit or loss
accounts with the straightline method within theremaining maturity.
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Cash flow hedge accounting:

The Bankstarted to apply macro cash flow hedge accounting fromJanuary 1, 2010 onwards in orderto hedge its
cash flowrisk fromfloating interest rate liabilities. The hedging instrumentsare USD, EUR and TL interest rate
swaps with floating receive, fixed pay legs, and thehedged itemis the cash outflows due to financing of interests
of repricing USD, EUR and TL deposits, borrowings and repos.

The impact ofapplication of CFH accounting is summarized below:

Current Period
Net gain/(loss)  Net gain/(loss)
Type of hedging Hedged item (asset Nature of Net fair value of the recognizd in  reclassified to
instrument and liability) hedged risks hedging instrument hedging funds® equity®®
Asset _ Liability
Interest rate swap / Cash flow risk
Currency swap / due to the
Cross currency Customer deposits, changes inthe
interest rate swap borrowings and repos  interest rates 7.357.997 32.350 5.379.550 3.046.675
Prior Period
Net gain/(loss)  Net gain/(loss)
Type of hedging Hedged item (asset Nature of Net fair value of the recognizd in  reclassified to
instrument and liability) hedged risks hedging instrument hedging funds® equity®@®
Asset  Liability
Cash flow risk
Interest rate swaps/ due to the
Cross currency Customer deposits, changes inthe
interest rate swap borrowings and repos interest rates 3.532.488 683.193 2.332.875 3.309.704

@) Includes deferred tax impact.
2) Includes tax and foreign exchange differences.
(3)  Theineffective portion ofthe mentioned hedging transaction is TL 358.721 gain (December 31,2021 — TL 228.112 gain).

At the inception date, the Bank documents the relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged itens
required by the CFH accounting application in accordance with “TAS — 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement” and its own risk management policies and principles. Every individual relationship is approved
and documented in the same way. In accordance with “TAS — 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”, the effectiveness tests of the relationships are performed in accordance with the Bank’s risk
management policies.

The effectiveness tests are performed on a monthly basis. If the underlying hedge does not conformto the CFH
accounting requirements (out ofthe effectiveness range 80%-125%) or if the management voluntarily decidesto
discontinue the hedging relation or the hedging instrument is sold or closed before its maturity, the cumulative
gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recognised in other comprehensive income from the period
when the hedgewas effectiveshall remain separately in equity until the forecasttransactionoccurs or is no longer
expected to occur. When the hedged forecasted transactions are no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative
gain orloss is reclassified fromother comprehensiveincome to profit or loss.

Net Investment Hedge:

The Bank hedges part of the currency translation risk of net investments in foreign operations through foreign
currency borrowings. The Bank’s EURO denominated borrowing is designated as a hedge of the net investiment
in the Bank’s certain EURO denominated subsidiaries. The totalamount of the borrowing designated as a hedge
of the net investmentat December 31,2022 is EUR 469 million (December 31, 2021 - EUR 495 million).
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Explanations on the activities carriedout on behalf of others and fiduciary transactions:

The Bank carries out trading, custody, management and consulting services on behalf of customers and on their
account. The Bank has no fiduciary transactions.

Explanations on operating segments:
The Bank carries out its banking operations through three main business units:

> Retail Banking
» Corporate Banking
» Commercial and SMEBanking

The Bank’s Retail Banking activities include card payment systems, individual, individual portfolio, blue class,
private banking. Retail Banking products and services offered to customers include card payment systens,
consumer loans (including general purpose loans, auto loans, mortgages), commercial installment loans, time and
demand deposits, gold banking, investment accounts, life and non-life insurance products and payroll services. In
addition, customers who receive their monthly salary/SSI payments through our bank are offered privileges
covering various banking transactions. Card payment systems cover the management of products, services,
campaigns for member merchants as well as the sales and activities for a variety of customertypes. Crystal, Play,
Adios and Taksit¢iare the other card brands providing services for the different segments within the W orld brand,
shopping and marketing platform of the Bank. Through its Blue Class and Private Banking activities, the Bank
serves highnet worth customers anddelivers investmentproducts to this customer segment. Amongthe products
and services offeredto Private Banking customers are time deposit products, mutual funds, foreign exchange, gold
and equity trading. Also, personal art advisory, inheritance advisory, real estate advisory, taxadvisory, education
and philanthropic advisory are offered within the Private Bankingand Wealth Management activities.

Corporate, Commercial and SME Banking segment is organized into three subgroups: Corporate Banking for
large-scale, international and multinational companies and Commercial Banking for medium-sized enterprises and
SME Banking for SME companies. Corporate and Commercial Banking, has a product range of working capital
finance, tradefinance, project finance, domestic and international non-cash loans such as letters of credit and letters
of guarantee, cash management, internet banking, financial advisory and equity management advisory. SME
Banking offer to customers SME loans and SMEbanking packages products.

The Bank’s widespread branch network and alternative distribution channels including ATMs, telephone banking,
internet banking and mobile banking are utilized to serve customers in all segments. Treasury, Asset — Liability
Management and other operations, mainly consist of treasury management’s results, operations of supporting
businessunitsandother unallocated transactions.
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Major balance sheetand income statementitems based on operating segments:

The belowtable is prepared in accordance with the Management Information System (MIS) data of the Bank.

Treasury,

asset-
Commercial liability Total
Retail Corporate, and SME  management operations of
Current Period banking banking banking and other the Bank
Operating revenue 20.936.911 6.562.696 18.276.595 57.790.941 103.567.143
Operating expenses (15.442.780) (4.982.023) (7.397.186) (10.584.552) (38.406.541)
Net operating income / (expense) 5.494.131 1.580.673 10.879.409 47.206.389 65.160.602
Dividend income® - - - 49.988 49.988
Income/(loss) from investments accounted based on equity ) ) ) 3.102.944 3.102.944

method®

Profit before tax 5.494.131 1.580.673 10.879.409 50.359.321 68.313.534
Tax provision expense® - - - (15.568.845)  (15.568.845)
Net period income 5.494.131 1.580.673 10.879.409 34.790.476 52.744.689
Net profit 5.494.131 1.580.673 10.879.409 34.790.476 52.744.689
Segment asset 218.433.296 136.525.915  196.590.142 535.695.783  1.087.245.136
Investments in associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures - - - 20.848.457 20.848.457
Total assets 218.433.296 136.525.915  196.590.142 556.544.240 1.108.093.593
Segment liabilities 406.396.874 91.213.313  164.104.986 320.122.030 981.837.203
Shareholders’ equity - - - 126.256.390 126.256.390
Total liabilities 406.396.874 91.213.313  164.104.986 446.378.420  1.108.093.593

Treasury,

asset-
Commercial liability Total
Retail Corporate, and SME  management operations of
Prior Period banking banking banking and other the Bank
Operating revenue 9.800.572 2.987.865 7.186.192 12.272.579 32.247.208
Operating expenses (7.353.332) (3.219.209) (4.673.253) (4.812.067)  (20.057.861)
Net operating income / (expense) 2.447.240 (231.344) 2.512.939 7.460.512 12.189.347
Dividend income® - - - 3.281 3.281
Income/(loss) from investments accounted based on equity ) ) ) 1.93.066 1.93.066

method®

Profitbefore tax 2.447.240 (231.344) 2.512.939 8.756.859 13.485.694
Tax provision expense® - - - (2.995.936) (2.995.936)
Net period income 2.447.240 (231.344) 2.512.939 5.760.923 10.489.758
Net profit 2.447.240 (231.344) 2.512.939 5.760.923 10.489.758
Segment asset 124.175.913  117.006.139  141.408.200 338.972.405  721.562.657
Investments in associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures - - - 15.207.109 15.207.109
Total assets 124.175.913  117.006.139  141.408.200 354.179.514  736.769.766
Segment liabilities 254.056.183 67.134.745 97.106.314 254.988.346  673.285.588
Shareholders’ equity - - - 63.484.178 63.484.178
Total liabilities 254.056.183 67.134.745 97.106.314 318.472.524  736.769.766

(1) Related items have notbeen distributed based on operating segments and presented under “ Treasury, Asset-Liability Management and Other”.
13. Explanations on fees for services receivedfrom independent auditor (9:

Persuanttodecision of POA dated March 26, 2021 and numbered 660, fees for services received fromindependent
auditorare presented below:

CurrentPeriod PriorPeriod
Independent audit fee 18.405 7.350
Tax advisory services fee 549 -
Other assurance services fee 1.696 884
Total® 20.650 8.234

(1) Value added tax (VAT) excluded amounts are presented.
(2) Relevant amountsare presented ona consolidated basis, including domestic and foreign subsidiaries ofthe Bank.
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Section Five - Explanations and notes relatedto unconsolidated financial statements
Explanations and notes relatedto assets

Information related to cash and the account of the Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey:
Information on cash and the accountof the CBRT:

Current Period Prior Period

TL FC TL FC

Cash 2.606.269 10.318.674 1.906.025 10.851.295
TheCBRT® 33.129.765 97.841.163 20.761.039 82.670.116
Other - 259 - 91
Total 35.736.034 108.160.096 22.667.064 93.521.502

(1) The balance ofgold amounting to TL 14.779.986 is accounted for under the Central Bank foreign currency account (December 31, 2021 —TL 8.606.660).

Information on the accountof the CBRT:

Current Period Prior Period

TL FC TL FC

Demand unrestricted amount™ 33.129.765 35.844.180 18.760.345 31.597.785
Time unrestricted amount - - 2.000.694 -
Time restricted amount - 2.990.650 - 2.936.460
Reserve requirement® - 59.006.333 - 48.135.871
Total 33.129.765 97.841.163 20.761.039 82.670.116

(1) The TL reserve requirement has been classified in “Central Bank Demand Unrestricted Account” based on the correspondence with BRSA letter as of
January 3,2008.

(2) The Bank keeps TL, USD, EUR and Gold reserve deposits for its TL and FX liabilities at Central Bank accounts in accordance with the legislation of the
Central Bank numbered 2013/15, “ Decree on Reserve Deposits.

Information on financial assets measuredat fair value through profit or loss:

The Bank has financial assets measured at fair value through profit orloss subject to repotransactions and given
as collateral/blockedamounts to TL 780.236 (December 31, 2021 - TL 486.010).

Information on derivative financial assets:

Positiwe differences relatedto derivative financial assets heldfor trading:

Current Period Prior Period

TL FC TL FC

Forward transactions 1.034.624 3.889 1.233.837 4.633
Swap transactions 5.262.254 3.702.838 14.696.950 2.374.437
Futures transactions 23.185 - 22.123 -
Options 279.107 893.297 94.587 69.179
Other - - - -
Total 6.599.170 4.600.024 16.047.497 2.448.249

Positiwe differences relatedto derivative financial assets heldfor hedging:

Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
Fair value hedges & - - - -
Cash flow hedges @ 3.658.070 3.699.927 3.486.396 46.092
Hedges for investments made in foreign countries - - - -
Total 3.658.070 3.699.927 3.486.396 46.092
(1) Explainedin Note 10 of section4.
Information on banks
Information on banks:
Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
Banks
Domestic 4.303.372 13.446 5.603.000 6.590
Foreign - 22.089.148 - 19.996.176
Head quarters and branches abroad - - - -
Total 4.303.372 22.102.594 5.603.000 20.002.766
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1.42. Information on foreign banks account

Unrestricted amount Restricted amount

Current Period Prior Period Current Period Prior Period

EU countries 4.883.436 981.527 - -
USA, Canada 15.355.178 18.197.385 1.515.978 732.093
OECD countries ® 34.545 29.518 - -
Offshore banking regions 1.556 543 - -
Other 298.455 55.110 - -
Total 20.573.170 19.264.083 1.515.978 732.093

(1) OECD countries except EU countries, USA and Canada.
1.4.3. Information on money markets receiveables

As of December 31, 2022 a total of TL 2.461.599 money markets transactions with domestic banks are included

in the money market receivables (December 31,2021 — TL 1.809.366).

1.5 Information on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income which are subject to

repurchase agreementsandgiven as collateral / blocked:

As of December 31, 2022 financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income given as
repo transactions amounts to TL 827.520 (31 December 2021 - TL 11.993.150). The securities, subject to
collateral/blocked are TL 28.421.698 (December 31, 2021 - TL 3.864.510) of which blocked atthe CBRT is TL

12.534.283.

1.6 Information on financial assetsatfair value through other comprehensive income:

Current Period Prior Period

Debt securities 78.495.183 35.238.392
Quoted on stock exchange 76.718.482 35.238.392
Not quoted 1.776.701 -
Share certificates 70.343 67.871
Quoted on stock exchange - -
Not quoted 70.343 67.871
Impairment provision (-® 1.221.773 796.563
Total 77.343.753 34.509.700

(1) Includes the negative differences between the acquisition cost and the market price related to the securities portfolio.

1.7 Explanations on loans:

1.71. Information on all types of loans or advance balances given to shareholders andemployees of the Bank:

Current Period Prior Period

Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash

Direct loans granted to shareholders - - - -
Corporate shareholders - - - -
Real person shareholders - - - -
Indirect loans granted to shareholders 107.694 903.139 296.623 1.070.846
Loans granted to employees 478.328 29 313.942 73
Total 586.022 903.168 610.565 1.070.919
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1.72.

hawe been restructuredor rescheduled:

Information on the firstand secondgroup loans and other receivables and loans and other receivables that

Loans under close monitoring

Not under the scope of

Loans under restructuring

Modifications on agreement

Cash Loans Standard Loans restructuring conditions Refinancing
Non-specialized loans 503.620.160 29.855.908 8.064.205 42.167.839
Loans given to entemrises 189.550.729 10.953.669 7.787.566 22.941.973
Export loans 33.737.896 2.082.299 186.519 12.822.569
Import loans - - - -
Loans given to financial sector 23.995.069 - - -
Consumer loans 103.533.623 6.051.459 - 2214536
Credit cards 103.295.497 5.637.248 - 982.092
Other 49.507.346 5.131.233 90.120 3.206.669
Specialized loans - - - -
Other receivables 1.673.103 - - -
Total 505.293.263 29.855.908 8.064.205 42.167.839

Standard loans Loans under close monitoring

12-month provisions for possible losses 4.530.314 -
Significant increase in credit risk - 15.354.526
Total 4.530.314 15.354.526

1.7.3. Loans according to their maturity structure:

Loans under close monitoring
Agreement
Standard Not under the scope of conditions
loans restructuring modified
Short-term loans 260.231.266 9.638.294 2.126.038
Medium and long-term loans 245.061.997 20.217.614 48.106.0064
Total 505.293.263 29.855.908 50.232.044
1.74. Information on loans by types and specific provisions
1.74.1. Information on loans by types and specific provisions:
Corporate, commercial and Consumer
Current Period other loans loans Credit cards Total
Standard loans 298.464.143 103.533.623 103.295.497 505.293.263
Watch list 65.202.617 8.265.995 6.619.340 80.087.952
Loans under legal follow-up 14.894.720 4.464.832 1.373.560 20.733.112
Specific provisions (-) 10.379.291 4.146.363 1.256.662 15.782.316
Total 368.182.189 112.118.087 110.031.735 590.332.011
Corporate, commercial and Consumer

Prior Period other loans loans Credit cards Total
Standard loans 209.520.842 64.999.145 47.449.068 321.969.055
Watch list 56.872.498 5.822.656 3.451.477 66.146.631
Loan§ under I_egal follow-up 14.604.181 2.862.975 1.418.646 18.885.802
Specific provisions (-) 9.963.054 2.505.366 1.249.426 13.717.846
Total 271.034.467 71.179.410 51.069.765 393.283.642
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Specific provisions provided againstloans:
Corporate,
commercial and Consumer Credit
Current Period other loans loans cards Total
Opening balance 9.963.054 2.505.366 1.249.426 13.717.846
Impairment 5.356.134 3.650.863 890.671 9.897.668
Collections (-) 1.622.025 1.013.083 416.338 3.051.446
Write-off (-) 3.317.872 996.783 467.097 4.781.752
Total 10.379.291 4.146.363 1.256.662 15.782.316
Corporate,
commercial and Consumer Credit
Prior Period other loans loans cards Total
Opening balance 10.599.982 1.341.170 1.110.797 13.051.949
Impairment 2.010.925 1.487.193 387.055 3.885.173
Collections (-) 1.620.134 317.139 246.925 2.184.198
Write-off (-) 1.027.719 5.858 1.501 1.035.078
Total 9.963.054 2.505.366 1.249.426 13.717.846
Fair value of collaterals:
Corporate, commercial and other Consumer
Current Period loans loans Credit cards Total
Watch List 42.642.724 191.760 - 42.834.484
Loans under legal follow-up 4.439.865 52.027 - 4.491.892
Total 47.082.589 243.787 - 47.326.376
Corporate, commercial and other Consumer
Prior Period loans loans Credit cards Total
Watch List 34.589.805 308.416 - 34.898.221
Loans under legal follow-up 5.340.466 56.318 - 5.396.784
Total 39.930.271 364.734 - 40.295.005
1.75. Information on consumer loans, individual credit cards, personnel loans and personnel credit cards:
Medium
Short-term and long-term Total
Consumer loans-TL 15.091.052 86.831.064 101.922.116
Real estate loans 55.845 13.531.526 13.587.371
Automotive loans 393.353 7.852.464 8.245.817
Consumer loans 14.641.854 65.447.074 80.088.928
Consumer loans-FC indexed - 24.758 24.758
Real estate loans - 23.704 23.704
Automotive loans - - -
Consumer loans - 1.054 1.054
Individual credit cards-TL 78.120.791 397.582 78.518.373
With installments 43.340.300 20.735 43.361.035
Without installments 34.780.491 376.847 35.157.338
Individual credit cards-FC 248.562 - 248.562
With installments - - -
Without installments 248.562 - 248.562
Personnel loans-TL 44.282 132.181 176.463
Real estate loans - 2.499 2.499
Automotive loans 376 3.240 3.616
Consumer loans 43.906 126.442 170.348
Personnel loans-FC indexed - - -
Real estate loans - - -
Automotive loans - - -
Consumer loans - - -
Personnel credit cards-TL 272.001 550 272.551
With installments 156.342 413 156.755
Without installments 115.659 137 115.796
Personnel credit cards-FC 1.416 - 1.416
With installments - - -
Without installments 1.416 - 1.416
Credit depositaccount-TL (real person)® 9.676.281 - 9.676.281
Total 103.454.385 87.386.135 190.840.520

(1)  TL 27.898 ofthe credit deposit account belongs to the loans used by personnel.
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Medium
Short-term and long-term Total
Commercial installments loans-TL 6.205.753 28.084.292 34.290.045
Business loans 3.084 1.884.307 1.887.391
Automotive loans 1.136.038 14.562.304 15.698.342
Consumer loans 5.066.631 11.637.681 16.704.312
Commercial installments loans-FC indexed - 984 984
Business loans - - -
Automotive loans - - -
Consumer loans - 984 984
Corporate credit cards-TL 30.543.647 324.026 30.867.673
With installment 22.118.096 319.034 22.437.130
Without installment 8.425.551 4.992 8.430.543
Corporate credit cards-FC 6.262 - 6.262
With installment - - -
Without installment 6.262 - 6.262
Credit depositaccount-TL (legal person) 1.805.210 - 1.805.210
Total 38.560.872 28.409.302 66.970.174
Distribution of loans by users®:
Current Period Prior Period
Public 17.038.689 7.734.359
Private 568.342.526 380.381.327
Total 585.381.215 388.115.686
(1) Non-performing loans are notincluded.
Distribution of domestic and foreignloans®:
Distribution has beendisclosed based on the location wherethe customers operate:
Current Period Prior Period
Domestic loans 577.086.640 381.609.663
Foreign loans 8.294.575 6.506.023
Total 585.381.215 388.115.686
(1) Non-performing loans are notincluded.
Loans grantedto associates and subsidiaries:
Current Period Prior Period
Direct loans granted to associates and subsidiaries 1.528.739 655.614
Indirect loans granted to associates and subsidiaries - -
Total 1.528.739 655.614
Information on credit-impaired (Stage 3):
Current Period Prior Period
Loans with limited collectability 2.222.668 1.182.854
Loans with doubtful collectability 3.223.447 919.102
Uncollectable loans 10.336.201 11.615.890
Total 15.782.316 13.717.846
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1.711. Information on non-performing loans (net):
1.711.1. Information on restructuredloans from non-performing loans:

111. Group 1V. Group V. Group
Loanswith limited Loans with doubtful

collectability collectability Uncollectible loans

Current Period
Gross amounts before specific reserves 670.884 370.519 4.128.764
Restructured loans 670.884 370.519 4.128.764

Prior Period
Gross amounts before specific reserves 224.398 264.332 2.593.383
Restructured loans 224.398 264.332 2.593.383
1.711.2. Information on the movement of total non-performing loans:
111. Group 1V. Group V. Group
Loans with limited Loans with doubtful

collectability collectability Uncollectible loans
Prior Period 1.730.133 1.367.787 15.787.882
Additions (+) 8.010.839 329.300 2.884.509
Transfers from other categories of non- performing loans (+) - 5.941.237 3.148.964
Transfer to other categories of non- performing loans (-) 5.941.237 3.148.964 -
Collections (-) 488.708 606.170 3.500.708
Write-ofs (-) - - 3.109.260
Sold (-) - - 1.672.492
Corporate and commercial loans - - 208.612
Consumer loans - - 996.783
Credit cards - - 467.097
Other - - -
Current Period 3.311.027 3.883.190 13.538.895
Specific provision (-) 2.222.668 3.223.447 10.336.201
Net balance on balance sheet 1.088.359 659.743 3.202.694

As of December 31, 2022, in accordance with the changes on “Provisioning Regulation” published in the Official
Gazette No. 30961 dated November 27,2019 by BRSA, the Bank has written off corporate loans amountingto TL
3.109.260 that are classified under Group 5, after collaterals deducted approximately 100% of the remaining
receivables provisioned hence there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. After the loans had written off within
the period in accordance with the changes on Provisioning Regulation, non performing loan ratio decreased from
3,91% to 3,42%.

TL 1.889.254 of non-performing loans, some of which were written off in previous periods, were sold to various
assetmanagementcompanies for TL 318.031.

1.711.3. Information on non-performing loans granted as foreign currency loans:

111. Group 1V. Group V. Group
Loanswith limited Loans with doubtful
collectability collectability Uncollectible loans

Current Period
Period end balance 1.968.423 1.818.759 5.878.480
Specific provision (-) 1.388.732 1.803.114 3.371.100
Net balance on-balance sheet 579.691 15.645 2.507.380
Prior Period
Period end balance 597.711 171.965 6.611.508
Specific provision (-) 483.031 137.296 3.900.372
Net balance on-balance sheet 114.680 34.669 2.711.136
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1.711.4. Information on the grossand netamounts of the non-performing loans according to types of borrowers:

I11. Group 1V. Group V. Group

Loanswith limited Loans with doubtful
collectability collectability Uncollectible loans
Current Period (net) 1.088.359 659.743 3.202.694
Loans granted to real persons and corporate entities (gross) 3.311.027 3.883.190 13.454.221
Provision amount (-) 2.222.668 3.223.447 10.251.527
Loans granted to real persons and corporate entities (net) 1.088.359 659.743 3.202.694
Banks (gross) - - 774
Provision amount (-) - - 774
Banks (net) - - -
Other loans (gross) - - 83.900
Provision amount (-) - - 83.900
Other loans (Net) - - -
Prior Period (net) 547.279 448.685 4.171.992
Loans granted to real persons and corporate entities (gross) 1.730.133 1.367.787 15.703.208
Specific provision amount (-) 1.182.854 919.102 11.531.216
Loans granted to real persons and corporate entities (Net) 547.279 448.685 4,171.992
Banks (gross) - - 774
Specific provision amount (-) - - 774
Banks (net) - - -
Other loans and receivables (gross) - - 83.900
Specific provision amount (-) - - 83.900
Other loans and receivables (Net) - - -

1.7.11.5. Information on interestaccruals, rediscounts andvaluation differences calculated for non-performing loans
and their provisions:

I11. Group 1V. Group V. Group
Loanswith limited Loans with doubtful

collectability collectability Uncollectible loans

Current Period (net) 147.012 140.162 314.154
Interest accruals and rediscounts and valuation differences 422.447 475.126 1.227.208
Provision amount (-) 275.435 334.964 913.054
Prior Period (net) 44,797 48.357 473.687
Interest accruals and rediscounts and valuation diflerences 141.651 159.451 1.384.551
Provision amount (-) 96.854 111.094 910.864

1.7.12. Explanation on liquidation policy for uncollectible loans and receivables:

Uncollectible loans and receivables, which are classified in accordance with the Provisioning Regulation, are
collected through legal follow-up, voluntary payments and liquidation of collaterals.

1.7.13. Explanation on write-off policies:

In orderto ensure the liquidation of non-performing loans and other receivables related to the liquidation policy,
to provide the maximum collection all possible alternatives within the framework of the legislation are applied,
and in case of collection, liquidation or receivables with no possibility of restructuring, the legal follow-up and
conversionofcollaterals into cash method is applied.

The receivables that are determined to be uncollectible in the Legal Follow-up process regarding the write-off
policy can be deleted by the resolution of the Board of Directors by fulfilling the requirements in the relevant lawns,
regulationsand internal directives.

Besides, in accordance with the changes on “Provisioning Regulation” published in the Official Gazette No. 30961
dated November 27,2019 by the BRSA, the Bank, during the period deemed appropriate under TFRS 9, may write
off part of the loans for which the Bank has no reasonable expectation of recovery and that are classified under
group five with a life time expected credit loss due the to default of debtor, starting fromthe following reporting
date that the loan is classified in group five. Write off is only an accounting application in accordance with the
related change in the regulation and it does not result in waive fromthe Bank’s right to receive.
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Information on financial assets atamortized cost:

Characteristics and carrying values of financial assets measured at amortised cost which are subject to
repurchase agreementsandgiven as collateral / blocked:

As of December 31, 2022 financial assets measured at amortised costgivenas repotransactions amounting to TL
29.017.189 (December 31, 2021 - TL 38.973.794 TL). The securities subject to collateral/blocked are TL
77.529.451 (December31, 2021 - TL 37.175.723 TL) ofwhich blocked at the CBRT is TL 14.502.644.

Information on public sector debt securities measuredat amortized cost:

Current Period Prior Period

Government bond 162.969.794 91.544.696
Treasury bill - -
Other public sector debt securities 330.804 330.804
Total 163.300.598 91.875.500

Information on financial assets measuredat amortized cost:

Current Period Prior Period

Debt securities 167.960.745 94.485.705
Quoted on stock exchange 167.960.745 94.485.705
Not quoted - -
Impairment provision (-)® 4.660.147 2.610.205
Total 163.300.598 91.875.500

1) Includes amortisation of the premiums paid during the purchase of the securities throughout the maturity ofthe securities.

Mowvement of financial assets measuredat amortized costwithin the period:

Current Period Prior Period
Beginning balance 91.875.500 50.741.912
Foreign currency diflerences on monetary assets® 50.867.573 21.284.748
Purchases during the year 30.470.261 22.521.429
Disposals through sales and redemptions(-) 7.862.794 1.376.662
Impairment provision (-)® 2.049.942 1.295.927
Period end balance 163.300.598 91.875.500

(1)  Alsoindudes the changes in the interest income accruals.
2) Includes amortisation of the premiums paid during the purchase of the securities throughout the maturity ofthe securities.

Information on investments inassociates (net):

Information on unconsolidatedinvestments inassociates:

Bank’s share holding

percentage if BanKk’s risk
Address (City/ differentvoting group share holding
No Description Country) percentage (%) percentage(%o)
1. Tani Pazarlama ve iletisim Hizmetleri A.S. Istanbul/T urkey 38,05 38,05
2. Banque de Commerce et de Placements S.A. Geneva/Switzerland 30,67 30,67
3. Kredi Kayit Biirosu® Istanbul/T urkey 18,18 18,18
4, Bankalararas1 Kart Merkezi ® Istanbul/T urkey 4,89 4,89
Income from
marketable
securities Current period Prior period
No Total assets  Shareholders’ equity Total fixed assets Interest income portfolio profit/loss profit/loss Fair value
1. 92.633 19.343 43.098 5.167 - (41.648) (4.465) -
2. 70.708.263 12.236.665 43.092 1.732.652 239.300 716.296 220.850 -
3. 766.973 155.774 320.818 25.990 - 29.975 47.719 -
4. 679.563 579.361 114.819 53.202 - 207.417 93.651 -

(1) Financial statement information is September 30, 2022.
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1.92 Mowvement of unconsolidatedinvestments in associates:

Capital commitments
Shareholding percentage at the end of the period (%)

Current Period Prior Period
Balance at the beginning of the period 2.089.19C 1.214.883
Movements during the period 821.218 874.307
Purchases - 26.660]
Free shares obtained profit from current year’s share E
Profit ffom current year’s income 8
Sales(-) - .
Revaluation (decrease) / increase® 870.196 847.647,
Impairment provision (-)© 48.978 -
Balance at the end of the period 2.089.190

2.910.408

(1) Includes the differences in the other comprehensive income related with the equity method accounting.

(2) Includes dividend income received inthe cumentperiod.

1.93 Information on sectors andthe carrying amounts of unconsolidated financial investments in associates:

Current Period

Prior Period

Banks

Insurance companies
Factoring companies
Leasing companies
Finance companies

Other financial investments

2.871.962

2.050.744

Total

2.871.962

2.050.744

1.94 Information on investments inassociates quoted on a stock exchange:
None (December 31, 2021 - None).

1.10 Information on shareholders' equity of the significantsubsidiaries (net):

There is no deficit of regulatory limits on capital structure of the subsidiaries which are included in the consolidated

capitaladequacy ratio calculation in accordance with the capital adequacy ratio limits.

1.10.1 Information on shareholders' equity of the significantsubsidiaries:

Yapi Kredi
Yatinm Yap1 Kredi Yapi Kredi
Menkul Yapi Kredi Finansal Portfoy Yapi Kredi Bank
Degerler A.S.  Faktoring A.S.  Kiralama A.O. Yonetimi A.S. Nederland N.V.
Core capital
Paid in capital 98.918 130.000 389.928 17.642 112.442
Inflation adjustment to share capital - - - - -
Share premium - - - - -
Other capital reserves 104.470 - (217.104) - -
Other accumulated comprehensive income 39.576 (15.929) 38.644 (4.255) -
that will not be classified in profit or loss
Other accumulated comprehensive income 829 - - - 7.260.945
that will be classified in profit or loss
Legal reserves 76.081 26.000 79.305 62.454 -
Extraordinary reserves 600.750 483.838 659.399 - 1.332.429
Other profit Reserves - - - - -
Income or Loss 928.037 390.435 3.288.085 331.233 616.341
Current Year Income/Loss 997.983 390.435 837.136 331.233 616.341
Prior Years' Income/Loss (69.946) - 2.450.949 - -
Leasehold improvements (-) - 547 - 297 26
Intangible assets (-) 31.053 8.799 21.781 1.517 7.097
Total core capital 1.817.608 1.004.998 4.216.476 405.260 9.315.034
Supplementary capital 25.160 65.826 247.868 - 66.284
Capital 1.842.768 1.070.824 4.464.344 405.260 9.381.318
Deductions from the capital - - - - -
Total shareholders’ equity 1.842.768 1.070.824 4.464.344 405.260 9.381.318

The above information is based onthe consolidated financial statements of the Bank as of December 31, 2022.

Paid-in capital is a capital which have beendisclosed as Turkish Lira in the articles of incorporationand registered

in trade register.
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Inflation adjustmentto share capital is the adjustment difference arising frominflation accounting.

Extraordinary Reserves are the reserves which represent the remaining net income of the previous periods after
providing the legal reserves in accordance with the General Assembly of the Bank.

Legal reserves are the income reserves that are provided according to the first paragraph and the third subparagraph
of the second paragraph ofthe article no 466 and no 467 of the Turkish Commercial Code No. 6762 allocated as
capital reserves separated fromannual profit accordingto the laws of foundation.

Information on subsidiaries®:

Bank’s share
holding

percentage if Bank’s risk

differentvoting group

Address percentage share holding

No Description (City/ Country) (%) percentage (%)
1  Yapi Kredi Holding B.V. Amsterdam/Holland 100,0C 100,00
2 Yapi Kredi Yatirnm Menkul Degerler A.S. Istanbul/T urkey 99,98 100,00
3 Yapi Kredi Faktoring A.S. Istanbul/T urkey 99,95 100,00
4 Yapi Kredi Finansal Kiralama A.O. Istanbul/T urkey 99,99 99,99
5  Yap: Kredi Portfoy Yonetimi A.S. Istanbul/T urkey 12,65 99,99
6  Yapi1 Kredi Bank Nederland N.V. Amsterdam/Holland 67,24 100,00
7  Yap: Kredi Azerbaycan Baku/Azerbaijan 99,8C 100,00
8  Enternasyonal Turizm Yatirim A.§ Istanbul/T urkey 99,99 99,99
9  Yapi Kredi Kiiltiir Sanat Yayincilik Tic.ve San.A.S. Istanbul/T urkey 100,0C 100,00
10 Yap1 Kredi Teknoloji A.S. Istanbul/T urkey 100,0C 100,00
11 Yapi Kredi Finansal Teknolojiler A.S.® Istanbul/T urkey 100,00 100,00

(1) It has been decided to purchaseall the shares of Bankhaus J. Faisst oHG ("BHF"), which has banking licenses, in order to carry outbanking activitiesin
Germany, and theprocess of obtaining legal permissions continues.
(2) Inorder to manage and operate new digital business models, the Bank established Yapi Kredi Finansal Teknoloji A.S. and registered on Februay 7,

2022.

Main financial figures of the subsidiariesinorder of the above table:

Financial statement information disclosed consolidated financial statements results.

Income Current Prior
Total Shareholders’ Total Interest from marketable period period Required
assets equity  fixed assets income securities portfolio profit/loss profit/loss Market value equity
1 88.750 87.275 - - - 938 574 - -
2 12.576.106 1.848.661 74.705 804.297 15.280 997.983 382.664 - -
3 10.897.824 1.014.344 15.440 1.394.988 - 390.435 130.809 - -
4 26.102.749 4.238.257 29.926 2.064.569 - 837.136 458.471 - -
5 499.660 407.074 4.510 48.186 - 331.233 162.118 - -
6 43.903.348 9.322.158 49.758 1.116.233 56.451 616.341 250.238 - -
7 5.561.842 1.064.197 241.791 186.722 16.980 53.598 (15.409) - -
8 76.005 63.108 12.276 5.222 - 6.390 5.613 - -
9 112.177 62.671 1.770 98 - 4.270 12.688 - -
10 60.992 24.201 3.405 2.458 - 939 6.317 - -
11 25.015 25.015 - - - - - - -
Movement schedule of subsidiaries:
Current Period Prior Period

Balance at the beginning of the period 13.110.619 8.811.658
Movements in period 4.795.114 4.298.961

Purchases -

Free shares obtained profit from current years share -
Dividends from current year income 3.102.944 1.293.019

Sales (-)® 163.842
Revaluation increase/decreasel® @ 1.995.716 3.048.89(
Impairment provision (-)® 139.704 42.948
Balance at the end of the period 17.905.733 13.110.619

Capital commitments

Shareholding percentage at the end of the period (%)

(1) The paid in capital amounting to EUR 60 million of Yap1 Kredi Bank Malta Ltd, of which 100% ofits shares indirectly owned by the Bank through Yapi
Kredi Holding B.V., was reduced within the framework ofthe liquidation process on 20 May 2022 and concurmrently the paid in capital of Y ap1 Kredi Holding
B.V. amounting to EUR 102 million, was reduced to EUR 42 million.

(2) Includes the shares taken fromthe other comprehensive income according to the equity method.

(3) Includes dividend income received inthe cumrent period.
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1.105 Sectoral information on financial subsidiaries andthe related carrying amounts:

Financial subsidiaries Current Period Prior Period|
Banks 7.330.588  4.961.699
Insurance companies - -
Factoring companies 1.015.337 635.757
Leasing companies 4.237.311  3.340.483
Finance companies - -
Other financial subsidiaries 5.322.497  4.172.680
Total 17.905.733 13.110.619

1.106 Subsidiariesquotedon stock exchange:
None (December 31, 2021 - None).
1.11 Information on joint ventures (net):
None (December 31, 2021 - None).
1.12 Information on lease receivables (net):
None (December 31, 2021 - None).
1.13 Information on tangible assets:

Leased Right Other
Immovable fixed  Vehicles -of-use tangible Total
assets assets fixed assets
Prior Period
Cost 3.434.880 164.152 2.964 1.663.687 2.185.450 7.451.133
Accumulated depreciation (-) 927.542 154.301 2.699 424.433 1.090.778 2.599.753
Net book value 2.507.338 9.851 265 1.239.254 1.094.672 4.851.38(
Current Period
Net book value at beginning of the period 2.507.338 9.851 265  1.239.254 1.094.672 4.851.38(
Additions® 3.910.344 26.353 2.063 1.169.702 864.628 5.973.09(
Disposals (-) net 183.514 4 18 247.091 1.723  432.35(
Reversal of impairment 207.329 - - - - 207.324
Impairment (-) - - - - -
Depreciation (-) 42.846 1.659 97 408.649 299.521 752.773
Net book value at end of the period 6.398.651 34541 2213 1.753.216 1.658.056 9.846.671
Cost at theend of the period 7.331.646 166.897 5.005 2.447.780 2.959.765 12.911.093
Accumulated depreciation at the period end (-) 932.995 132.356 2.792 694.564 1.301.709 3.064.414
Net book value 6.398.651 34.541 2.213 1.753.216 1.658.056 9.846.671

(1) Includes branch and atm leases accounted within the scope of TFRS 16.
(2) The Bank revalued itsreal estates included in tangible fixed assets on June 30, 2022, and the revaluation increase amounting to TL 3.748.858 is included in the additions.

As of December 31, 2022, the Bank had no provision forimpairment (December 31, 2021 — TL 207.329) forthe
propertyand equipment.

1.14 Information on intangible assets:

Current Period Prior Period
Balance at the beginning of the period 2.001.661 1.916.463
Additions during the period 420.671 291.351
Unused and disposed items (-) 246 2.629
Provision for goodwill impairment (-) 979.493 -
Amortization expenses (-) 235.642 203.524
Balance at the end of the period 1.206.951 2.001.661

1.15 Information on investment property:
None (December 31, 2021 - None).
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Information on deferredtax :

Current Period Prior Period
Tax base Deferredtax Tax base Deferredtax
Expected credit loss 22.707.362 5.676.841 17.222.220 3.614.426
Provision for employee benefit 3.181.053 795.263 1.078.134 215.627
Provision for pension fund 2.945.243 736.311 1.813.098 362.620
Valuation difference of securities portfolio 1.926.685 481.672 2.873.192 795.327
Subsidiaries, investment in associates andshare certificates 868.614 217.153 131.456 26.291
Other 4.134.014 1.031.922 2.541.998 509.537
Total deferred tax asset 35.762.971 8.939.162 25.660.098 5.523.828
Property, equipment and intangibles, net 8.043.467 1.496.348 3.698.735 540.216
Derivative financial assets 3.215.476 803.869 5.535.212 1.234.406
Other 5.967.873 1.491.969 1.151.302 264.634
Total deferredtax liability 17.226.816 3.792.186 10.385.249 2.039.256
Deferredtax asset/ (liability) net 18.536.155 5.146.976 15.274.849 3.484.572

In accordance with TAS 12, deferred taxassets and deferred taxliabilities in the financial statements are clarified
and deferred taxasset amountingto TL 5.146.976 is presented in the financial statements (December 31, 2021 —

TL 3.484.572 deferred taxassets).

Mowvement schedule of assets heldfor resale and related to discontinuedoperations:

Current Period Prior Period

Net book value at the beginning of the period 1.327.210 709.869
Additions @ 228.266 1.045.265
Disposals (-), net 519.619 429.324
Impairment provision reversal 16 1.400
Impairment (-) - -
Depreciation (-) - -
Net book value at the end of the period 1.035.873 1.327.210
Cost at theend of the period 1.037.344 1.328.824
Accumulated depreciation at the end of the period (-) 1.471 1.614
Net book value at the end of the period 1.035.873 1.327.210

(1) Incurrent period, the carrying value of asset held for resale with a right of repurchase is TL 33.196 (December 31, 2021 — TL 900.827). The total net canying
value ofasset held for resale with a right of repurchase is TL 913.642 (December 31,2021 — TL 1.196.027).

As of December 31, 2022, the Bank booked impairment provision onassets held for resale with an amount of TL

1.223 (December 31, 2021 — TL 1.239).
Information on other assets:

As of December 31, 2022, other assets do not exceed 10% of the total assets.
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2 Explanations and notes relatedto liabilities

2.1 Information on deposits:

2.1.1 Information on maturity structure of deposits/collected funds:

Cumulative
Upto1l 6 Months- 1 Year and savings
Current Period® Demand month 1-3 Months  3-6 Months 1 Year over account Total
Saving deposits 48.652.818 5.615.732  147.022.497  7.061.217 733.408 4.350.077 472  213.436.221
Foreign currenc
depos?ts Y 149.058.417  30.315.393 63.639.967 3.668.840 1.469.813 1.766.066 - 249.918.496
Residents in Turkey 145.816.938  29.914.710 61.723.338 3.384.220 1.332.362 794.816 - 242.966.384
Residents abroad 3.241.479 400.683 1.916.629 284.620 137.451 971.250 - 6.952.112
Public sectordeposits 1.073.991 1.812.672 106.067 3.730 - - - 2.996.460
Commercial deposits 42.969.790 29.848.734 64.121.906 13.448.552 109.747 7.225.835 - 157.724.564
Other institutions
deposits 340.198 606.623 3.278.473 414.220 722 13.487 - 4.653.723
Precious metals vault 31.226.726 - 1.125.635 - 1.152.310 132.437 - 33.637.108
Bank deposits 1.236.609 2.286.662 1.710.701 3.042.361 1.955.815 166.598 - 10.398.746
The CBRT - - - - - - - -
Domestic banks 4,342 2.154.596 887.874 3.042.361 1.955.815 166.598 - 8.211.586
Foreign banks 473.111 132.066 822.827 - - - - 1.428.004
Participation banks 759.156 - - - - - - 759.156
Other - - - - - - - -
Total 274.558.549  70.485.816 281.005.246 27.638.920 5.421.815 13.654.500 472  672.765.318
Cumulatie
Upto1l 6 Months- 1 Year savings
Prior Period Demand month 1-3 Months  3-6 Months 1 Year and over account Total
Saving deposits 22.111.618 4.191.239 47.945.594 909.775 216.979 480.874 688 75.856.767
Foreign currency
deposits 110.100.707 28.233.704 80.040.324 8.818.938  1.744.737 1.436.993 - 230.375.403
Residents in Turkey 108.499.354 27.828.517 77.421.578 8.685.909 1.602.143 912.347 - 224.949.848
Residents abroad 1.601.353 405.187 2.618.746 133.029 142.594 524.646 - 5.425.555
Public sectordeposits 1.832.847 9.106 38.455 21.947 131 41 - 1.902.527
Commercial deposits 14.039.210  20.250.529 25.198.224 117.320 696.524 27.873 - 60.329.680
Other institutions deposits 201.166 237.363 1.728.377 24.270 67.643 255,287 - 2.514.106
Precious metals vault 20.180.484 - 416.447 - 1.332.472 68.645 - 21.998.048
Bank deposits 2.764.181 2.626.562 488.047 1.228.300 924.793 87.002 - 8.118.885
The CBRT - - - - - - - -
Domestic banks 7.048 2.579.646 472.761 1.228.300 924.793 87.002 - 5.299.550
Foreign banks 1.765.738 46.916 15.286 - - - - 1.827.940
Participation banks 991.395 - - - - - - 991.395
Other - - - - - - - -
Total 171.230.213 55.548.503 155.855.468 11.120.550 4.983.279 2.356.715 688 401.095.416

(1) W ithinthe scope ofthe "Decision on Supporting Deposit and Participation Accounts Against Exchange Rate Increases (Decision N o: 5206)" published in the
Official GazettedatedFebruary24,2022and numbered3 1760,andthe CBRT'scommuniquésnumbered 2021/14,2021/16,2022/7 and2022/11,the *“ Currency
protected TL deposit” product which provide protection against foreign currency exchange rate changes for TL deposits was launched for customers. In this
context as ofthe report date, thetotal amount of deposits openedis TL 121.858.904 (31 December 2021 — TL 3.193.103).
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2.12 Information on saving deposits insurance:

2.12.1 Information on saving deposits under the guarantee of the deposits insurance fund and exceeding the limit
of deposit insurance fund:

Under the guarantee of deposit

insurance Exceeding limit of the depositinsurance
Saving deposits Current Period Prior Period Current Period Prior Period
Deposits 81.917.941 38.474.256 131.543.625 37.382.499
Foreign currency saving deposits 33.461.579 26.996.762 105.018.961 99.859.979
Other deposits 13.580.277 8.382.987 16.621.798 11.481.306

Foreign branches’ deposits under foreign

authorities’ insurance - - - -
Off-shore banking regions’ deposits under

foreign authorities’ insurance - - - -

Under the guarantee of deposit

insurance Exceeding limit of the depositinsurance

Legal entities® deposits” Current Period Prior Period Current Period Prior Period
Deposits 13.503.981 - 125.981.694 -

Foreign currency saving deposits 3.477.805 - 107.062.919 -

Other deposits 453.968 - 2.980.166 -

Foreign branches’ deposits under foreign

authorities’ insurance - - - -
Off-shore banking regions’ deposits under

foreign authorities’ insurance - - - -
(1) All deposit and participation funds have been covered by insurance except official institutions, credit institutions and financial institutions in accordance with
the “ Amendment of Regulation on the Insurable Depositand Participation Funds and Premiums to be Collected by the Savings Deposit Insurance Fund”
publishedinthe Official Gazette dated August 27, 2022 and numbered 31936.
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Saving deposits which are not under the guarantee of saving deposit insurance fundof real persons:

Current Period Prior Period
Foreign branches’ deposits and other accounts® 3.017.032 22.114
Saving deposits and other accounts of controlling shareholders and deposits of their
mother, father, spouse, children in care - -
Saving deposits and other accounts of president and members of board of directors,
CEO and vice presidents and deposits of their mother, father, spouse, children in care 1.058.777 353.230
Saving deposits and other accounts in scope of the property holdings derived from
crime defined in article 282 of Turkish criminal law no:5237 dated 26.09.2004 - -
Saving deposits in deposit bank which is established in Turkey in order to engage in
offshore banking activities solely - -
(1) Deposits oflegal entities which are not covered by Deposit Insurance Fund, are incdluded for the current period
Information on trading derivative financial liabilities:
2.2.1 Negatiwe differences table for derivative financial liabilities heldfor trading:
Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
Forward transactions 212.753 3.747 1.609.823 3.431
Swap transactions 6.141.759 5.658.760 11.099.391 3.583.345
Futures transactions 13.354 - 3.346 -
Options 126.456 204.515 9.660 50.985
Other - - - -
Total 6.494.322 5.867.022 12.722.220 3.637.761
Negatiwe differences table for derivative financial liabilities heldfor hedging:
Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
Fair value hedges @ 1.380.313 - 988.874 -
Cash flow hedges © 32.350 - - 683.193
Hedges for investments made in foreign countries - - -
Total 1.412.663 - 988.874 683.193
(1) Explained in Note 10 ofsection 4.
Information about banks and other financial institutions:
Information on borrowings:
Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
The CBRT borrowings - - - -
From domestic banks and institutions 827.825 1.467.010 797.351 780.731
From foreign banks, institutions and funds 949.471 66.804.114 748.055 58.798.031
Total 1.777.296 68.271.124 1.545.406 59.578.762
Information on maturity structure of borrowings:
Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
Short-term 811.104 12.417.743 623.569 7.394.532
Medium and long-term 966.192 55.853.381 921.837 52.184.230
Total 1.777.296 68.271.124 1.545.406 59.578.762

233
2331

Information on securitization borrowings:

The Bank obtains borrowings via its structured entity, Diversified Payment Rights Finance Company, with
securitizationtransactions which is founded onits future money transfers within its funding programme.

Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
From foreign banks - - -
From foreign institutions - 41.492.246 - 31.133.988
From foreign funds - - -
Total - 41.492.246 - 31.133.98§
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2.33.2 Information on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss :

The Bank classified some of its financial liabilities as the financial liabilities classified at fair value through
profit/loss in orderto eliminate the accounting mismatchat the initial recognition in accordance with TFRS 9. As
of December 31, 2022, the total amount of financial liabilities classified as fair value through profit/loss is TL
37.239.659 (December 31, 2021 —TL 25.794.232) with an accrued interest income of TL 2.366.494 (December
31, 2021 - TL 1.512.319 income) and with a fair value difference of TL 1.107.970 recognized as an income
(December31, 2021 - TL 1.145.200 income). On the other hand, the nominalamounts ofthe total return swaps
and bond forwards which are closely related with these financial liabilities as of December 31, 2022 are TL
38.671.238 (December 31,2021 - TL 26.657.676) forbuy legsandsell legs with a fair value differences amounting
to TL 2.554.954 liability (December 31, 2021 - TL 1.377.439 liability). The mentioned total return swaps have8
year maturity in average.

2.34 Information on marketable securities issued:

Current Period Prior Period

TL FC TL FC

Bonds 7.407.273 2.031.595 5.828.651 -
Bills® 665.581 30.435.875 1.411.897 27.013.194
Total 8.072.854 32.467.470 7.240.548 27.013.194

(1) Including mortgage backed securitiesamounting to TL 1.483.345 as of December 31, 2022 (December 31,2021 —TL 2.037.105).

2.4  Information on other liabilities:
As of December 31, 2022, other liabilities do not exceed 10% of the total balance sheet commitments.

2.5 Information on lease payables:

Current Period Prior Period

Gross Net Gross Net

Less than 1 year 601.905 417.121 435.020 291.639
Between 1 —4 years 1.227.178 851.753 879.335 589.544
More than 4 years 846.472 586.517 633.999 425.034
Total 2.675.555 1.855.391 1.948.354 1.306.217

2.6  Information on provisions:
2.6.1 Information on reserve for employee benefit:

In accordance with Turkish Labour Law, the reserve for employment termination benefits is calculated as the
present value of the probable future obligation in case of the retirement of employees. “TAS — 19 Employee
Benefits” necessitates actuarial valuation methods to calculate the liabilities of enterprises.

The following actuarial assumptions were used in the calculation of total liabilities :

Current Period Prior Period
Discount rate (%) 0,55 4,45
Possibility of being eligible for retirement (%) 95,20 95,39

The principal actuarial assumption is that the maximum liability will increase in line with inflation. Thus, the
discount rate applied represents the expected real rate after adjusting for the effects of future inflation. As the
annual ceiling is revised semi-annually, the ceiling of full TL 19.982,83 effective from January 1,2023 (January
1, 2022 - full TL 10.848,59) has been taken into consideration in calculating the reserve for employment
termination benefits.

Movementofemploymenttermination benefits liability in the balancesheet:

Current Period Prior Period
Prior period ending balance 897.413 635.407
Changes during the period 187.943 90.323
Recognized in equity 1.776.093 244.984
Paid during the period (104.640) (73.301)
Balance at the end of the period 2.756.809 897.413

In addition, the Bank has accounted for unused vacation rights provisionamountingto TL 424.244 as of December
31, 2022 (December 31, 2021 - TL 180.721).
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Information on provisions relatedwith the foreign currency difference of foreign currency indexedloans:

None. (December 31, 2021 — None).
Other provisions:

Current Period Prior Period
Pension fund provision 2.945.243 1.813.098
Provisions on non-funded non cash loans 1.078.763 843.108
Generic provisions on non cash loans 1.143.394 874.667
Provision on lawsuits 118.960 112.488
Provisions on credit cards and promotion campaigns related to banking services 108.764 65.061
Other 2.507.964 1.039.943
Total 7.903.088 4.748.365

Pension fund provision:

The Bank provided provision amounting to TL 2.945.243 (December 31,2021 — TL 1.813.098) forthe technical deficit
basedon the report prepared by an independent actuary company in accordance with the technical interest rate of 9,8%
determined by the New Law and CSO 1980 mortality table. The Bankaccounted pension fund provision in accordance
with the “TAS 19 - Employee Benefits” standard. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2022, in the calculation of pension

fund provisionthe changearises,

> Asaresult ofservice cost andinterest is accounted under income statement,
» Asaresultofchange in actuarial valuations are accounted under shareholders’ equity.

Current Period Prior Period
Prior period ending balance 1.813.098 1.461.542
JAmount recorded under equity 1.084.664 310.547
Income statement (Other operations charge/benefit) 47.481 41.009
[ Balance at the end of the period 2.945.243 1.813.098
The amounts recognizedin the balance sheetare determined as follows:
Current Period Prior Period
Present value of funded obligations 8.219.529 5.227.518
- Pension benefits transferable to SSI 9.537.922 5.554.489
- Post employment medical benefits transferable to SSI (1.318.393) (326.971)
Fair value of plan assets (5.274.286) (3.414.420)
Provision for the actuarial deficit of the pension fund 2.945.243 1.813.098
The principal actuarial assumptions usedwere as follows:
Current Period Prior Period
Discount rate
- Pension benefits transferable to SSI 9,80% 9,80%
- Post employment medical benefits transferable to SSI 9,80% 9,80%
Mortality rate: Average life expectationis definedaccording to CSO 1980 mortality table.
Plan assets are comprisedas follows:
Current Period Prior Period
Amount % Amount %
Bank placements 1.237.561 23 1.721.091 51
Government bonds and treasury bills 2.886.545 55 1.177.492 34
Premises and equipment 883.125 17 385.718 11
Other 267.055 5 130.119 4
Total 5.274.286 100 3.414.420 100
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Information on taxes payable:

2.7.1 Information on taxes payable:

Current Period Prior Period
Corporate Tax Payable 4.148.627 2.006.608
Banking Insurance Transaction Tax (“BITT”) 555.693 266.769
Taxation of Marketable Securities 277.629 221.126
Value Added Tax Payable 133.467 26.780
Foreign Exchange Transaction Tax 37.258 75.843
Property Tax 6.923 4.593
Other 262.624 160.196
Total 5.422.221 2.761.915

2.72 Information on premium payables:

Current Period Prior Period
Social security premiums —employee - -
Social security premiums —employer - -
Bank pension fund premiums — employee 67.648 44,576
Bank pension fund premiums — employer 94.097 61.826
Pension fund deposit and provisions —employee - -
Pension fund deposit and provisions —employer - -
Unemployment insurance — employee 4.829 3.182
Unemployment insurance — employer 9.689 6.366
Other - -
Total 176.263 115.950

2.8

29

2.10
2101

2.102

2.103

2104

2.105

Liabilities for property and equipment held for sale and related to discontinuedoperations (net):
None (December 31, 2021 - None).
Information on subordinated debt®:

Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
Debt instruments to be included in additional capital calculation - 12.929.445 - 8.973.642
Subordinated loans - - - -
Subordinated debt - 12.929.445 - 8.973.642
Debt instruments to be included in contribution capital calculation 725.201 25.733.586 808.921  29.659.436
Subordinated loans - 16.059.998 - 11.144.441
Subordinated debt 725.201 9.673.588 808.921  18.514.995
Total 725.201 38.663.031 808.921  38.633.078
(1) Subordinated loans are explained in detail in Note“ Details on Subordinated Liabilities” ofsection four.
Information on shareholders’ equity:
Presentation of paid-in capital:
Current Period Prior Period
Common stock 8.447.051 8.447.051
Preferred stock - -

Paid-in capital amount, explanation as to whether the registered share capital systemis applied and if so,
amount of registeredshare capital ceiling:

Registered Share
Capital System Paid-In Capital Capital Ceiling

Registered Capital System 8.447.051 15.000.000

Information on the share capital increases during the period and the sources:

None (31 December 2021 — None).

Information on transfers fromcapital reserves tocapital during the current period:

None (December 31, 2021 - None).

Information on capital commitments, until the end of the fiscal year and the subsequentinterimperiod:
None (December 31, 2021 - None).
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2.106 Information on prior period’s indicators on the Bank’s income, profitability and liquidity, and possible
effects of these future assumptions on the Bank’s equity due to uncertainties of these indicators:
The interest, liquidity, and foreign exchange risk related to on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets and
liabilities are managed by the Bankwithin several riskand legal limits.
2.10.7 Privileges on the corporate stock:
None (December 31, 2021 - None).
2.108 Information on marketable securities value increase fund:
Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
From investments in associates, subsidiaries, and joint
ventures 760.044 11.166.800 725.343 8.335.589
Revaluation difference®® 760.044 438.666 725.343 438.065
Foreign currency difference® - 10.728.134 - 7.897.524
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income 8.742.326 (945.392) 1.716.630 (257.924)
Revaluation diference @ 8.742.326 (945.392) 1.716.630 (257.924)
Foreign currency differences - - - -
Total 9.502.370 10.221.408 2.441.973 8.077.665
(1) Includes differences between historical costbasis and equity method ofassociates, subsidiaries and joint ventures.
(2) Includes tax effect related to foreign cumency valuation differences in TL column.
3 Explanations and notes relatedto off-balance sheetaccounts
3.1 Information on off balance sheetcommitments:
3.1.1 The amount and type of irrevocable commitments:
CurrentPeriod Prior Period
Commitments on credit card limits 136.756.258 58.777.036
Asset purchase and sale commitments 35.118.725 19.796.270
Loan grantingcommitments 53.491.909 26.827.510
Commitmentsfor cheques 5.482.867 4.306.427
Other irrevocable commitments 29.421.817 12.933.577
Total 260.271.576 122.640.820
3.12 Type and amount of probable lossesandobligations arising fromoff-balance sheetitems:
Obligations arising fromoff-balance sheet are disclosed in “Off-balance sheet commitments”. The Bank set aside
general provision for its non-cash loans amounting to TL 1.143.394 (December 31, 2021 - TL874.667) and specific
provision amounting to TL 1.431.465 (December 31, 2021 - TL - 1.138.170) for non-cash loans which are not
indemnified yetamounting to TL 1.078.763 (December 31, 2021 - TL 843.108).
3.121 Non-cash loans including guarantees, bank acceptance loans, collaterals that are accepted as financial
guarantees and other letter of credits:
CurrentPeriod Prior Period
Bank acceptance loans 864.879 545.822
Letter of credits 32.164.021 25.507.486
Other guarantees and collaterals 28.350.265 15.072.056
Total 61.379.165 41.125.364
3.122 Guarantees, suretyships andother similar transactions:
CurrentPeriod Prior Period
Temporary letter of guarantees 4.124.146 2.091.040
Definite letter of guarantees 90.240.341 62.846.729
Advance letter of guarantees 29.283.824 19.182.209
Letter of guarantees given to customs 5.894.112 3.690.473
Other letter of guarantees 52.626.883 31.683.924
Total 182.169.306 119.494.375
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Information on non-cashloans:

3.131 Total amount of non-cash loans:

3.132

3.133

CurrentPeriod Prior Period
Non-cash loans given against cash loans 50.905.414 30.422.800
With original maturity of 1 year or less than 1 year 8.240.689 8.963.485
With original maturity of more than 1 year 42.664.725 21.459.315
Other non-cash loans 192.643.057 130.196.939
Total 243.548.471 160.619.739
Information on sectoral concentration of non-cash loans:
Current Period Prior Period
TL (%) FC (%) TL (%) FC (%)
Agricultural 2.394.159 2,39 2.605.156 1,81 823.851 2,00 2.012.996 1,69
Farming and raising livestock 1.786.275 1,79  1.643.448 1,14 617.580 1,50  1.301.752 1,09
Forestry 534.118 0,53 957.397 0,67 181.186 0,44 402.283 0,34
Fishing 73.766 0,07 4,311 0,00 25.085 0,06 308.961 0,26
Man_u_facturing 58.429.473 58,44 86.451.451 60,22 20.340.199 49,49 72.425.805 60,60
Mining 429.820 0,43 684.123 0,48 249.931 0,61 368.940 0,31
Production 51.079.831 51,09 73.470.076 51,17 16.517.087 40,19 63.194.132 52,87
Electric, gas and water 6.919.822 6,92 12.297.252 8,57 3.573.181 8,69  8.862.733 7,42
Construction 14.125.654 14,13 26.797.716 18,67 8.089.096 19,68 20.451.957 17,11
Services 24.480.600 24,48 27.543.101 19,18 11.565.437 28,14 24.529.798 20,51
Wholesale and retail trade 6.899.143 6,90 2.823.215 1,97  3.008.613 7,32 2.730.677 2,28
Hotel, food and beverage services 1.207.034 1,21 1.943.389 1,35 462.912 1,13 2.295.933 1,92
Transportation and
telecommunication 2.721.373 2,72 6.749.277 4,70 1.430.803 3,48 5.909.237 4,94
Financial institutions 9.710.296 9,71 5.942.364 4,14 5.035.621 12,25 5.395.314 4,51
Real estate and leasing services 634.367 0,63  2.227.830 1,55 362.450 0,88  1.406.152 1,18
Education services 65.617 0,07 107.658 0,07 88.718 0,22 84.781 0,07
Health and social services 3.242.770 3,24 7.749.368 5,40 1.176.320 2,86 6.707.704 5,61
Other 547.299 0,56 173.862 0,12 277.684 0,69 102.916 0,09
Total 99.977.185 100,00 143.571.286 100,00 41.096.267 100,00 119.523.472 100,00

Information on sectoral concentration of non-cash loans:

Groupl Groupll

CurrentPeriod TL FC TL FC
Non-cash loans

Lettersof guarantee 85.139.234 89.810.514 3.429.146 2.639.148
Bank acceptances - 864.879 - -
Lettersof credit 327.114 31.719.391 - 117.516
Endorsements - - - -
Underwriting commitments - - - -
Factoring guarantees - - - -
Other commitmentsand contingencies 10.761.832 16.587.887 5.000 994.552
Total 96.228.180  138.982.671 3.434.146 3.751.216

Groupll Groupll

Prior Period TL FC TL FC
Non-cash loans

Lettersof guarantee 39.091.861 77.967.594 984.667 527.227
Bank acceptances - 545.822 - -
Lettersof credit 71.417 25.262.223 - 173.846
Endorsements - - - -
Underwriting commitments - - - -
Factoring guarantees - - - -
Other commitmentsand contingencies 704.055 14.356.161 - -
Total 39.867.333  118.131.800 984.667 701.073
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Maturity distribution of non cashloans:

Up to 1-5 Above
CurrentPeriod ® Indefinite lyear years 5years Total
Letter of credit - 22.200.880 9.809.757 153.384 32.164.021
Letter of guarantee 53.544.,571 40.030.331 74.566.453 14.027.951 182.169.306
Bank acceptances - 861.227 3.652 - 864.879
Other 1.437.699 10.928.574 3.299.513 12.684.479 28.350.265
Total 54.982.270 74.021.012 87.679.375 26.865.814 243.548.471
Up to 1-5 Above
Prior Period ® Indefinite 1year years 5years Total
Letter of credit - 18.093.200 7.188.572 225.714 25.507.486
Letter of guarantee 34.626.114 27.635.813 44.780.613 12.451.835 119.494.375
Bank acceptances - 515.441 30.381 - 545.822
Other 1.864.494 1.878.281 1.443.730 9.885.551 15.072.056
Total 36.490.608 48.122.735 53.443.296 22.563.100 160.619.739
(1) Thedistributionisbased onthe original maturities.
Information on derivative financial instruments:
CurrentPeriod Prior Period
Typesof tradingtransactions
Foreign currency related derivative transactions (1) 397.116.690 221.188.435
FC trading forward transactions 29.982.592 26.281.127
Tradingswap transactions 257.816.902 184.719.336
Futures transactions 2.520.247 1.135.020
Tradingoption transactions 106.796.949 9.052.952
Interest related derivative transactions (I1) 249.210.542 236.085.173
Forward interest rate agreements - -
Interest rate swaps 244.236.022 231.543.920
Interest rate options 4.974.520 4.541.253
Interest rate futures - -
Other trading derivative transactions (111) 97.258.538 86.902.870
A. Total trading derivative transactions (1+I1+I11) 743.585.770 544.176.478
Typesof hedging derivative transactions
Transactions for fair value hedge 1.934.705 1.496.113
Cash flow hedges 117.782.458 110.955.171
Transactions for foreign net investment hedge - -
B. Total hedging related derivatives 119.717.163 112.451.284
Total derivative transactions (A+B) 863.302.933 656.627.762

Information on creditderivatives and risk exposures:

The Bankhas no credit default swaps in derivative portfolio for the period ended 31 December 2022. Credit default
swaps linked to credit link notes are forthe purposes protection sellerand included in this figure (December 31,
2021 - None).

Derivative portfolio includes total return swaps for TL 76.542.476 (31 December 2021 — TL 52.515.352) for the
period ended 31 December 2022.

Information on contingentliabilitiesandassets:

The Bank has recorded a provision of TL 118.960 (December 31, 2021 — TL 112.488) for litigation and has
accounted for it in the accompanying financial statements under the “Other Provisions” account. Except for the

claims where provisions are recorded, management considers as remote the probability of a negative result in
ongoing litigations and therefore does not foresee cash outflow forsuch claims.

Information on services in the name and account of others:

The Bank’s activities such as intermediation and custody toserve theinvestmentneeds of customers are followed
up underoff balancesheet accounts.
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Explanations and notes relatedto income statement:
Information on interestincome:

Information on interestincome onloans:

Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
Short-term loans® 22.469.651 2.355.312 9.683.937 1.026.253
Medium/long-term loans® 31.601.752 10.036.681 18.474.312 6.803.924
Interest on loans under follow-up 1.997.997 - 1.156.707 -
Premiums received from resource utilization support fund - - - -
Total 56.069.400 12.391.993 29.314.956 7.830.177
(1) Includes fees and commissions received for cash loans.
Information on interestincome on banks:
Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
From the CBRT 2.292 7.866 1.663 -
From domestic banks 158.470 170 260.361 70
From foreign banks - 815.296 1.367 135.592
Headquarters and branches abroad - - - -
Total 160.762 823.332 263.391 135.662
Information on interestincome on marketable securities:
Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 5.480 47.235 8.954 16.662
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 18.145.938  1.045.902  4.208.583 171.363
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 35.894.422  2.897.973  7.838.925 906.508
Total 54.045.840  3.991.110 12.056.462  1.094.533
Information on interestincome receivedfrom associates andsubsidiaries:
Current Period Prior Period
Interest received from associates and subsidiaries 289.003 93.997
Total 289.003 93.997
Information on interestexpense:
Information on interestexpense on borrowings:
Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
Banks 276.117 2.913.059 182.424 1.519.026
TheCBRT - - - -
Domestic banks 155.904 59.229 96.184 15.529
Foreign banks 120.213 2.853.830 86.240 1.503.497
Headquarters and branches abroad - - - -
Other institutions - 2.031.496 - 582.528
Total @ 276.117 4.944.555 182.424 2.101.554
(1) Includes fees and commissions related to borowings.
Information on interestexpense toassociates andsubsidiaries:
Current Period Prior Period
Interest paid to associates and subsidiaries 257.882 73.101
Total 257.882 73.101
Information on interestexpense to marketable securities issued:
Current Period Prior Period
TL FC TL FC
Interest expense to marketable securities issued 1.482.485 5.137.906 1.389.174 3.425.280
Total 1.482.485 5.137.906 1.389.174 3.425.280
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Information on interestexpense on money markettransactions

Current Period Prior Period

TL FC TL FC

Interest expense on money market transactions 4.308.818 212.791 6.155.265 48.821
Total 4.308.818 212.791 6.155.265 48.821

Information on other interestexpenses:

Pursuant to the CBRT's regulation dated December 27,2021 and numbered 2374 and regulation dated August 31,
2022 and numbered 1579, banks that fail to meet targets from foreign currency to Turkish Lira and the ratio of
Turkish Lira deposits to total deposits are charged a commission over the required reserves for foreign cunency
deposits. In this regard, acommission expense of TL 1.858.951 has been accounted in other interest expenses as

of December 31, 2022

4.26 Maturity structure of the interestexpense on deposits:

4.3

4.4

Time Deposit
More

Demand Uptol Upto3 Upto6 Uptol than1 Accumulating Prior
Account name Deposit month months  months Year year deposit Total Period
TL
Bank deposits 2.986  453.543 46.495 - - - - 503.024 252.478
Saving deposits - 577.366 15.035.402 147.934 36.635  43.268 - 15.840.605 8.456.798
Public sector deposits - 11.615 12.913 594 5 1 - 25.128 8.886
Commercial deposits 71 3.618.642 4.939.093 1.311.651 1.039.404 538.485 - 11.447.346 5.491.870
Other deposits - 289.613 1.732.357 699.444 155.881 316.786 - 3.194.081 453.005
Deposits with 7 days
notification - - - - - - - - -
Total 3.057 4.950.779 21.766.260 2.159.623 1.231.925 898.540 - 31.010.184 14.663.037
FC
Foreign currency deposits 1.343 161.001 1.380.802 71.222 15.993 9.622 - 1.639.983 735.453
Bank deposits 54.204 33.924 1.087 - - - - 89.215 28.732
Deposits with 7 days
notification - - - - - - - - -
Precious metal vault - 314 2.602 - 1.375 227 - 4.518 4.001
Total 55.547  195.239 1.384.491 71.222 17.368 9.849 - 1.733.716 768.186
Grand total 58.604 5.146.018 23.150.751 2.230.845 1.249.293 908.389 - 32.743.900 15.431.223

Information on dividend income:

Current Period Prior Period
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 3.415 1.666
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 2.866 1.615
Other 43.707 -
Total 49.988 3.281
Information on trading profit/loss (net):
Current Period Prior Period
Profit 123.989.879 181.635.277
Gain from capital market transactions 2.508.148 259.360
Derivative financial transaction gains 62.119.473 65.757.857
Foreign exchange gains 59.362.258 115.618.060
Loss (-) 115.001.851 181.460.199
Loss from capital market transactions 148.108 100.788
Derivative financial transaction losses 43.740.409 44.110.774
Foreign exchange loss 71.113.334 137.248.637
Net trading profit/loss 8.988.028 175.078
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Allowance for expected credit losses andother provision expenses:

Current Period Prior Period

Allowance forexpected credit losses 15.662.756 9.693.034
12-month expected credit losses (Stage 1) 2.980.853 1.229.452
Significant increase in credit risk (Stage 2) 2.504.291 4.424.048
Credit-Impaired (Stage 3) 10.177.612 4.039.534
Impairment provisions for financial assets 228.446

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 228.446

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income -

Impairment provisions related to investments in associates, subsidiaries and )

jointly controlled partnerships (Joint ventures)

Investments in associates -

Subsidiaries -

Jointly controlled partnerships (joint ventures) -

Other 98.452 77.989
Total 15.989.654 9.771.023

Information on derivatives financial transaction gain/loss:

The net gain resulting fromthe foreign exchange differences related to derivative financial transactions is TL

20.099.247 ( December 31, 2021 — TL 28.235.231 gain).
Information on other operating income:

“Other Operating Income”in the statement of profit or loss mainly includes collections fromreceivables for which
Specific / General provision has beenallocated in prior periods. The legal process initiated by the Bank against the
Competition Authority's decisionto impose an administrative fine on the Bank in 2013, for the cancellation of the
decision and the refund ofthe relevant fine, was concluded in favor ofthe Bank and the fine of TL 112.340 paid

on 14 August2013 was returnedto the Bank.
Information related to other operating expenses:

Current Period Prior Period

Reserve for employee termination benefits 88.009 17.022
Provision expense for pension fund 47.481 41.009
Impairment expenses of property and equipment - -
Depreciation expenses of property and equipment 752.772 544,587
Impairment expenses of intangible assets - -
Goodwill impairment expenses - -
Amortisation expenses of intangible assets 235.642 203.524
Impairment expenses of equity participations for which equity method applied - -
Impairment expenses of assets held for resale - -
Depreciation expenses of assets held for resale - -
Impairment expenses of fixed assets held for sale and assets related to discontinued operations - -
Other operating expenses 9.523.365 3.710.161
IFRS 16 exempt lease expenses 120.136 85.934
Repair and maintenance expenses 327.836 192.130
Advertising expenses 417.732 179.807
Other expense 8.657.661 3.252.290
Loss on sales of assets - 1.479
Other 2.672.539 1.335.852
Total 13.319.808 5.853.634

Provision for taxes on income from continuing operations and discontinuedoperations:

The profit before taxincludes TL 76.948.376 (December 31, 2021 — TL 22.697.482) of net interest income, TL
14.133.922 (December 31, 2021 — TL 7.314.676) of net fees and commissions expenses, TL 9.097.079 personnel
expenses (December 31, 2021 — TL 4.433.204) and other operating expenses amounting to TL 13.319.808

(December 31, 2021 - TL 5.853.634).

As of December 31, 2022, the Bank has no (December 31, 2021 — None) profit before tax from discontinued

operations.
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4.10 Provision for taxes on income from continuing operations and discontinuedoperations:

As of December 31, 2022, the Bank has TL 20.149.630 (December 31, 2021 - TL 3.257.106 tax expense) tax
expense from continued operations, from discontinued operations none and deferred taxincome from continued
operationsamounting to TL4.580.785 (December 31, 2021 - TL 261.170 deferred taxincome).

Current Period Prior Period
Profit before tax 68.313.534 13.485.694
Tax calculated at statutory rate 17.078.384 3.371.424
Nondeductible expenses, discounts and other, net (1.509.539) (375.488)
Total 15.568.845 2.995.936

4.11 Information on net income/loss for the period:

4.11.1 The characteristics, dimension and recurrence of income or expense items arising from ordinary banking
transactions donot require any additional explanation to understand the Bank’s current period performance.

4.11.2 The effect of the changein an estimate of financial statement items to profit / loss is notlikely to affect subsequent
periods

4.12 Otheritems instatementof profit or loss:

“Other fees and commissions received” in profit orloss mainly includes commissions and fees fromcredit cards
and banking transactions.
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Explanations and notes relatedto statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
Information on dividends:

Authorised body for profit appropriation of the current period is General Assembly. As of the preparation date of
these financial statements, annual ordinary meeting of the General Assembly has not beenheld yet.

Information on increase/decrease amounts resulting frommerger:

None.

Information on equity share premiums :

The details regarding property and equipment valuation differences are disclosed in section 3note 19.
Explanations on property and equipment valuation differences:

The Bankadopted fair value accounting methodfor its buildings and art objects and paintings in tangible assets in
accordance with TAS 16 “ Property, Plant and Equipment”. As of 31 December 2022, revaluation gain under
shareholders' equity is amountingto TL 4.891.380 ( December 31, 2021 — TL 1.856.179).

Explanations related to accumulated remeasurement gains/losses of defined benefitplans:

Accumulated remeasurement gains/losses of defined benefit plans are accounted under equity. As of December
31, 2022 actuarial loss related to provision for employee benefit accounted under equity is amounting to TL
1.869.365 (December 31,2021 —TL 573.117), actuarial loss relatedto pensionfund provision is amountingto TL
1.046.409 (December 31, 2021 — TL 248.438).

Explanations on joint ventures accounted for using equity method:

Associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures are being carried at equity method as definedin “ TAS 28 - Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures” in the unconsolidated financial statements of the Bank started from June 30,
2015. Any valuation differences arising from prior years, before January 1, 2015, are booked as “Other
accumulated comprehensive income that will not be reclassified in profit or loss” under equity. In the following
periods, any valuation differences arising from the current period income and other comprehensive income are
recognized in profit or loss and “Otheraccumulated comprehensive income that will not be reclassified in profit
or loss” underthe equity, respectively.

Explanations on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:

“Unrealized gains and losses” arising fromchanges in the fair value of financial as sets classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized in the shareholders’ equity until the related assets
are impaired or disposed.

Hedging transactions :

The Bank has begun to apply cash flowhedge accountingin orderto hedge the risk of cash flow of its liabilities
fromJanuary 1, 2010. In the scopeofthis application, the derivative financial instruments are specified as floating
rate and fixed rate interest payment USD, EUR and TL interest rate swaps, hedging liabilities as the USD, EUR
and TL customer deposits, repos, cash outflows due to re-pricing of loans because of the expected interest rate
financing. In this context, fair value change ofthe effective portion of derivative financial instruments accounted
in equity hedge funds, taking into account taxeffects. Such amountas of December 31,2022 is TL 5.379.550 gain
(December 31, 2021 —2.332.875 gain).

The Bank’s Furo denominated borrowing is designated as a hedge ofthenetinvestment in the Bank’s certain EUR
denominated subsidiaries. The total amount of the borrowing designated as a hedge of the net investment at
December 31, 2022 is EUR 469 million (31 December 2021 is EUR 495 million). The foreign exchange loss of
TL 5.321.236 net oftax, ontranslationofthe borrowingto Turkish Lira at the statement of financial position date
is recognized in “hedgingreserves” in equity (31 December 2021- TL 4.135.092 loss).

Information on share issue premium:

Other capitaland profit reserves,in general, consist of legal reserves and extraordinary reserves.
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Explanations and notes relatedto statement of cash flows:
Information on cashand cash equivalents:
Components of cash and cash equivalents and the accounting policy applied intheir determination:

Cash and foreign currency balances together with demand deposits at banks including the unrestricted amounts of
CBRT are defined as “Cash”; money market placements and time deposits in banks with original maturities of less
than three months are defined as “Cash Equivalents”.

Effect of a change inthe accounting policies:
None.
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalent items with balance sheetand cash flow statements:

Cashand cash equivalents at the beginning of period:

Current Period Prior Period
Cash 82.130.561 39.029.018
Cash and effectives 12.757.411 5.971.223
Demand deposits in banks 69.373.150 33.057.795
Cash equivalents 13.077.137 6.160.864
Interbank money market 1.808.653 1.700.000
Time deposits in banks 11.268.484 4.460.864
Total cash and cash equivalents 95.207.698 45.189.882
Cashand cash equivalents at the end of the period:
Current Period Prior Period
Cash 102.024.569 82.130.561
Cash and effectives 12.925.202 12.757.411
Demand deposits in banks 89.099.367 69.373.150
Cash equivalents 11.266.214 13.077.137
Interbank money market 2.460.000 1.808.653
Time deposits in banks 8.806.214 11.268.484
Total cash and cash equivalents 113.290.783 95.207.698

Information on cashand cash equivalents those are not available for use due to legal limitations and other
reasons:

As of 31 December 2022 the cashand cashequivalents those are not available for use due to legal limitations and
other reasons including reserve regirements is amounting to TL 129.483.346 (December 31, 2021 — TL
99.216.587).

Explanations on other items in the statementof cash flows and the effects of the change in foreign exchange
rates on cashand cashequivalents:

Decrease in “Other Account” amounting to TL 2.353.291 as of December 31, 2022 (December 31, 2021 — TL
1.025.716 increase), which is classified under “Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities”,
includes mainly fee and commissions given, other operating expenses excluding personnel expenses, and foreign
exchange gains/losses.

Decrease in “Net increase/decrease in other liabilities” amounting to TL 5.834.915 as of December 31, 2022
(December 31, 2021 — TL 5.954.565 increase), mainly consistof changes in other debts and other liabilities.

The effects of the change in foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents are calculated as an increase
approximately of TL 23.988.491 as of December 31, 2022 (December 31, 2021 — TL 27.218.430 increase).
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7 Explanations and notes relatedto the Bank’s risk group

7.1  The volume of transactions relating to the Bank’s risk group, outstanding loan and deposit transactions and

profit or loss of the period:

7.11 Information on loans of the Bank’s risk group:

Other real and legal

Direct and indirect persons

Associates, subsidiaries shareholders that have been included

Current Period and jointventures of the Bank in the risk group
BanKk’s risk group ©® Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash

Loans and other receivables
Balance at the beginning of the period

660.084 892.378

416.619 1.070.846 8.100.359 3.310.640

Balance at the end of the period 1.560.635 585.093 152.609 903.139 11.984.55 5.772.850

Interest and commission income received 289.003 2.693 53.667 2.651 1.776.606 27.690

Other real and legal

Direct and indirect persons

Associates, subsidiaries shareholders that have been included

Prior Period and jointventures of the Bank in the risk group

BanKk’s risk group VO Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash
Loans and other receivables

Balance at the beginning of the period 1.245.321 301.506 883.127 898.824 5.231.297 2.078.697

Balance at the end of the period 660.084 892.378 416.619 1.070.846 8.100.359 3.310.640

Interest and commission income received 93.997 2.863 39.171 8.799 762.204 14.229

(1) Defined in subsection 2 ofthe 49th articleofthe Banking Act N0.5411.
(2) The informationintable above includes marketable securities and due frombanks aswell as loans.

7.12 Information on deposits of the Bank’s risk group:

Direct and indirect Other real and legal persons

Associates, subsidiaries shareholders that have been included

BanK’s risk group V@ and joint ventures of the Bank in the risk group

Current Current

Deposit Current Period Prior Period Period Prior Period Period Prior Period
Beginning of the period 2.837.798 1.949.302 38.192.490 24.402.131 50.910.186 30.828.068
End of the period 4.268.084 2.837.798 27.722.742 38.192.490 70.370.899 50.910.186
Interest expense on deposit 257.882 73.101 1.989.739 1.638.677 1.482.137 1.781.238

(1) Defined in subsection 2 ofthe 49th articleofthe Banking ActNo. 5411.
(2) The informationintable above includes borrowings and repo transactions as well as deposits.
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Information on forward and option agreements and other derivative instruments with the Bank’s risk
group:

Other real and legal
Direct and indirect persons
Associates, subsidiaries shareholders that have been included
BanKk’s risk group® and jointventures of the Bank in the risk group
Current Prior Current Prior Current Prior
Period Period Period Period Period Period
Transactions at fair value through profitor
loss
Beginning of the period® 4.298.899 1.181.891 2.828.070 1.573.859 379.300 1.585.212
End of the period @ 1.404.594 4.298.899 1.886.536 2.828.070 1.273.964 379.300
Total profit/ (loss)® 1.086.978 906.161 192.197 53.810 (349.753) (568.127)
Transactions for hedging purposes
Beginning of the period @ - - 525.855 516.747 - -
End of the period @ - - - 525.855 - -
Total profit/ (loss) - - - 25.855 - -

(1) Defined in subsection 2 ofthe 49th articleofthe Banking ActNo. 5411.
(2) The balances at the beginning and end of the periods are disclosed as the total of buy and sell amounts of derivative financial instruments.

Information regarding benefits provided to the Bank’s top management

Salaries and benefits paid to the Bank’s top management amount to TL 225.532 as of December 31, 2022
(December 31, 2021 - TL 107.903).

Explanations and notes related to the domestic, foreign, off-shore branches or associates and foreign
representatives of the Bank:

Number of
Number Employees
Domestic Branch 800 15.428
Country of
incorporation
Foreign Represantative Office - - -
Total Statutory
asset| share capital
Foreign Branch 1 3 Bahrain | 27.703.648 -
Off-Shore Banking Region Branch - -

Explanations and notes relatedto subsequentevents:

None.
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Yam ve Kredi Bankas1 AS.
Notes to unconsolidatedfinancial statements as of December 31,2022

(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”))

Sectionsix-Other explanations

Other explanations on the Bank’s operations

None

Section Sewven - Independent auditor’s report

Explanations on independent auditor’s report

The unconsolidated financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2022 have been audited by PwC
Bagimsiz Denetimve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Miisavirlik A.S. The independent auditor’s report dated, February
2, 2023 is presented preceding the unconsolidated financial statements.

Explanations and notes prepared by independent auditor

None.
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